

### COUNTERING MISINFORMATION IN POLITICAL REPORTING

ENHANCING JOURNALISTIC LEGITIMACY

STEPHEN CUSHION AND MARIA KYRIAKIDOU

## Countering Misinformation in Political Reporting

# Countering Misinformation in Political Reporting

Enhancing Journalistic Legitimacy

Stephen Cushion and Maria Kyriakidou

EDINBURGH University Press Edinburgh University Press is one of the leading university presses in the UK. Publishing new research in the arts and humanities, EUP connects people and ideas to inspire creative thinking, open new perspectives and shape the world we live in. For more information, visit www.edinburghuniversitypress.com.

© Stephen Cushion and Maria Kyriakidou, 2025

Cover image: Getty ID: 1294349513. Set of Icons Journalistics Profession Theme Cover design: www.richardbudddesign.co.uk

Grateful acknowledgement is made to the sources listed in the List of Illustrations for permission to reproduce material previously published elsewhere. Every effort has been made to trace the copyright holders, but if any have been inadvertently overlooked, the publisher will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements at the first opportunity.

Edinburgh University Press Ltd 13 Infirmary Street, Edinburgh EH1 1LT

Typeset in 10.5/13pt Bembo by Cheshire Typesetting Ltd, Cuddington, Cheshire, and Printed and bound in the UK using 100% renewable electricity by CPI Group (UK) Ltd

A CIP record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN 978 1 3995 3380 5 (hardback) ISBN 978 1 3995 3382 9 (webready PDF) ISBN 978 1 3995 3383 6 (epub)

The right of Stephen Cushion and Maria Kyriakidou to be identified as the author of this work has been asserted in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, and the Copyright and Related Rights Regulations 2003 (SI No. 2498).

EU Authorised Representative: Easy Access System Europe Mustamäe tee 50, 10621 Tallinn, Estonia gpsr.requests@easproject.com



This book is printed using paper from well-managed forests, recycling and other controlled sources

### Contents

List of Tables	vi
Acknowledgements	ix
Introduction: Journalistic Legitimacy in the Age of Misinformation	1
1. Journalistic Understandings of Disinformation	15
2. Audience Understandings of Disinformation	32
3. Beyond Disinformation: Interpreting Misinformation from	
Mainstream Media	52
4. (Mis)understanding Government Responsibility	70
5. Comparing the Impartiality of Cross-National and Cross-Platform	
Fact-Checking	85
6. Fact-Checking in News Reporting	99
7. Audience Engagement with Fact-Checking	126
8. Countering Misinformation in Political Reporting	146
References	161
Index	178

### Tables

2.1	The proportion of survey respondents who believed	
	disinformation was a problem in the UK (N in brackets)	36
2.2	The proportion of survey respondents that use different media as	
	news sources (N in brackets)	48
2.3	The proportion of survey respondents who trusted different	
	sources in terms of the news they provided (N in brackets)	48
2.4	The proportion of online news consumers who trusted different	
	sources in terms of the news they provided (N in brackets)	49
3.1	Diary participants' knowledge about COVID-19 false claims	
	(in May 2020)	60
3.2	Diary participants' knowledge about the nations who have	
	recorded the most deaths due to COVID-19 (from highest to	
	lowest in April 2020)	60
3.3	Diary participants' knowledge of the countries which	
	implemented the strictest lockdown measures (from highest	
	to lowest in April 2020)	61
3.4	, 1	
	recorded the most deaths due to COVID-19 (from highest to	
	lowest in May 2020)	62
3.5	, 1	
	recorded the highest excess deaths due to COVID-19 (from	
	highest to lowest in May 2020)	63
3.6	1	
	brackets)	65
3.7	1 0	
	with an international comparison (N in brackets)	65
3.8	The percentage of television UK-related news items with detailed	
	or passing references to other countries (N in brackets)	66

#### LIST OF TABLES

3.9	The percentage of television news items featuring an on-screen statistic (N in brackets)	67
4.1	The percentage of geographical references in UK television	07
	news coverage of the major lockdown announcements	
	(N in brackets)	79
4.2	The percentage of geographical references in UK television	
	news coverage of the major lockdown announcements	
	(N in brackets)	81
4.3	The percentage of implicit, explicit or no references to devolution	
	in UK television news coverage of the major lockdown	
	announcements (N in brackets)	82
5.1	The percentage of interactions with claims made by UK and US	
	political leaders during election campaigns (N in brackets)	93
5.2	The percentage of interactions according to the BBC	
	platform (online news, television news and Reality Check)	
	(N in brackets)	95
6.1	The format of articles featured on fact-checking sites during the	
	2019 UK general election campaign	107
6.2	The percentage of sources used in 2019 election-related articles	110
( )	with single claims in UK fact-checking sites (N in brackets)	110
6.3	The percentage of sources used in 2019 election-related articles	111
6.4	with multiple claims in UK fact-checking sites (N in brackets)  The percentage of articles with different verdicts by fact-checking	111
0.4	sites during the 2019 UK general election campaign	112
6.5	The percentage of items and claims reported by UK fact-checking	114
0.5	websites and television news bulletins (BBC <i>News at Ten</i> and	
	Channel 4 at 7pm) (N in brackets)	117
6.6	Percentage of claims scrutinised across fact-checking sites and	11,
	television news bulletins (N in brackets)	118
6.7	The percentage of top ten sources used to scrutinise claims on	
	television news bulletins and fact-checking platforms (N in	
	brackets)	119
6.8	The number of references to Verify fact-checking on BBC News	
	at Ten between 1 January and 3 July 2024	121
7.1	The percentage of diary participants who use fact-checking sites	
	(N in brackets)	132
7.2	The percentage of survey respondents who were aware of UK	
	fact-checking services (N in brackets)	132
7.3	The percentage of survey respondents who used UK fact-checking	400
	sites (N in brackets)	133

7.4	The percentage of participants supporting the use of fact-checking	
	according to their ideological and party political perspectives	
	(N in brackets)	135
7.5	The percentage of participants supporting the use of fact-checking	
	according to their level of engagement with mainstream media	
	and politics (N in brackets)	136

### Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC) for funding our grant application, Countering disinformation: enhancing journalistic legitimacy in public service media (AH/S012508/1). The findings of the project underpinned much of the analysis informing this book, funding the production of large-scale studies about disinformation and misinformation during the UK and US election campaigns, the coronavirus pandemic, and in more 'normal' periods of time. We are especially thankful to the full-time researchers employed on the project – Dr Marina Morani, Dr Ceri Hughes and Dr Nikki Soo – for their robust, rigorous, critical, creative and thoughtful analysis during the project. Starting the project at the beginning of the pandemic was not easy, but we found a way to complete a lot of the research over Zoom! We are also grateful for the support and feedback from our colleagues at the Cardiff School of Journalism, Media and Culture at Cardiff University. And to our friends and families, including Joni, James and Catherine, for all their happy distractions over the course of writing the book.

## Introduction: Journalistic Legitimacy in the Age of Misinformation

The growing tide of political disinformation around the world represents an urgent threat to the democratic health of many countries. For false and deceptive information has become more widespread in today's digital media environment, promoting conspiracy theories and dubious claims that can misinform the public and undermine the integrity of democratic systems. Journalists have become central actors in stopping the flow of false and misleading information. Yet they have had a contradictory role in dealing with it. On the one hand, they have been heralded as the solution to countering disinformation because they have the weight and authority to correct and challenge dubious political claims and actions (Pickard 2020). On the other hand, journalists have been accused of reporting 'fake news' and being the cause of disinformation (Tsfati et al. 2020). In other words, the news media have the power to both perpetuate and prevent the spread of political disinformation around the world.

During and after the 2020 United States (US) presidential election campaign, for example, Donald Trump was given a media platform – notably on television news – to repeatedly make false claims about voter fraud without any supporting evidence. While many journalists appeared sceptical at these statements, the airtime Trump received helped legitimatise his assertations and convince many Republican voters that the election was rigged (Cillizza 2021). While the claim was questioned by some journalists during the campaign, it was not until election night that networks such as MSNBC, ABC and NBC famously pulled away from a Trump press conference – after Biden had been declared the winner – and explicitly challenged his allegations of voter fraud live on air.

Four years later – during the 2024 presidential campaign – Trump continued to make wild and unfounded claims about voter fraud, but journalists more

regularly questioned them. And yet despite far more journalistic doubt being cast on the so-called rigged ballot, there remained widespread public misinformation about the integrity of the electoral process, with a large minority of people – almost a third of Americans according to one poll (Kamisar 2023) – continuing to believe Trump's egregious claims. Over the last decade, then, the news media have helped fan the flames of political disinformation emanating from Trump before attempting to put some of them out. But despite many journalists directly confronting Trump's false assertions, they have spread like wildfires, with the burning embers of many claims still glowing and misinforming a significant number of Americans.

The reporting of Trump's claims has become a prominent debating point about how political disinformation and misinformation challenges the work of journalists (Lecheler and Egelhofer 2002). Within these discussions, disinformation has been widely theorised as representing information that has deliberately been falsified, whereas misinformation has been understood as not knowingly communicating inaccurate information (Wardle 2018). We adhere to this distinction throughout the book, occasionally employing disinformation to refer to both concepts. At the same time, as we discuss in later chapters, the boundaries between disinformation and misinformation become porous, both in terms of how they are understood by the public, as well as how one morphs into the other once they emerge in the public sphere. Therefore, although we set out to explore how disinformation is being tackled by journalists and understood by audiences today, we ultimately concluded that misinformation caused not only by misrepresentation but also gaps and omissions in political information is ultimately the biggest concern for a democratic public sphere. The paradoxical role of news media both causing and countering misinformation lies at the heart of this book. It offers a comprehensive and comparative assessment of how journalists have counteracted fake or deceptive information in both their routine output and specialist fact-checking coverage. We explore the relationship between public knowledge and political disinformation, including how audiences think such disinformation should be dealt with by news media. But the book also considers the role the news media can play in spreading misinformation in the reporting of politics and public affairs. While a voluminous academic literature about the rise of disinformation online and across social media networks has grown over recent years (Aïmeur et al. 2023; Gottlieb and Dyer 2020; Shu et al. 2020; Tandoc et al. 2020), far less attention has been paid to the role played by mainstream media spreading misinformation whether intentionally or inadvertently. The interrelationship between disinformation and misinformation can be challenging for journalists to understand and counteract in today's media and political environment. After all, interpreting the

veracity of information in a fast-moving, 24-hour news cycle can put pressure on journalists to prioritise speed over accuracy (Cushion and Sambrook 2016). In doing so, the editorial processes of a news organisation may not be able to distinguish fact from fiction, misinforming viewers rather than intentionally spreading disinformation.

But when the news media have been the object of debate about disinformation, it has tended to be partisan media - notably Fox News in the US (Bauer et al. 2022; Simonov et al. 2021) or tabloid media in the UK (Chadwick et al. 2018) – that have been criticised for exacerbating rather than correcting false or misleading political claims. As Chadwick et al.'s (2018, 4270) study concluded, 'UK tabloid newspapers negatively affect the quality of civic life on social media because they provide a fertile context for misinformation and resources for disinformation.' While these critiques expose the partisanship of specific news organisations, they tell us little about how ostensibly 'unbiased' mainstream media deal with and (re)produce misinformation. This book largely focuses on news media that have to abide by rules on impartiality or follow public service broadcasting obligations (Horowitz et al. 2022). We largely focus on public service media (PSM) because - as Sehl (2024, 3) - has put it, 'Within the spectrum of media organisations, PSM occupy a distinguished position due to their dedication to public value.' She has argued that 'the remit of PSM should be broadened and sharpened to not only provide high-quality, diverse and impartial news, but also to proactively combat false narratives' (Sehl 2024, 1). We would agree because throughout the book we explore how sometimes subtle but significant instances of misinformation can spread through mainstream media, including public service media. This is in spite of them subscribing to highly professionalised editorial standards, or pursuing journalism that calls out politicians for their dubious claims by fact-checking statements robustly.

The book evaluates how and where journalism has challenged or exacerbated political disinformation, thus contributing to broader public misinformation. It examines how audiences engage with and interpret news reporting across different news platforms, programmes and websites, and how they react to journalistic approaches to countering disinformation. We draw on a range of original case studies, including some of the largest content analyses and audience studies to date on fact-checking, in order to empirically examine how journalists counter disinformation and, importantly, how the public respond to these attempts to hold politicians to account. This approach allows us to illustrate journalistic legitimacy as a negotiation between journalistic practices and audience expectations. As outlined in the following chapters, we argue that news reporting needs to more effectively confront political disinformation, by

more explicitly challenging dubious source claims in order to better inform audiences about politics and public affairs. With declining levels of trust towards mainstream media, the book makes the case that there is an urgent need for the legitimacy of journalism to be enhanced so the public feel confident that they have been accurately and fairly informed about politics and public affairs. According to a 2023 Gallup poll in the US (Brenan 2023), trust in mainstream media is at its lowest point in history – matching the same level of mistrust many Republican voters felt during the 2016 presidential election, when Trump was regularly attacking professional journalists and spreading disinformation about them.

But while public scepticism towards journalists has grown stronger in recent years, most people still rely on mainstream media outlets to understand what is happening in the world and, crucially, invest their trust in them at critical moments, such as during election campaigns or a major health crisis (Newman et al. 2023). During the coronavirus pandemic in 2020, for example, many people trusted mainstream media, such as ABC, CBS and NBC or The New York Times in the US, for supplying credible news and analysis (Newman et al. 2020). Likewise, in the United Kingdom (UK), the public continue to invest their faith in impartial broadcast media, particularly the BBC, although many people remain generally suspicious of mainstream media and consume their news from a wide range of sources (Ofcom 2023). This book further highlights the importance of media and political systems in discussions about disinformation and ways to challenge it. It does so by juxtaposing the UK media and political environment with that of the US, illustrating differences in how journalism counters disinformation as well as how receptive audiences have been to interventions by news organisations. As examined throughout the book, much of the research about how journalists and the public respond to political disinformation is dominated by US studies, creating a narrow set of observations and solutions about how Americans should counter so-called 'fake news' (cf. Walter et al. 2019). After examining the prevailing trends in US-centred research, we then compare it with our UK-focused case studies and other countries, broadening debates about how the media and political environment can influence the journalistic legitimacy of political reporting.

Overall, the book carries out on an extensive review of international academic literature over recent years, and is informed by an analysis of over 2,000 news items and 2,500 news sources across a wide range of fact-checking sites and broadcast programming, as well as by large-scale surveys that draw on more than 1,000 respondents, together with a news diary of 200 participants, fourteen focus groups and interviews with some of the most senior editors and journalists in UK broadcasting. Our research was supported by a large

AHRC grant (AH/S012508/1) and was conducted over a three-year period (2020–22), at a time when disinformation was rife during the early years of the coronavirus pandemic, and when the impact of false or misleading information was being extensively debated during the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns. We further reflect on some of our analysis in light of the 2024 UK election campaign, and how broadcasters dealt with dubious claims and fact-checked politicians.

Taken together, the book asks the following questions: What editorial practices to counter misinformation and disinformation have been put into practice by news media? To what extent does each broadcaster's fact-checking service inform the editorial output of their leading TV news bulletins? How do news users view disinformation reporting in relation to journalistic legitimacy? Do they think journalists are robust enough when challenging dubious source claims from politicians or other actors? How, overall, can different media systems counter misinformation in ways that enhance the legitimacy of journalism?

#### Journalistic Legitimacy in the Age of Misinformation

While academic and public debates about how journalism should deal with so-called 'fake news' have received more attention over recent years, this book argues that it is necessary to understand this issue by focusing not only on the news media but also what the public expect from journalists. It does so by examining the production, content and reception of political disinformation reporting. We make the case that we need to consider these processes at the daily, routine level of reporting, as produced and consumed by news audiences, alongside atypical periods such as during election campaigns and a major health crisis. It is only by examining journalistic and news users' practices as embedded in the context of daily life or highly significant periods of time that we can evaluate both the role of political journalism in informing the public and its effectiveness in tackling political disinformation and misinformation.

Such an evaluation and reflection are necessary for understanding and enhancing journalistic legitimacy in the 'disinformation order' (Bennett and Livingston 2018, 122). In the US context, the rise of opinionated news channels, online sites and social media platforms has led to fears about the development of echo chambers and filter bubbles (Arguedas et al. 2022). In doing so, rival media attack and undermine their journalistic competitors, creating an information environment where people increasingly expose themselves to news ideologically consistent with their own viewpoints (Pickard 2020). Growing evidence has suggested that the spread of misinformation, as well as

populist attacks against mainstream media, have begun to erode public trust in news media institutions (Mitchell et al. 2018). Against this backdrop, concerns have been raised about journalism losing its legitimacy, with reporting dismissed as being inaccurate or biased, since many people view news coverage through a partisan prism (Carlson et al. 2021).

However, we argue that this perspective is largely seen through an Americanised prism and does not always account for differences between news media around the world and the diversity of ways the public engages with them. The UK, for example, has a public service media ecology and is not as politically polarised as the US public, or heavily influenced by a market-led media environment. Given the different media and political contexts, there will be distinctive editorial practices and ideological perspectives that influence US and UK journalism and their audiences. In other words, our book makes the case that the journalistic legitimacy of news reporting needs to be re-understood in an age of political disinformation and contextualised within specific media systems and journalistic cultures.

We understand journalistic legitimacy as the cultural authority attributed to journalism to produce knowledge about the world. Skovsgaard and Bro (2011, 323) theorise journalistic legitimacy according to three components: practices, principles and preferences. 'Preferences' refers to the prestige of the organisations journalists work for, 'principles' reflects the type of journalism championed, while 'practices' represents how news is reported (ibid.). Each component allows journalists to claim legitimacy by different measures and understandings of journalism. But these values remain dynamic and open to contestation as journalism has evolved (Tong 2018). In doing so, journalistic legitimacy has become a more fluid concept to theorise, shifting between representing authoritative practices and new ways of producing and reporting journalism (Carlson 2017).

This book starts from the assumption that journalistic legitimacy needs to be understood as co-produced between journalists and their audiences. In the context of disinformation, we need to question not only how journalists can best defend their professional boundaries and authority as truth-tellers but also how audiences evaluate and engage with these practices in their routine news consumption across different media and political systems. Journalists have the cultural authority to tell stories about and largely define social reality. However, this authority is dependent on forces at play within wider national media systems and broader political environments. It is relative to the wider environment and other information sources, such as social media, and thus open to continuous negotiation. We believe that journalistic legitimacy needs also to be theorised within the context news is consumed, which includes

the ways the public respond in different situations. During the first months of the coronavirus pandemic in the UK, for example, public service media became the primary storytellers about the virus, whereas in the US a range of market-driven and ideologically driven media were the primary definers. This, as we explore throughout the book, led to contrasting public attitudes towards the pandemic with surveys suggesting more public confusion in the US than the UK. In other words, when debating journalistic legitimacy, it is important to constantly re-evaluate it on the basis of how audiences critically understand and interpret journalism but also media as institutions during routine and critical periods of time. This continuous renegotiation of legitimacy takes place at the intersection of both journalistic and audience perceptions – of what journalism is and should be - as well as practices that enact the role of journalists as storytellers in daily life. As our research shows, we identify a disjuncture between journalists' perceptions and understandings of journalistic legitimacy, and audience expectations and public knowledge. For this disjuncture to be bridged and journalistic legitimacy enhanced, we make the case that more evidence-based interventions into the relationship between news production, output and audiences are needed.

### The Scope of the Book and the Methodological Framework

The book develops new ways of understanding journalistic legitimacy by empirically examining the editorial strategies designed to counter disinformation, the routine and specialist reporting developed to prevent it, as well as importantly – how audiences are responding to the ways journalists deal with false or misleading information. In doing so, we draw on a series of largescale content analysis studies of how journalistic practices have countered disinformation. The systematic studies of UK television news, online news and fact-checking sites were conducted between 2019 and 2021 by a team of researchers and included the analysis of thousands of items. Approximately 10 per cent of the samples were subject to strict intercoder reliability tests, with all variables achieving high scores (Cushion et al. 2022a; Cushion et al. 2022b; Hughes et al. 2023; Morani et al. 2024; Soo et al. 2023). We also monitored the role of fact-checking on the BBC flagship evening bulletin, the BBC News at Ten, in the first seven months of 2024. This involved analysing the extent to which the BBC's new fact-checking service, Verify, was referenced in a 'normal' period of time and during the 2024 UK general election campaign. The analysis of news output was combined with an exploration of the strategies journalists have used to challenge disinformation in routine coverage. We conducted semi-structured interviews with senior editors and journalists from UK broadcasters in 2020, including those from specialist fact-checking sites. Taken together, they provided insights about journalistic perceptions and practices of confronting misinformation, as well as their editorial judgements about the degree to which fact-checking should inform routine reporting.

Finally, we carried out extensive research with UK audiences between 2020 and 2021. The first study was a six-week news diary study conducted at the first peak of the COVID-19 pandemic, from 16 April to 27 May 2020. The diaries included questions and probes that allowed us to explore people's thoughts and attitudes about specific issues that were covered in the media during that period. We started the study with 200 participants. Participation numbers fluctuated over the six weeks of the study and 175 participants filled in ten out of the twelve entries they were asked to complete. The second study included fourteen focus groups, which consisted of 52 participants in total and were conducted online between 22 April and 26 May 2021, a choice dictated by the constraints imposed by COVID-19. Finally, we conducted a twostage survey that started with a sample of 1,065 respondents, who represented a range of different ages and political affiliations, as well as different media consumption habits. The 542 respondents that mostly consumed their news through television, a key focus of this book, participated in the second survey because we wanted to understand their responses to journalistic attempts to counter disinformation in closer detail. These surveys were conducted in May 2021. Research participants for the audience studies were recruited through Prolific, an online research company, and were compensated for their participation. We used purposeful sampling in all audience studies, in an attempt to ensure participant variation in terms of age, gender, political affiliation and news habits, given that these factors influence engagement with news media (Ofcom 2020c). Our aim was not necessarily to achieve representativeness but to reflect a diverse range of perspectives from different social groups and with divergent political perspectives. The combination of different methods allowed us to carry out both a quantitative and qualitative examination of public knowledge at key points in time, and explore audiences' relationship with news media, notably television news and fact-checking sites, as well as the ways they responded to news agendas and specific stories. Throughout the book, we bring together our large bank of audience material, systematic studies of news output, and interviews with editors and journalists in order to understand how disinformation operates, where it can be countered and, most importantly, to identify ways journalists can more effectively advance public knowledge about what is happening in the world. While the book draws on a series of UK-based case studies, each chapter will contextualise debates and

issues across other democratic nations, in particular the US, in order to achieve a broader understanding of journalistic legitimacy across political and media systems.

The first chapter begins by setting the context of how disinformation and its challenges are understood by journalists. It discusses how these understandings are informed by established assumptions about professional journalistic boundaries and roles. Our aim in exploring the ways journalists understand disinformation is to further illustrate how they view their role in relation to it and their audiences. In doing so, we draw upon research carried out around the world, as well as interviews we conducted with some of the most senior broadcast news editors and journalists in the UK. The evidence shows that journalistic understandings of disinformation have largely centred on external threats to their profession, such as social media and political spin. Audiences were often absent from these considerations and, when present, there was an assumption they were often manipulated by social media disinformation. Taken together, we argue that disinformation is not seen only as a threat to democratic politics but also as an afront to the epistemic role of journalism in society, undermining the authority of journalists to produce and mediate political knowledge. Against the backdrop of a fast-moving media ecology, journalists fear that their role as gatekeepers has been inadvertently compromised. Our analysis suggests that it is the re-establishment of this role that journalists view as a way of fighting disinformation. We conclude that in these efforts the audience is perceived as another challenge news media need to deal with.

Chapter 2 examines how audiences understand disinformation and how they evaluate the role of journalism in relation to it. It discusses how audience research around the world has illustrated that news audiences understand disinformation in much broader terms than so-called 'fake news', conspiracy theories and falsehoods on social media. It illustrates that political spin as well as mainstream journalistic reporting are central in these understandings. As we highlight in Chapter 1, although journalists largely view disinformation as an external threat to their profession, for audiences it is intrinsic to the work of journalists because of factors such as media bias and the structural conditions journalism operate under. Journalists were seen by many of our research participants as being complicit in the production of disinformation either by failing to challenge it, or even amplifying it by prominently reporting it. According to many of our respondents, disinformation was a taken-for-granted aspect of their daily news consumption habits. For that reason, they employed a number of practices to navigate and verify information that they found important and relevant to their lives.

The discussion draws upon our extensive UK-based audience research, which included a six-week online diary study, focus group discussions, and two surveys. We conclude that audiences ultimately approached journalism with a sense of pragmatic scepticism, a term we use to describe the tension between the belief that disinformation and misinformation are inevitable in news media and the reliance on these same media for necessary political news and analysis.

Chapter 3 considers debates about how the mainstream media can both spread so-called 'fake news' as well as effectively challenge it. It shows that much academic focus has been on understanding the impact of disinformation primarily from new online and social media sources, which became more prominent during the pandemic. We make the case that while instances of disinformation should not be underestimated, more subtle forms of misinformation emanating from mainstream media need to be investigated. We draw on a news diary case study conducted at the start of the pandemic to explore public knowledge of COVID-19 disinformation, as well as the UK government's policy decisions to effectively manage the health crisis. We found that the vast majority of diary participants easily identified so-called 'fake news' about the pandemic, and referenced mainstream media for alerting them to disinformation. But they had limited knowledge about how the UK government was mitigating the impact of the pandemic. We then draw on our systematic analysis of television news to help explain why few people understood the UK government's management of the health crisis compared to other countries. We argue that this was because coverage overwhelmingly focused on domestic news, with very few comparisons between the UK and other nations. In other words, the information environment facilitated an understanding of blatant acts of disinformation but did not arm audiences with knowledge about the comparative policies between national governments and their records in managing the crisis. Taken together, we conclude that editorial decisions - even at impartial broadcasters with high editorial standards - can leave gaps in public knowledge that lead to a misunderstanding of politics and public affairs.

Chapter 4 further explores how subtle forms of misinformation can emanate from mainstream media and not just unreliable websites and social media accounts. It does so by exploring how accurately the news media attributed power to political bodies, explaining to audiences which parties were accountable for making decisions. The chapter shows that few studies have empirically understood how government accountability reporting can lead to public misunderstanding. In order to develop a new misinformation research agenda, we draw upon a UK-based case study that identified a lack of public understanding

among our diary participants about lockdown decisions in the UK during the COVID-19 pandemic. This was connected to our analysis of UK television news over a similar period of time, which revealed that there was limited coverage about where these policies applied across England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Television news largely focused on England rather than all four nations of the UK. Without explaining the devolved political system of the UK, we argue that it could lead to misinformation in relation to lockdown reporting because the public may not understand which government was responsible for political decisions. For example, our diary study revealed many viewers did not pick up on geographical references in news reporting about the attribution of powers and were confused about how the rules were applied between the four nations. The broader conclusions of the chapter point to the importance of journalists more accurately framing the attribution of power and responsibility in order to counter misinformation and advance public knowledge.

Chapter 5 explores how the editorial practices of impartiality, objectivity and political balance can counter political misinformation. While they have become terms interchangeably used by journalists and academics, they can be applied differently in subtle but significant ways across media and political systems around the world. This chapter draws on a comparative case study that examines how the BBC interpreted the UK's 'due impartiality' guidelines in its fact-checking of political statements in domestic and foreign reporting during the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns. It found political claims were corrected more robustly and directly by journalists in the coverage of the US than the UK reporting of election campaigns, as well as on fact-checking sites compared to online news and especially television news bulletins. The chapter argues that the degree to which journalists rigorously challenged claims was based on how impartiality was applied across media platforms, including television, online news and specific fact-checking websites. Our analysis suggests reporters felt more emboldened to challenge the claims of foreign over national politicians because of the domestic pressures and scrutiny they face to remain impartial and not take political sides. Furthermore, we argue that because of this domestic political pressure journalists often left it to rival politicians to interrogate claims and counterclaims – what is known as a 'he said, she said' approach to reporting - rather than independently assess the relative merits of both perspectives. More broadly, the chapter concludes that a shift from conventional reporting to fact-checking journalism would enhance the legitimacy of journalism by holding power to account more effectively and advancing better public understanding of issues and events.

Chapter 6 further develops the book's analysis of fact-checking by considering how it has informed journalism around the world. It is split into three sections. The first section explores the latest empirical studies examining fact-checking sites, moving beyond US studies that have dominated and distorted academic debates because of a focus on partisanship. The chapter then argues that scholarship needs to move beyond the narrow US context in order to better understand the impact of fact-checking across different political and media systems. It is concluded that far more research is needed to understand how and where fact-checking could enhance journalism. To address this, the second section draws on a case study that explored three fact-checking sites during the 2019 UK general election campaign, from the BBC and Channel 4, along with an independent fact-checker, Full Fact. Above all, it found that broadcasters focused on fact-checking claims from the main parties' agendas and relied on a select few institutional sources, while Full Fact featured a broader range of topics and expert figures. The chapter also draws on interviews with journalists and discovers that broadcasters highly valued their fact-checking teams but there was often a lack of integration with the main news gathering teams. The third section of the chapter focuses on a study that examined the extent to which fact-checking journalism informs routine, day-to-day reporting and if claims were treated differently across between platforms and websites. We discovered that fact-checking output was not regularly drawn upon in flagship television news, which often left claims go unchallenged. We argue that broadcasters constructed impartiality as balancing competing perspectives by often leaving it to rival politicians to scrutinise each other's claims. By contrast, on specialist fact-checking websites we found journalists adopted a more robust application of impartiality by directly challenging and, where necessary, calling out any false or misleading statements. Taken together, the chapter makes the case that fact-checking represents a more effective way of countering misinformation than constructing balance between party political perspectives. The final part of the chapter examined the first seven months of 2024 in order to assess how far factchecking informed the BBC's News at Ten in routine coverage and during the UK general election campaign. We suggest that there were signs that a more assertive approach to impartially was being pursued by the UK's main public service broadcaster, but that may only apply to election coverage rather than routine reporting.

Chapter 7 moves from examining the output of fact-checking to assessing its impact. We begin by exploring the limited body of scholarly research on audience engagement with fact-checking, which has evaluated the relationship between political beliefs and the public's receptiveness to corrective

information. In doing so, we highlight how much of the research informing relevant debates has been conducted through the narrow lens of election campaigns and mostly from a US perspective. Since the US has a highly polarised political environment, we argue that more research needs to focus on how receptive audiences are to fact-checking outside the US and in their routine consumption of news media. We make an intervention into these debates by drawing upon our own audience research in the UK to understand the broad use of fact-checking and its wider value in news consumption. Through an online diary during the pandemic, two surveys and focus groups, the chapter carries out one of the largest and most sustained analyses of audience understanding and engagement with fact-checking. Our analysis showed that our research participants had limited knowledge of fact-checking services, and, by extension, very rarely used it. Nevertheless, when we discussed examples of fact-checking with them, participants described it as useful in their understanding of news, in a way that constructed it as a type of 'valuable journalism' (Costera Meijer 2022, 230). We identified three interrelated dimensions of fact-checking use: it can provide contextual information that helps the public better understand politics, act as a tool of political accountability and confirm the role of journalism as the watchdog of political power. The chapter concludes by making the case that the public would welcome fact-checking as a routine journalistic convention. This, in turn, would enhance public trust in and understanding of news, and, according to many of our participants, more effectively hold political power to account.

The final chapter is informed by the salient findings of the book, developing a wider discussion about their significance by drawing on the growing body of disinformation studies, fact-checking literature and illustrative examples across five themes. First, the chapter restates the predominant argument of the book - that we need to rethink debates about the origins of disinformation and misinformation. In our view, debates should focus less on blatant acts of disinformation and instead identify where and why misinformation can flow from mainstream media and undermine public understanding. Second, we examine how impartiality informs reporting and how old-age conventions might undermine fact-checking journalism. In doing so, we suggest a more assertive interpretation of impartiality would lead to a more robust interrogation of claims made by politicians as opposed to balancing their competing perspectives. Third, we focus on the role and use of fact-checking by news media over recent years. We suggest it should become a more normalised practice in routine reporting rather than being reserved for specific moments, such as during election campaigns. Fourth, the chapter explores the role political systems can play in countering disinformation and advancing public understanding. This includes considering the value of disinformation initiatives launched by public service broadcasters over recent years, and how far they can engender trust in journalism and fact-checking. Fifth and finally, the book concludes by arguing that the legitimacy of journalism would be enhanced if the news media adopted a more assertive approach to challenging misleading political claims and holding political power to account.

### Journalistic Understandings of Disinformation

Introducing the panel on 'Defending the Truth' at the 2024 World Economic Forum (WEF), Mark Leonard described its title as 'a kind of mission impossible'. His admission reflected the fears and anxieties of the wider news media industry in its effort to deal with disinformation, which the 2024 WEF Global Risk Report defined as 'the most severe global risk anticipated over the next two years' (World Economic Forum 2024, 8). Similarly, UNESCO (2023) included disinformation among the major threats to the freedom of the press across the world. This was reflected in an American nationwide survey (PEN America 2022), which found that journalists were worried about the impact of disinformation on their work, as it disrupted established processes and distracted them from routine reporting, leaving many feeling underequipped to deal with it. The survey further reported that journalists were spending much more time debunking misinformation and so-called 'fake news', while also having to deal with attacks from the public. Some even claimed to have avoided covering a story because they feared a 'fake news' backlash that would seek to discredit their reporting.

These fears are expressive not only of the gravity of the threat of disinformation on public discourse but also of the questions it poses for the nature and long-term survival of journalism and its normative ideals. While trying to safeguard democracy against disinformation, political journalists have simultaneously been struggling to protect their own professional identity in a fast-changing news ecology that constantly challenges it. Our first chapter provides an overview of these journalistic struggles by focusing on the question of how journalists understand disinformation as a phenomenon. These understandings are central to unpacking how they see their role in relation to disinformation, and by extension how they communicate it to audiences. The

relationship between journalistic efforts to tackle disinformation and audience evaluations of these efforts lie at the centre of this book. We begin the exploration of this relationship by illustrating the assumptions that underline the work of journalists in their fight against political disinformation.

The chapter starts with a brief overview of attempts to adapt journalistic practices to the new 'disinformation order' (Bennett and Livingston 2018) and the challenges it poses for the profession. It then moves on to discuss how these attempts are informed by established understandings of professional journalistic boundaries and roles. In this discussion we draw upon research conducted around the world through analyses of editorials and interviews with journalists, as well as interviews we conducted with some of the most senior broadcast news editors and journalists in the UK. We illustrate how in their understandings of disinformation journalists situate themselves in relation to what are perceived to be external threats to journalistic practice, namely social media, political spin and manipulation. At the same time, audiences are either largely absent from these considerations or assumed to be easily influenced and manipulated by social media disinformation. Ultimately, we argue that this disconnection between journalists and audiences further contributes to the problem of declining journalistic legitimacy. This problem, largely expressed through public mistrust in news media, is not merely generated by the external threat of disinformation. As we will further explain throughout this book, it has to do with a discrepancy between journalistic understandings and audience expectations.

#### **Shifting Journalistic Practices**

The recognition of disinformation as a societal and professional threat has generated a variety of recommendations about how journalists can fight against it. Some of these initiatives aim to recentre established journalistic norms, others to improve and reinforce editorial practices in order to better equip reporters when dealing with false or misleading information. Journalistic training on identifying and debunking disinformation and misinformation has been provided by NGOs, journalism organisations and schools around the world, or even within large media outlets. UNESCO (2018), for example, published a handbook on journalism education and training on the assumption that misinformation has created new conditions for journalism for which new skills and training will be required. The handbook focuses on the development of digital skills in order to verify social media sources and content, fact-check and combat online abuse. The International Centre for Journalists launched a global programme on 'Disarming Disinformation', which included digital

skills training, the sharing of resources and capacity building at a global scale. Meanwhile, The National Union of Journalists in the UK has provided training to 'strengthen digital research and verification skills' (NUJ 2024). Likewise, PEN America (2024) has promoted 'resilience tools' for journalists, which include advice on dealing with breaking news, navigating disinformation on social media, using online verification and bot detection tools, and dealing with generative AI.

Besides developing a digital skills toolkit, a number of other strategies have been discussed in order to defend journalistic standards both against a growing level of disinformation and public mistrust in news reporting. Transparency, for example, has been seen as valuable for reinforcing journalistic accountability and, by extension, public trust in journalism. It is largely understood as openness about the ways journalists work, both through providing explanations of how news is made, and encouraging public participation in news making (Karlsson and Clerwall 2018, 1923-4). It can take a variety of forms, such as publishing newsroom policies and standard practices, including sections for the audience to submit complaints, providing biographical and contact information of reporters, acknowledging mistakes made (Jahng et al. 2023, 237), publicly verifying sources and facts, asking news readers to help with fact-checking or explaining and showing audiences the processes of fact-checking (PEN America 2017, 61). Such openness about how news media deal with misinformation, it is believed, can allow journalists to either 'publicly and swiftly respond to valid critiques of their work' (UNESCO 2018, 60) or pre-emptively address any criticisms. BBC Verify, for example, was launched by the broadcaster in May 2023 to explain the 'how' of newsmaking (Turness 2023). 'People want to know not just what we know (and don't know), but how we know it', wrote Deborah Turness, CEO of BBC News, when introducing the service (ibid.). By March 2024, videos produced by BBC Verify included a new transparency tool, namely a 'content credentials' feature, which explained where images or videos used in news stories were coming from and how they were authenticated by BBC staff. This information was embedded within the image or video itself, 'helping to counter disinformation when the content is shared outside the BBC' (Transparency tool launched by BBC Verify 2024). However, although such initiatives have been on the rise as a journalistic response to disinformation and in an effort to regain public trust, some research has suggested that news audiences have been indifferent to this approach to journalistic transparency and negatively reacted to user participation in the news (Karlsson and Clerwall 2018).

Another long-standing journalistic practice that has been reconsidered in

the context of debates on disinformation is the 'he said, she said' approach to reporting. Allowing for opposing views on a debate to be heard, the approach has been traditionally seen as a guarantee of balanced news coverage and impartiality. It has conventionally required journalists to 'present the views of legitimate spokespersons of the conflicting sides in any significant dispute, and provide both sides with roughly equal attention' (Entman 1989, 30). This means that journalists rarely adjudicate between contradicting sources and claims (Coddington and Molyneux 2023). This approach to reporting, however, can lead to false equivalence between arguments with unequal epistemic standing. Didion (2002, 207) characterised this as 'autopilot reporting and lazy thinking' even though it stemmed from the 'benign ideal' of fairness. She argued that when political journalists adopted this reporting style, it resulted in 'a scrupulous passivity, an agreement to cover the story not as it is occurring but as it is presented, which is to say as it is manufactured' (ibid.). Ultimately, this form of journalism seems to focus 'more on the avoidance of subjectivity than the pursuit of truth' (Birks 2019b, 16). This 'ritualised' or 'procedural' objectivity, therefore, is viewed as leaving the public vulnerable to manufactured uncertainty aimed at reproducing disinformation and confusion (Lawrence and Schafer 2012, 769). Indeed, 'he said, she said' reporting has been criticised for enabling the spread of misinformation in debates about vaccines (Nyhan 2013), climate change (Boykoff and Boykoff 2007) and the Brexit referendum (Damazer 2019). Even when journalists covered the facts that discredited fringe claims with limited evidence supporting them, the framing of some issues as genuine debates between views granted the same attention might have long-term consequences, such as legitimising falsehoods and misinformation as valid opinions.

The 'he said, she said' approach to reporting is actively resisted by fact-checking journalism, which places the establishment of 'truth' instead of balance at the centre of its mission. The practice has been described as a 'professional reform movement' (Amazeen 2017, 95) that aims to restore 'truth-seeking ideals in journalism' (Lim 2018b, 1). The fundamental principles of fact-checking have included proactively detecting and uncovering disinformation, and determining the accuracy and truthfulness of claims, notably from political elites (Amazeen 2019). The reporting of dis/misinformation is, therefore, at the centre of professional fact-checking organisations, which differ from traditional internal fact-checking practices in news organisations, aiming at verifying reporters' sources. Thus, fact-checking has largely been seen as distinct from the conventions and practices of mainstream journalism and considered to be overlapping with but separate from the day-to-day role of professional journalists. The practice has faced occasional criticisms for being underlined by a 'naïve

political epistemology' that assumes that truth can be absolute and indisputable, thus reflecting a simplistic understanding of the world (Uscinski and Butler 2013, 162). It has nevertheless been broadly celebrated as a professional movement of a 'new style of political news' that can revitalise mainstream journalism by holding political actors accountable for reproducing disinformation and falsehoods (Graves 2016, 6). It has been viewed as a central development in fighting disinformation, rehabilitating public trust and restoring journalistic legitimacy. We question these assumptions and explore the practice and perceptions of fact-checking in later chapters. What is worth highlighting here is the confidence and optimism with which the practice has been approached and embraced around the world. For example, a measure of its growing influence can be evidenced by the 430 fact-checking organisations that were operating around the world in March 2024, according to Duke Reporters' Lab.

### Disinformation and Journalistic Boundaries

Our discussion of journalistic practices so far is by no means an exhaustive list of the initiatives and developments considered by journalists in their efforts to tackle disinformation and re-establish public trust. All these practices, however, are reflective not only of journalists' fight to protect democratic politics, but also their attempts to reinstate their legitimacy and protect their professional identities. As we discussed in the introduction, dis/misinformation does not only undermine public trust in politics but also media institutions and journalism. Besides its broader societal consequences, disinformation is a grave threat to the epistemic authority of traditional journalism, namely its ability to produce knowledge about the world that is accepted by their audiences as factual and truthful (Carlson 2020b, 231). The story, therefore, of how journalists have tried to tackle disinformation is ultimately a story of how they have tried to re-establish themselves as the central storytellers in a fast-evolving news ecology.

In that respect, we can consider disinformation and its related phenomena, such as misinformation and so-called 'fake news', to be what Tandoc et al. (2019, 674), following Zelizer (1992a), have described as a 'critical incident in journalism', that is to say 'one that forces the journalism community to reflect on its practices and protect its ranks'. As a critical incident, disinformation invites journalists to reconsider their professional norms and practices in relation to technological developments that have allowed for the proliferation of misinformation, as well as the further changes these developments have precipitated in politics and news consumption patterns. Critical incidents, Zelizer (1992b, 191) has argued, illuminate conventions about journalistic authority

and open up discursive spaces for boundaries of journalistic practice to be discussed, challenged and negotiated, which 'in turn allows journalists to set up collective notions about journalistic practice and thereby uphold themselves as an authoritative interpretive community'.

In order to illustrate how these renegotiations of journalistic boundaries take place within the context of disinformation, studies have examined journalistic understandings of 'fake news' and disinformation, either by exploring journalistic outputs (e.g. Carlson 2020a; Tandoc et al. 2019; Vos and Thomas 2018) or through interviews with journalists and news editors (e.g. Canavilhas and Jorge 2022; Jahng et al. 2023; Koliska and Assmann 2021; Schapals and Bruns 2022). The latter have provided insights into individual journalists' reflections on their professional role and practices. Journalistic texts, such as editorials, on the other hand, have been viewed as a window into how journalists negotiate their values and practices as well as how they present them to the public (Tandoc et al. 2019). As such, they are part of 'metajournalistic discourse', which Carlson (2016, 350) has described as the 'field of discourse that continually constructs meaning around journalism and its larger social place'. This discourse is central in establishing professional legitimacy, as 'journalism functions within this larger context of meaning about journalism' (Carlson 2020a, 377). As in much research on disinformation, these studies have largely focused on the US context, with a few exceptions.

According to this growing body of scholarship, journalistic content, such as editorials, has illustrated a fluidity in the ways the concept of fake news has been understood and described by journalists, while also legitimising it as a grave social concern by acknowledging it (Tandoc et al. 2019; Carlson 2020a). Irrespective of the variations in understanding the phenomenon, however, there have been commonalities in the attribution of blame for the proliferation of fake news. In particular, technological platforms such as Facebook and Google featured heavily in journalistic narratives about how fake news as a phenomenon emerged at the international level. The economic motives of these platforms, as well as the lack of professional journalistic gatekeepers, were seen as enabling an 'informational cacophony' that allowed for the proliferation of 'fake news' (Carlson 2020a, 383). Interestingly, however, the audience was also identified as a perpetrator of this cacophony and concomitant misinformation rather than their victim (Carlson 2020a, 384). The lack of critical skills, when using social media platforms, as well as the tendency to stay within their ideological filter bubbles were some of the reasons used in newspaper editorials to attribute blame to news audiences. By concentrating their criticism on social media, the audience and the broader political environment, journalists simultaneously resisted accountability (Tandoc et al. 2019, 686), while advocating

for traditional journalistic practices (Carlson 2020a, 380). Ultimately, by identifying fake news as a problem for democratic politics, journalists also engaged in boundary work, defending their own accounts and storytelling processes (Carlson 2020a, 375).

Similar insights were established by studies that employed interviews with journalists in the Philippines (Balod and Hameleers 2021), Chile (Núñez-Mussa et al. 2024), Germany (Koliska and Assmann 2021), Australia and the UK (Schapals and Bruns 2022), and the US (Benham 2020; Jahng et al. 2023). These studies illustrated that journalists broadly interpreted fake news and disinformation as a challenge both for journalism and society in general, while also attempting to reinforce their role as a 'pillar of democracy' (Schapals and Bruns 2022, 10). Journalists seemed to respond to dis/misinformation, as well as attacks to their profession by 'putting increased emphasis on long established professional norms, roles and practices' (Koliska and Assmann 2021, 2742). Filipino journalists, for example, found that the watchdog and disseminator role were becoming more important in an environment fraught with disinformation, and felt the need to correct it, so that they did not become complicit with it. However, they were often forced to continue the 'he said, she said' routine in order to provide what could appear as more balanced and detached reporting (Balod and Hameleers 2021, 2378). In the US, journalists repeatedly juxtaposed the construction and presentation of fake news to their traditional journalistic practices, while emphasising their long institutional history as a way to reinforce their trustworthiness (Jahng et al. 2023). Ultimately, journalistic gatekeeping was constructed as a way of producing balanced reporting and confronting disinformation (Benham 2020).

The journalists and editors we interviewed described disinformation in broadly similar ways, constructing it as a grave threat for journalistic work and democracy overall. We held in-depth discussions with senior news editors, producers and journalists from the BBC, Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky News, as well as fact-checkers working for BBC Reality Check and Channel 4's FactCheck. The interviews were conducted in January and February 2020 and lasted approximately one hour (see Soo et al. 2023).

Disinformation was largely described by our interviewees as the deliberate attempt to mislead for political purposes or, as Ben de Pear, the then Channel 4 News Editor, put it, the 'weaponising of fake news, uncertainty, different versions of the truth for mostly a political audience, to try and persuade them to support you rather than opponents'. The concept, largely conflated with fake news in the conversations, was further unpacked in more nuanced ways, which included 'being blatantly deceptive' (interview with Paul Royal, then BBC News at Six and Ten Editor), 'cynical lying', 'professional disinformation

campaigns' and cyberwar (interview with Patrick Worrall, then head of Channel 4 FactCheck), 'twist[ing the truth] to suit a particular political end' (interview with Jon Snow, then Channel 4 News anchor) and information that maybe is 'true but is being used in a particular way for a particular reason and maybe isn't in the public interest' (interview with Isla Glaister, then Sky News producer). Our interviewees pointed out that disinformation was not a new phenomenon, as political propaganda and spin have always existed. However, there was a broad acknowledgement that there was something distinctive about how these practices were conducted and experienced in the contemporary context.

If for the US the turning point in disinformation debates was the election of Donald Trump in 2016, for British journalists it seemed to be the 2016 Brexit referendum, which was discussed in all our interviews. That critical political moment illustrated both the extent to which disinformation could easily spread and have a detrimental effect on politics, as well as the difficulties that the phenomenon posed on journalists. These difficulties centred on two interrelated processes, namely the ease with which politicians would lie or manipulate the truth, and the prominence of digital media and social media platforms in news circulation.

### Disinformation as an External Threat to Journalism

Disinformation was understood by the broadcast journalists and editors we talked to as inextricably intertwined with online media. The changes brought about by the rise in social media use were integral to their definitions of disinformation. The speed and the scale with which information can be shared through digital media were discussed as the major dimensions of contemporary disinformation campaigns. According to Jon Snow, who was Channel 4 News's main anchor for over twenty years, disinformation was 'more to do with the dissemination than it is to do with the content. The content has not changed very much.' Similarly, Rupert Carey, the then editor of BBC Reality Check, pointed out that the content of current disinformation campaigns was not very different from earlier scaremongering tactics, such as the 1992 'Labour's Tax Bombshell' poster that falsely claimed that Labour would increase taxes by more than £1,000 for the average voter, or the 1997 Tony Blair's Demon Eyes advert, which was a collage depicting the then leader of the opposition with cartoonish devilish eyes. The difference to the present, Carey pointed out, was that in the past members of the public would have to open a newspaper or pass a billboard in order to be exposed to these campaign adverts, whereas now such messages can be 'pumped out' and 'bombard'

people repeatedly through social media platforms. 'The message might not have changed but the volume and the targeting obviously has changed', he further argued, and this could have 'a greater effect in reaching people you want to reach'.

Twitter (now X), Facebook and, to a lesser extent, YouTube were the platforms mentioned by our interviewees in relation to disinformation. By spreading information fast and widely, these platforms were seen as constructing an anarchic news environment, whereby news and fake news alike could reach the audience indiscriminately. This was believed to have altered the type of information that was considered credible, as well as news consumption habits. As Ben de Pear described, audiences have moved

from being informed by newspapers and TV news and radio, from a sort of regulated environment, to short snippets of information or video mostly online on their phones, which has also had the actual physiological effect of shortening peoples' span of concentration, their levels of concentration, and I think political disinformation has come from that, that the loudest voice or the most emotive or angry voice is heard above others.

For many of our interviewees, these processes, and the move from a 'regulated' news environment, threw into relief what was ultimately the diminishing mediating role of journalists in the flow of political information. Reflecting on whether something felt different in the contemporary political landscape, Paul Royall, then BBC News Editor, observed that:

It feels like there is, because of the changes in technology and the rise in social media and the ability to be able to broadcast and disseminate yourself. So in an old world where maybe the BBC and BBC News and one or two others were, effectively, the platform and the means of dissemination, and so information is travelling through our hands and being checked, processed and approved in all the usual editorial ways, that's not the case to the same extent anymore.

Similarly, Isla Gaisler, then Sky News producer, described that what had changed in news work was that information that used to reach the public through 'a filter' did not need to do so anymore. Instead, she argued,

whether that's because politicians are trying to or would prefer to have their message not through the filter and not through the analysis of a journalist, I don't know if that's their intention but it's certainly part of the effect.

Taken together, disinformation was intrinsically intertwined with what journalists and editors described as the demise of their traditional role in the production and circulation of news. In particular, it was their gatekeeping role that journalists saw as being obliterated in an environment of media and information abundance. The nature and scale of disinformation seemed to have changed, according to our interviewees, because journalists were not the ones deciding what news was anymore, nor could they verify information that would reach the public.

According to some editors and journalists, the loss of this journalistic filter had to do with the unwillingness of politicians to engage with journalists through press conferences or interviews. We asked our interviewees to reflect on the issue of access to politicians, especially during a campaign period. It was often identified as a problem in the coverage of elections, as it could potentially disconnect journalists from the particulars of the campaign and have a detrimental effect on their analysis. Most of the journalists and editors we interviewed mentioned the unwillingness of politicians to engage with reporters and expose themselves to scrutiny. Jon Snow, for example, blamed what he described as 'the death of the news conferences' for shutting down any opportunity to challenge politicians about their lies and exaggerations. He described how previous 'structures for elections' and 'regulations' allowed for political parties to be available to journalists daily during the campaign, which 'enshrined the right, on behalf of the citizen, [of] the media to ask questions'. This, he argued, did not exist anymore. Similarly, Ben De Pear described how the 'time between politicians and journalists' had dramatically decreased over the years and by the different governments. In his view, this led to

interviewers becoming more aggressive because they had less time in order to ask more important questions and the politicians being less likely to do an interview because they knew that the broadcasters were trying to get a line out of them, or a moment.

Ultimately, given the pressures posed by journalistic scrutiny, and the opportunities allowed by social media, politicians, as described in the interviews, preferred to engage with the public directly through social media platforms. As Jon Snow put it, 'politicians are, effectively, on the run from the conventional media'. This, in turn, undermined political accountability and the ability of journalists to directly scrutinise and challenge political claims.

The lack of journalistic scrutiny of the information that politicians would directly share with the public through social media was considered particularly significant, given what a lot of the journalists and editors we talked to described as the ease with which politicians would manipulate the truth. Despite describing disinformation as nothing completely new, as discussed above, a general view expressed among our interviewees was that 'a line has been crossed' (interview with Cait FitzSimons, then editor of Channel 5 News) and there had been a qualitative shift in the ways politicians would bend the truth or employ outward lies in order to promote their views and interests. This 'deterioration in honesty', as Patrick Worrall, then head of Channel 4 FactCheck, described it, was seen in the ease with which politicians could potentially be deceptive. This was enabled by social media and the absence of journalistic challenge. But it was also described as a broader trend in a political culture where 'the jeopardy for politicians caught out telling lies is less now' (interview with Patrick Worrall). Instead, both the Brexit campaign and the Trump 2016 presidential election were cases, 'where you had people who were seen to be playing fast and loose with the truth, and not only were they not punished by the electorate, they were perhaps in a sense rewarded' (ibid.). In that context, disinformation was described as 'not just the willingness to mislead but actually the happiness to mislead because it works for you [i.e. for politicians], and you know that it's cutting through' (interview with Cait FitzSimmons).

The interviewees alluded to what Gaber and Fisher (2022, 461) have described as 'strategic lying'. This represents the latest development in political spin, which employs ostensibly misleading content that aims to set the agenda by grabbing attention and being widely disseminated and amplified through social and mainstream media, exactly because of its untruthful nature and likely rebuttal. One such explicit attempt to confuse or mislead the public pointed out by our interviewees was the temporary renaming of the Twitter (now X) account of the Conservative Party's press office to 'factcheckUK' during the political leaders' debate in the 2019 election campaign. Although this was recognised as an attempt to add credibility to the Conservative Party's campaign, which was not in itself a novelty, the practice was nevertheless condemned as 'very low down', given that there was 'an element there of trying to fool the public' (interview with Isla Glaister).

It was, therefore, largely social media and politicians' propensity to lying, and the complicit relationship between the two, that were identified as the main sources of disinformation by the journalists we talked to. On the one hand, the political landscape has transformed in ways that explicit lies have become part of political spin and are seen as inconsequential in terms of political cost. On the other hand, social media platforms have provided politicians with the opportunity to directly broadcast these lies and misinformation to the public, without the scrutiny of journalistic intervention. It is these conditions that our interviewees described as the context within which disinformation

in its current form has emerged and threatens both the traditional journalistic roles and democratic politics overall.

However, by attributing responsibility largely to politicians and social media, editors and journalists generally constructed disinformation and fake news as external threats to their profession and roles. This could be viewed as further inoculating the news media against any internal criticism, leaving little space for self-reflection and examination of how journalism itself can play a role in how dis/misinformation play out in contemporary politics. Koliska and Assmann (2021, 2737), for example, found that the majority of German news directors and editors they interviewed saw no link between public accusations of a 'lying press' and the actual performance of the institution of journalism. Such distancing, the authors argued, allowed newsrooms to develop strategies and responses to these accusations that did not 'question the validity of the existing institutional myth' of journalistic authority (ibid.).

One of the news editors we interviewed made an explicit reference to journalistic responsibility in the way news stories were framed. Talking about how journalists should deal with politicians, Cait FitzSimmons, then editor of Channel 5 News, acknowledged that there were 'different shades' in political reporting and occasionally some reporters inserted their own take in the story, or they sometimes 'get caught up in the Westminsterness of it'. This can affect the reporting of political issues, such as adopting the frame politicians themselves impose on journalists rather than questioning the impact related policies would have on the public. FitzSimmons also identified how media can reproduce misinformation by repeating information out of context and without explanation. She specifically referred to a clip that the BBC show Question Time shared on Twitter (now X) during the 2019 election campaign period, when a member of the audience criticised Labour's taxation promises by claiming that a £80k salary was not among the 5 per cent top earners. The claim was false, as this salary was indeed among the top 5 per cent, and was challenged by different sources, including during the show itself. Nevertheless, the clip was still shared without context on the BBC Twitter (now X) account and went viral.

Instead of reconsidering such practices, by focusing on the challenges posed by politicians and social media alike, many of the solutions envisioned by our interviewees in the fight against disinformation entailed the refinement or expansion of existing journalistic practices. When we asked about the importance of fact-checking, especially during election periods, virtually all interviewees supported this approach to journalism, despite the difficulties it posed. These included distinguishing between claims that were checkable and political opinions or slogans, keeping in line with guidelines of impartiality,

and reaching the wider public beyond television news. There was an overall sense conveyed in the interviews that journalists needed to be on alert under these new conditions of political disinformation, even more so than in the past, to become 'much more attentive and geared up for quickly and convincingly analysing and scrutinising claims and information' (interview with Paul Royall). The need for more explainers for the public was also mentioned in a few interviews, as well as the need to share these explainers in different media platforms, such as YouTube or Twitter (now X) in order to reach more audiences. Katy Searle, for example, then Head of BBC Westminster, described 'presumed knowledge' as the 'biggest challenge' journalists faced, because they were 'in a bubble in terms of chatting about stuff' and, therefore, assuming knowledge that the public did not have. Bringing information 'back to the basics' in a sophisticated way was a main challenge for reaching the audience. Indeed, Searle argued that all the audience research that BBC had conducted boiled down to one point, namely that the audience did not really understand what journalists would talk about.

#### Disinformation and its Imagined Audience

Acknowledging the need for more explainers that can help the public navigate (dis)information, journalists and editors we interviewed recognised the need to better connect with their audiences and produce reporting that is useful to them. At the same time, however, most of the discussions were underlined by assumptions journalists made about their audiences, which constructed the latter as another challenge news media needed to overcome in the context of disinformation. In particular, the audience was assumed to be lacking in two fundamental ways that were integral to the spread of disinformation. The first had to do with the perceived lack of audience attention in its engagement with the news. The argument was that 'the public's ability to concentrate has been shortened over time by this constant sort of digital media and the mobile phone' (interview with Ben de Pear) and they were less likely to listen to lengthy stories and analyses. Doubt was expressed, for example, about whether good reporting 'even cuts through with the viewers', unless it is done in a sound bite and concise way, in a 'big hands-on-hips, here's a takeout, here's the truth' type of reporting (interview with Cait FitzSimmons). This propensity to sound bites and shortform meant that the audience could become more vulnerable to political spin, as well as to the voices that were louder rather than truthful on social media platforms.

The second assumption about the audience had to do with their lack of trust in mainstream journalism and the partisan way in which news consumers evaluated information. This meant that some journalists imagined their audiences as being inherently suspicious towards their work, which would be interpreted not as objective reporting but ideologically skewed. 'If you don't say what they [audiences] want', Cait FitzSimmons said, 'then they will obviously say that you are fake news or putting out disinformation.' At the same time, a few interviewees criticised social media platforms for allowing echo chambers, which reinforced audience beliefs and potential prejudices, thus making it 'harder to get people to take an objective viewpoint' (interview with Isla Glasler). Online partisan audiences were also seen as weaponising information in order to reinforce their own political arguments and views. Reflecting on his unwillingness to use a star system in presenting fact-checking verdicts, Patrick Worrall, the then head of Channel 4 News FactCheck, expressed his disappointment in how journalistic nuance was not always appreciated by audiences:

And actually you just realise as a journalist, it's like you're doing your best to try and be even-handed and nuanced and people are just kind of wilfully disregarding that, all the effort you've put into it and trying to use that one little aspect of it that suits their case. So that's one reason why we we're not keen on that kind of four out of five stars thing.

This editorial perspective was illustrative of a lack of trust in online audiences, as well as a sense of alienation from them. The audience was approached as another challenge to deal with in the context of political disinformation. Even if not explicitly identified as perpetrators of disinformation (Tandoc et al. 2019; Carlson 2020a), online audiences were considered to be active contributors to its proliferation, by ignoring nuanced journalism, preferring sound bite information and trusting the voices that confirm their own biases.

In their Chile-based study, Nuñez-Mussa et al. (2024, 10) found that the journalists and editors they interviewed perceived their audiences as passive and with little critical judgement in their daily engagement with news. They seemed to assume that as hard as they fought for reporting accurate and truthful information, the public evidently did not care about the truth anymore. Similarly, Jahng et al. (2023) found that the US journalists they interviewed thought that audiences understood so-called fake news in a much more partisan way than themselves. Although journalists themselves defined fake news as disinformation that intends to mislead and manipulate the public, or information that had not been vetted or scrutinised with journalistic ethics in mind (Jahng et al. 2023, 231–2), they thought that their audiences adopted a partisan definition of the concept, and considered fake news to be any information they

disagreed with, or used the concept to holistically attack the profession and thus challenge the epistemology of journalism (Jahng et al. 2023, 233).

These findings were not surprising in the context of broader research on journalistic perceptions of the audience. Audiences have been historically perceived by journalists as passive and uninterested in significant issues, and therefore their feedback has been largely ignored (Nelson 2021, 16). Research has suggested journalists seem to have abstract notions of their audience (Robinson 2019). Despite changes in technology that have afforded greater opportunities to connect with news audiences, and to therefore get to know them more intimately, these understandings remain abstract and limited (Robinson 2019; Nelson 2021). Instead, technological changes seem to have had detrimental effects on how journalists view their relationship to their audiences, as they feel increasingly disconnected from the public and sense that citizens do not respect their work and mistrust them more than ever (Metykova 2017). This could be viewed as the outcome of technological developments that increase information sources, undermining legacy journalism, and sociopolitical developments, such as the rise of populism and political polarisation (ibid.).

The way journalists imagine their audiences is important as it largely affects the ways they communicate with the public (Coddington et al. 2021). Nelson (2021), for example, has illustrated how news media organisations that value actively engaging with their audiences draw upon a more diverse set of voices and sources in order to more effectively reflect the diversity of the public. On the other hand, if journalists negatively perceive their audience as uninterested or passive, they are likely to be unwilling to engage with them, as this would be seen as undermining their professional values (Nelson 2021, 17). Taken together, it can be concluded that the way journalists understand their audiences in the context of disinformation has implications for how they tackle it and inform the public about false and misleading information. What our findings, along with other research, have shown is that in their fight against disinformation journalists feel alienated from the public and even attacked by them. For journalists, this alienation might be discouraging and shape the way they see their professional role. If they feel that their work does not matter as much for the public, the gravest consequence could be that their efforts will also be impacted. If journalists believe that the public does not care much about 'the truth', they might become even more disengaged from their audiences and immune to any feedback. Ultimately, framing the audience as both partisan and disinterested in 'political truth' can be dangerous both for journalistic attempts to tackle disinformation and journalistic legitimacy overall.

#### Mind the Gap Between Journalists and their Audiences

This chapter has explored the ways journalists understand disinformation and their role in relation to it. We have argued that disinformation is not seen only as a threat to democratic politics but also as an afront to the epistemic role of journalism in society, namely its authority to produce and mediate political knowledge. We have illustrated how journalists understand disinformation as produced by politicians willing to lie and manipulate the truth in new, and to an extent, unprecedented ways, which have been facilitated by social media platforms that enable the fast and wide dissemination of unverified information. Within this evolving media ecology, the role of journalists as gatekeepers has been inadvertently undermined. It is the re-establishment of this role that journalists see as a way of fighting disinformation. In these efforts, the audience is perceived as another challenge news media need to deal with. The public is partially seen as having lost the attention span or appetite for 'good journalism' or even 'the truth', and approaching truthfulness through a partisan lens.

However, by trying to re-establish and strengthen their institutional identity in the face of disinformation within the digital information ecology, journalists also draw boundaries and social distance that further separate them from the public, whose trust they are trying to gain (Koliska and Assmann 2021, 2743). Trying to adapt to the new technological and sociopolitical environments, journalists largely focus their efforts on re-establishing their role in relation to politicians rather than their audiences. When audiences are considered enablers or even perpetrators of disinformation, it is likely that the distance between journalists and the public will increase. This distance can undermine efforts to re-establish public trust in journalism. At the same time, by defining disinformation as only an external threat to the profession, and placing responsibility for it on politicians, social media and the public, the risk is that journalists will distance themselves from any form of self-reflection. This can make them oblivious to possible weaknesses and blind spots in their work that have contributed to public criticisms and mistrust.

Ultimately, if there is an increasing distance between journalists and their audiences it will undermine efforts to re-establish journalistic legitimacy. As we discussed in the introduction, this needs to be understood as a constant negotiation between journalists and the public. If journalists become disenchanted about the ability or willingness of the public to engage with them, journalists could end up shielding themselves against not only partisan attacks but also legitimate critique and possible introspection. In doing so, they run the risk of misunderstanding their audiences and further alienating them. In an evolving news landscape, where not only news consumption patterns but

also audience expectations might have changed, trying to uphold and reinforce institutional roles through old practices seems insufficient. This disconnection with the public can further undermine journalistic efforts to challenge disinformation.

### Audience Understandings of Disinformation

The role of the audience in academic debates about disinformation, so-called 'fake news' and post-truth politics has been largely understood in terms of two contrasting narratives of agency and vulnerability. On the one hand, news audiences have been seen as engendering disinformation by sharing it; on the other hand, they have been viewed as its victims in need of media literacy and journalistic interventions. As discussed in the previous chapter, journalists often approach audiences as another challenge for newsrooms, as their attention is fragmented within multi-choice communication environments, or they can become inadvertent perpetrators of disinformation. In academic research, questions about news audiences have largely focused on how disinformation spreads through people that are more likely to get exposed to social media content, believe and share it (Nelson and Taneja 2018; Guess et al. 2019; Pantazi et al. 2021) or how misinformed opinions can be corrected by journalists, fact-checkers or social media companies (Martel et al. 2021; Ecker et al. 2022). However, less academic attention has been paid to how news audiences understand the phenomenon of disinformation, and how this understanding mediates their relationship with news media and journalism.

It is this question we address in this chapter. Our aim is to illustrate how audience understandings of disinformation further reflect their evaluations of news sources, as well as their practices of news consumption. In this approach we draw upon the theoretical underpinnings of a broader audience turn in journalism studies (Swart et al. 2022) that moves beyond 'researcher-defined understandings' (Knudsen et al. 2021, 2) and takes as a starting point the perspectives of audiences. This research has foregrounded folk theories of journalism, namely popular beliefs of what journalism is and what it does (Nielsen 2016). It has thus unpacked audience understandings of hitherto theoretically

and largely normatively defined concepts, such as trust (Coleman 2012; Knudsen et al. 2021), time spent on news (Groot Kormelink and Costera Meijer 2020), or even the meaning of news (Edgerly and Vraga 2020). This bottom-up perspective can provide insights that can further help 'critically interrogate longstanding assumptions about the role, relevance and function of journalism' (Swart et al. 2017, 903).

The chapter starts with an overview of how audiences understand disinformation, drawing upon the limited number of empirical studies that have been conducted on the topic, which nevertheless provide significant insights at a global level. We move on to illustrate how both politicians' manipulations of the truth as well as mainstream media coverage are integral in these understandings. Disinformation, therefore, as understood by audiences, includes instances of misinformation and information gaps. Furthermore, it is being seen as a taken-for-granted and expected part of routine news consumption. In this context, we explore the practices that audiences have developed to navigate and verify information in their engagement with news. We argue that, although mainstream journalism is critiqued and not necessarily separated from the problem of disinformation, audiences do not fully mistrust it. Instead, they approach it with a sense of pragmatic scepticism, which expresses both the belief that disinformation is inevitable in news media and that these media can still provide information that is necessary for understanding politics (Kyriakidou et al. 2023).

The discussion draws upon three audience studies we have conducted in the UK. The first is an online diary study with 175 participants over a period of six weeks – 16 April to 27 May 2020 – which was during the first critical period of the COVID-19 pandemic. The diaries included questions and probes that allowed us to explore people's thoughts and attitudes about specific issues that were covered in the media in that period. The second set of empirical material stems from a study with fourteen focus groups that included 52 participants in total and were conducted online between 22 April and 26 May 2021. We conducted focus groups online due to COVID-19 restrictions that limited group interactions. The final study included two surveys conducted in May 2021. The first survey included 1,065 respondents from a representative mix of ages, gender and news consumption habits. The second follow-up survey included 542 respondents from the first survey who largely consumed news through television, which was the medium we wanted to explore in detail.

#### **Defining Disinformation**

Disinformation, as well as the related concepts of 'fake news', misinformation and post-truth politics, have not only preoccupied academic and journalistic

debates alike but have also infiltrated contemporary vernacular. When Collins named 'fake news' word of the year in 2017, the usage of the term had increased by 365 per cent since 2016 (Flood 2017). How the public understands these concepts, and how these understandings affect their relationship with the news, are questions we focus on in this chapter. In a global survey that included the US, the UK, Netherlands, Germany, France, Poland and India, van der Meer and Hameleers (2024) found that news audiences assumed that the majority of their news (about 53 per cent) included misinformation, which they perceived as a serious threat to their information environment. This was more prevalent in the US and India, where media trust was lower. The authors concluded that people were concerned about misinformation at disproportionate levels, likely because of the constant attention to the phenomenon by media and public debates (ibid., 3).

This perceived 'disproportionate' concern, however, might be explained if we further explore how audiences understand the phenomenon of misinformation. As we evidence later in this chapter, we make the case that audience understandings of disinformation, and the related concepts of misinformation and fake news tend to be far broader than academic or journalistic definitions. Previous research has also indicated this. Nielsen and Graves (2017) combined a survey with eight focus group discussions with online users in the US, the UK, Spain and Finland, and discovered that for audiences the difference between 'fake news' and news was one of degree rather than a clear-cut distinction often applied in academic typologies. The wide spectrum of what audiences understood as 'fake news' included examples of poor journalism, political propaganda and advertising, more often than explicitly false information. The authors concluded that such audience definitions were expressive of a generalised scepticism and a 'wider discontent with the information landscape' (Nielsen and Graves 2017, 1). In their focus groups and interviews with news audiences and journalists in Chile, Nuñez-Mussa et al. (2024, 10) also found that for some participants news organisations, and in particular television news, were part of the misinformation problem. What news audiences saw as problematic was not the fact that information was not truthful but the way it was framed and presented emphasised specific aspects at the expense of others, which by extension enabled specific understandings of events.

Van der Linden et al. (2020) found that in the US the tendency to associate the concept of 'fake news' to the 'media', including mainstream media, was underpinned by ideological assumptions. In a survey-based study, Republicans were more inclined to identify media, and in particular mainstream media, as 'fake news', whereas for liberals it was mostly politics, and unsurprisingly Donald Trump, that was equated with the concept. Ultimately, 'fake news'

seemed to be employed by partisans to discredit sources ideologically opposed to their own beliefs. Although these conclusions can be easily attributed to the hyperpolarised US political context, the association of disinformation with mainstream media is a persistent finding in audience research.

In an Israel-based study, Yadlin and Klein Shagrir (2021, 2541) argued that 'fake news' as a concept was 'an identifier of an overall loss of trust in traditional civic gatekeepers, such as offline legacy media institutions and democratic state institutions'. Analysing audience online reactions to content manipulations in a docu-reality series on Israeli public service broadcasting, the authors found that audience discussions blurred the lines between mistrust in the media and mistrust in state institutions. These expressions were an important indicator of an overall critical stance by the public.

Schwarzenegger (2020) further unpacked such expressions of mistrust in his German-based study, which explored the consequences of 'fake news' and post-truth era narratives for news users, through in-depth interviews. He used the concept of pragmatic trust to describe how news users relied on specific news sources, even if they were suspicious of the media to varying degrees, adopting the belief that one simply cannot question everything. Expressions of such pragmatic trust, Schwarzenegger argued, ranged from naïve distinctions between 'good' and 'bad' sources to more informed understandings of the news as made by humans and driven by external forces, and thus inherently limited. Pragmatic trust, along with audience criticality and self-perceived competence, were viewed as part of people's personal epistemologies of the media, namely the beliefs, prior experiences, world views and political orientations that framed news consumers' relationship with the media (Schwarzenegger 2020, 374).

Our UK-based studies also explored both how audiences understood disinformation, as well as the implications of these understandings for their relationship with the media. Above all, disinformation was discussed by our research participants as a grave social and political problem. In our second survey in 2021, which included people that mostly consumed their news through television, almost all respondents – 93 per cent – believed that disinformation was to some extent 'a problem' for the UK (see Table 2.1). There were no consistent differences in these evaluations according to respondents' political affiliation.

When we explored disinformation more qualitatively, respondents largely understood it in line with academic definitions of the concept. This was broadly viewed as the manipulation of information, most often with the intention to deceive. Descriptions of the phenomenon varied from simple definitions of disinformation as 'information that is not correct', 'propaganda', 'information

	,
Definitely not	0% (1)
Not really	6% (29)
Yes, definitely	35% (192)
Yes, to some extent	58% (312)
Don't know	1% (8)
Total	100% (542)

**Table 2.1** The proportion of survey respondents who believed disinformation was a problem in the UK (N in brackets)

Note: The percentages in tables throughout the book may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

pretending' and 'a politer word for lying' to more sophisticated accounts of disinformation as framing and attempts to set the agenda by 'sway[ing] the truth just enough'. As one survey respondent described:

To me, disinformation is either untruths or carefully selected truths which are woven together to create a narrative which does not convey the whole story. In either case the intention is to tell people what, or how, they should think.

#### Another respondent elaborated on how disinformation

can be spread by a variety of actors: some deliberately lying in order to deceive people and gain influence and others sharing what they believe is the truth. Often it plays on people's fears (e.g. disinformation about vaccine or cell tower risks), prejudices, or craving for simple narratives (e.g. by masking itself as 'common sense' in contrast to evidence supported findings that are potentially more difficult to understand or reconcile).

This distinction between deliberate lying and sharing false information because one believes it to be true did not appear important for some of our research participants. Although for most of them intent was central to their understanding of disinformation, others described that sometimes people would unwittingly spread disinformation by sharing false information that they believed in. This type of response was particularly present in our online diaries conducted at the height of the pandemic, where many participants referenced how prevalent disinformation was 'in messages apps, especially between older generations and people who have limited education'. In that respect, disinformation was occasionally conflated with misinformation, namely the circulation of false content that is not intended to harm (Wardle 2018, 954), or general confusion, caused by the lack of accurate or authoritative information.

The concept of 'fake news', as well as conspiracy theories, were often mentioned by research participants in relation to disinformation. A lot of the examples of such conspiracy theories that participants brought up related to COVID-19, and included, for example, the idea that 5G technology played a role in the spread of the virus, the manipulation of COVID-19-related deaths, the hidden risks of vaccinations or Donald Trump's claim that injecting disinfectant could protect one from the virus. This was particularly prominent in the online diary entries. Some of our research participants linked their descriptions of disinformation to myths about the origins and treatment of the virus, as well as confusion related to conflicting information about health measures and death numbers. Disinformation, in this context, was understood in relation to public health. This further highlighted the time-specific nature of disinformation, which was related to events and examples that were prominently debated in mainstream media and appeared significant for people at specific moments. This temporal dimension was highlighted by a couple of participants in the focus groups. As a young woman described:

I think it's also quite related to news and to a certain timeframe, so I think the timeframe is important. When you think about disinformation, you usually, for example, think about Covid and when there is this wave of disinformation. So there is the official facts and official announcements and official arguments, and then you have against it a bunch of things that try to destroy these official facts.

Brexit was another example that was frequently mentioned by research participants in relation to disinformation. For example, when survey respondents were asked to think about the consequences of disinformation, a few of them mentioned Brexit as an illustration of how disinformation can 'change the world' and 'have a profound impact on the future of the country for everyone'. One respondent referred to 'the 350 million for the NHS for Brexit' as 'the perfect example' of disinformation because it 'causes people to get worked into a frenzy and act against their best interests. It is often about topics people are passionate about, so emotions take over and doing their own research goes out the window'.

Besides misleading the public and influencing their voting, social division and polarisation were among the consequences of disinformation that survey respondents mentioned, when asked to think about the problems that it causes. US politics and the divisive discourse instigated by Trump and his supporters were mentioned as examples, as was racism and the rise of far right and xenophobic ideas. One respondent described how 'many people are disinformed

about religions like Islam and as a result often hold Islamophobic views and are misinformed on Islam in general. This creates a culture of fear around Muslims and perpetuates things like hate crimes.' The erosion of public trust was another consequence mentioned in the surveys. What respondents described was that disinformation promotes a general culture of mistrust, which breeds further doubts about the authenticity of credible information and ultimately undermines the public's ability to make reasoned decisions.

Similar to journalistic discourses discussed in the previous chapter, social media featured extensively in audience understandings of disinformation. Twitter (now X) and Facebook, and to a lesser degree Instagram and WhatsApp, were often mentioned when research participants described disinformation. The 'easiness' and speed with which information is shared on these platforms, the 'democratisation of information' that allows anyone to share their views, no matter how erroneous or misleading they might be, with no fear of repercussion or challenge, and the 'difficulty' of checking the validity of sources, rendered social media platforms a prolific ground for the spread of disinformation. They created an environment where personal opinions and political lies can be shared as truths, and fact can be distorted through rumours.

#### Taking Political Information 'With a Slight Pinch of Salt'

Disinformation, as is evident in some of the responses highlighted throughout the chapter, was largely described in relation to politicians and their messages. This was the case in the surveys, online diaries and focus groups. In this sense, audience understandings were once again very similar to journalistic definitions of disinformation. Ostensible lies and political propaganda were mentioned by research participants as being intrinsically connected to disinformation. Donald Trump's outrageous health claims, for example, were mentioned by several participants. His assertions that he had won the 2020 US elections, as well as his reference to a non-existent terrorist attack in Sweden during a speech about protecting US borders, were also mentioned in the focus groups as examples of disinformation. The UK government's handling of the pandemic, such as its initial claims that face masks did not make a difference to the spread of COVID-19, and their lack of clarity in relation to lockdown measures, were also brought up.

These particular examples were most commonly referenced in the online diaries during the pandemic, although they were also present in our later surveys and focus groups. In their diary entries, participants pointed out the lack of clarity from government officials about lockdown rules and health announcements. In some of these accounts, this was seen as intended political manipulation in order to deflect criticism from the public. In others, this lack

of clarity was not deliberate but due to the general lack of understanding of the pandemic itself. Overall, disinformation was viewed as a result of political messaging and the overall government confusion about how to manage COVID-19. The confusion surrounding the number of COVID-19 deaths as communicated by the UK government was mentioned by about a fifth of the participants in the online diaries, when asked to reflect on disinformation. The general sense was that, as one participant put it, 'The government and politicians in general are trying to hide their bad decisions and incompetence.' This led to misinformation about 'the number of deaths, the risk that the virus really imposes, about ending of lockdown because it is safe (not to save the economy, which is very obvious), etc.' If conspiracy theories about COVID-19, such as the responsibility of G5 technology, or the pandemic originating in a Chinese lab, were easy for the public to detect, this was not the case with what was perceived as incoherent political information. According to one research participant, if conspiracy theories were 'easily dismissed by any rational person', the misinformation caused by the fact that 'while the prime minister is saying one thing, his executives are saying something different' was more dangerous, as it was 'sending a very unclear message and makes people feel anxious about what's actually going to happen'.

Besides the pandemic, such political manipulations were seen as part of political life, especially during election campaigns. This was evident in the example of the 2016 EU referendum campaign that was brought up both by focus group participants and survey respondents in 2021. Examples from the 2019 general election campaign were also discussed in the focus groups. One participant, for instance, brought up a pledge in the manifesto of the Conservative Party to hire 50,000 nurses, which was an exaggerated number and not entirely accurate, as will be further discussed in Chapter 7. Another focus group member, a Conservative voter, remembered that the then Prime Minister Boris Johnson had also pledged to hire 20,000 policemen. As he described, 'none of it struck me as being, I don't want to say not honest, but it's kind of the thing you hear in every speech, we're going to have 50,000 extra of that and 20,000 extra of that'. He went on to explain that he would

kind of take it all with a slight pinch of salt because that's politics. They always seem to over-promise and under-deliver. So I wouldn't necessarily believe any politician as to exact figures because I think, inherently, they're there to encourage you.

Ultimately, political disinformation was broadly described by research participants as being typical and somewhat predictable. It was not necessarily thought

of as reflecting outward lies, exemplified by the extremities of Donald Trump or claims made during the EU referendum campaign, but as a form of routine political manipulation and spin.

Remarkably, this acknowledgement of disinformation as integral to political life was not always accompanied by explicit arguments about lying politicians. As such, it was expressive of a pragmatic albeit sceptical understanding of politics as intentional strategic communication. A focus group participant gave such a description of politics, when asked to reflect on whether journalists do enough to challenge politicians that might be not telling the truth:

I think it's important sometimes to just understand a bit more and to understand that politicians sometimes make decisions that are not for the good of everyone, it's driven by economic needs and there is more at stake than just ... it's not just right or wrong, it's not about lying or saying the truth, it's more about picking one thing and making something big out of that, and politicians are very good at it. They drive the attention of everyone into one specific topic because they want people to focus on that. But then, I think, journalists should actually try to give the bigger picture. I actually actively and proactively look for this kind of information that covers a bit more.

It seems, therefore, that audiences understood political disinformation as operating at different levels. There was the level of outward lies and conspiracies that were easy to identify and challenge. There was the lack of clarity in political statements, deliberate or not, that could lead to confusion and further misinformation. But there was also the level of daily political spin that did not necessarily spread lies but stretched the truth or framed it in ways that were convenient to politicians. If the two first levels had grave consequences, as survey respondents described, the last type of political spin was to be expected in politics. However, what was repeated in the surveys, focus groups and online diaries was that the media did not do a good job dissecting and challenging this spin. In other words, the media were viewed as being complicit with disinformation produced by politicians.

#### Disinformation as Inherent in News Work

Although, as discussed above, social media were extensively described as perpetrators or aggravators of disinformation, they were not seen as the only platforms for the creation and circulation of untruthful information. Instead, disinformation was constructed in the diaries, surveys and focus groups as a

taken-for-granted part of daily encounters with news media. In the surveys, for example, some audience definitions of disinformation included legacy media as well as politicians or social media, as illustrated below:

Disinformation means information that is false and that is publicised or spread with the deliberate intention to mislead, particularly where that information is released by those in a position of power, such as governments, political parties or large media organisations.

Normally, it seems that this type of information is spread through social media but even in mainstream media headlines are often framed in ways that do not represent the data in context which causes outrage and clicks which make money.

The fact that social media gives you information as 'facts' when they aren't actually fact-checked. Also, when new channels give conflicting news or explanations about the same event.

This understanding of news media as perpetrators of disinformation and misinformation was justified on two grounds, namely the inherent limitations of contemporary reporting and the perceived collusion between journalists and politicians. In some respondents' definitions, news media were seen as deliberately attempting to mislead the audience by distorting facts or obscuring parts of a story for financial reasons. They were criticised for exaggerating and sensationalising headlines, and distorting stories for 'clickbait'. Participants in the focus groups discussed how news stories would sometimes differ considerably from their headlines. The tabloid press, and in particular *The Sun* and the *Daily Mail*, were most commonly referenced in this context.

A second and most common way news media were seen as perpetuating disinformation was media bias. This was understood both in terms of the explicit political bias of the press, as well as the broader ideological bias of British media. When it came to the former, news reporting was criticised as being ideologically driven. As one survey respondent described it, 'the main information is political bias. This is when news is reported favouring one side politically, which alters the credibility, as they will negatively talk about the other side.' The broader ideological bias was discussed in focus groups mostly in relation to Brexit and the Israel-Palestine conflict. These discussions included criticism of the otherwise highly trusted BBC as 'pushing a horrific narrative against the Palestinian people', as a participant argued. The juxtapositions between Russian and Western media were also mentioned in three of

the discussions as illustrations of how media work within and support different ideological frameworks. One participant, for example, whose husband was Russian, and would therefore consume Russian media, criticised the British coverage of Russia as caricatured. She understood disinformation as framing, in relation to omissions and emphases that reflected broader ideologies:

But that is kind of what the news chooses to show, even if it's maybe not an untruth, like these things happen, people are protesting, but if you don't show it [...], that's an omission that gives a false impression of reality. And if you over-cover something without giving the alternative viewpoint, or giving necessary weight to the other side, then that's also presenting a kind of untruth overall, I suppose.

Related to political bias, but not expressed in explicit ideological terms, was the perceived relationship of complicity between journalists and politicians. This was mostly seen as the failure of news media to challenge political spin or even politicians' lies. Such comments were extensively made across the diaries, surveys and focus groups in relation to the coverage of COVID-19. One participant in the online diary study, for instance, described his disappointment in television news coverage of the pandemic:

I've stopped watching a lot of the main TV broadcasters' reports as they are letting off the ministers very lightly without properly questioning the misinformation they spout. I much prefer reading online newspapers and online journalists' social media accounts where they can dig deeper and respond/inform people about a certain government statement.

This excerpt echoed other diary entries that expressed frustration about how the news media 'blindly listen to what the government is saying', including information about how safe it was to ease the lockdowns, even before any vaccination was available. Similar points were made in the focus group discussions both in relation to COVID-19 announcements and the EU referendum campaign. In both cases, audiences felt that political claims that were false or distorted were uncritically reproduced by news media, turning journalists into amplifiers of political disinformation.

At the same time, it was acknowledged that this complicit relationship with politicians and the concomitant misinformation it contributed to were not always the outcome of a deliberate effort to mislead or of political bias. Instead, it was described as part of the daily practices of journalists, and a consequence of the limitations that were inherent in the nature of reporting in a cycle of

24/7 news. Some focus group participants talked about how journalists had a 'very limited attention span' and they sometimes focused 'on what's very hot right now'. One participant talked about the limitations and constraints under which journalism operated:

Sometimes it's just poor research into something, not enough time perhaps. That could be one thing, or probably incompetence. That's one way it could be and maybe timelines and guidelines.

These observations reflected a rather sophisticated understanding of the challenges inherent in producing accurate and informative reporting. Journalism was not explicitly criticised as biased or untrustworthy. What was pointed out by research participants were the gaps that were sometimes left in reporting, which would undermine the public's ability to fully comprehend political claims and developments. According to a focus group participant:

there is something not really well reflected, it's the context around it. Sometimes it's not necessarily about the politician lying ... sometimes there is a lack of context to what happened before that could really help people to understand the full situation.

In these understandings of disinformation, intent was irrelevant. What mattered and was pointed out by some research participants, was that disinformation was something to be expected in news media not only due to deliberate distortions or bias, but because of the information gaps that were inherent in journalistic reporting. The contextual information necessary for people to understand politics was described as missing from daily reporting. Research participants alluded once again to misinformation, as the unintentional spread of confusion and misunderstandings. They also seemed to point out the consequences of what former BBC Westminster Editor, Katy Searle, described as the 'presumed knowledge' journalists attributed to the public, as discussed in the previous chapter. Assuming knowledge that the public did not have, our participants believed journalists did not provide them with adequate political background and context.

#### Navigating Disinformation and Misinformation

Taken together, our findings reinforce the findings of van der Meer & Hameleers's (2024) study about the perceived prominence of misinformation among news audiences. If, however, audiences believe it to be so prevalent to

the point that they expect to find it even in mainstream news, how do they deal with it? Tandoc et al. (2018, 2745) have argued that people routinely employ practices to validate information found on social media, what the authors define as 'audience acts of authentication'. Drawing upon a representative survey in Singapore, the authors distinguished between 'internal' (Tandoc et al. 2018, 2753) and 'external' acts (2755). Whereas internal practices involved the exercise of personal judgement, along with evaluations of the sources and the characteristics of the message itself, external acts of authentication, as a second step, were only taken when people's scepticism was not satisfied and entailed resorting both to institutional resources, such as searching on Google, and interpersonal ones, such as asking friends and family or even experts. The authors emphasised the 'strong social element to what is trusted and the way in which it is authenticated' (Tandoc et al. 2018, 2758) in these external steps. Similarly, on the basis of focus group discussions in Singapore, Waruwu et al. (2021) highlighted the social aspects of the ways people authenticate information, arguing that they should be conceived as a collective endeavour and, therefore, research should account for the social context of these practices.

Wagner and Boczkowski (2019) have suggested that these audience practices were illustrative of novel ritualised patterns of news consumption consisting of personalised information systems. They reflected people's attempts to make sense of and deal with a news media landscape that is widely perceived to be undermined by fake news and misinformation. Having interviewed citizens around the US, the authors concluded that research participants had a negative view of the overall quality of news reporting and particularly distrusted news on social media, especially after the 2016 election of Donald Trump. However, they still trusted the media they consumed, and in so doing developed a number of tactics and practices to deal with what they perceived as misinformation. These tactics included triangulating information through different news sources, consuming information from cross-ideological sources, relying on traditional news media and personal experience and knowledge, and trusting personal contacts in social media as curators of reliable information.

Similar practices of verification of information were employed by the research participants across our focus group, survey and news diary audience studies. These varied and included both internal and external processes, as well as passive and active forms of authentication. They can be analytically separated into three broader categories, namely what participants called 'personal fact-checking', resorting to trusted sources and cross-referencing across multiple media.

The first category included participants that claimed to actively look for information or conduct their own 'independent research' by using further

online sources. This was the most common tactic, with participants claiming to resort to this proactive approach mostly on topics they considered important and that potentially had a personal impact on them, such as elections or COVID-19. The sources used mainly included Google searches, where people would look up information about stories they had read or about the sources mentioned in news stories. Different media were employed for this 'personal fact-checking'. For some respondents, information on social media, and in particular Twitter (now X), was not to be trusted; for others, Twitter (now X) was used to provide background and additional information for news stories that could not be thoroughly covered in evening news bulletins. For example, one participant in the diary study described how he employed Twitter (now X) during COVID-19:

I used my self-curated list of Twitter academics to identify and follow for sources of useful modelling, and in turn who they recommended. Yes, I am sure I am in a 'bubble' but it is science-led.

A less active strategy of authentication was to resort to trusted, or what one participant labelled 'more reputable', sources to verify information that would be found either on social media or other news sources. The BBC news and its website were the most common among these 'reputable' sources, which reflected representative surveys demonstrating how trust in the BBC was strengthened during the pandemic (Newman et al. 2021). Other broadcasters, such as Sky News, would also be considered to be reputable.

Some participants mentioned that they would cross-reference information on a number of sources. This practice can be seen as a passive form of fact-checking, whereby a news story seems truthful or becomes real once it has been reported by numerous different media. As one woman, who claimed to be a heavy television news consumer, put it 'I don't really believe anything that I read until I've heard it from a range of sources, or it's been fact checked or whatever.' For other participants, however, cross-referencing information on different news media was an active way of overcoming the inherent political bias of media organisations. It allowed them to get exposed to different ideological viewpoints. Recognising that factual reporting was not necessarily inclusive of all information around a topic, they found it necessary to get news 'coming in from lots of different sources, because they [media] all seem to have their own take on it and not necessarily the correct or true take', as one of the older participants explained.

These tactics for dealing with disinformation were not mutually exclusive and participants would occasionally employ a range of them to understand and

interpret the accuracy of news stories. For example, some claimed to both verify information themselves and also talk to friends about it, as a young woman describes in her diary entry, when contemplating the steps she took when she encountered information that she was uncertain about:

Initially I would use other news sources to verify the story, in particular those that I view as more trustworthy so I would initially use the BBC. If I am still unsure as to whether the story is false/misleading I would check with other news stories before discussing it with my friends and family in order to obtain their opinions to help me decide for myself whether I believe it or not.

Other participants claimed to both actively search for information online and then use trusted sources, such as the BBC, describing a process of going down a 'rabbit hole' of checking sources and stories. Finally, a number of respondents, when asked what they did when they thought a news story was false or misleading, claimed to 'use their common sense' and just 'ignore it'.

We acknowledge that it is important to remain sceptical of self-reported audience practices, as what people actually do is often different from what they claim to do (Prior 2009). Furthermore, it is safe to assume that such proactive approaches to news consumption were not regular and habitual but were employed in relation to topics that were critical to participants' interests. As a young focus group participant that consumed most of his news through social media explained:

I might go and check, if there's significant relation to my life, for example to my safety or my health. [...] If there's something related to something I care about then, yes, I would go and check. I would do thorough research looking for reliable sources. But most of the information I don't follow them, and I don't go and check, simply because I'm not interested.

However, even if self-reported or limited, these practices revealed that news consumption in an environment that news audiences perceive as fraught with disinformation is at times a complex and multilayered process. The news people consume on either legacy or social media constitutes just a starting point, which tends to be further discussed with friends and trusted sources, double-checked with other media and ultimately approached through a generalised prism of scepticism. These 'personalised information systems' (Wagner and Boczkowski 2019, 881) do not necessarily signal the end of news consumption but novel forms of it, whereby journalistic practices are partially performed by audiences

themselves. This was illustrated in the following quotes by two focus group participants that were quite different from each other. A young woman, who was a supporter of the Liberal Democrats, claimed that:

I don't really read a certain newspaper or a certain news organisation, I just read the news for learning about things. If I want to know more about something, then I will end up Googling it and just read about it in general terms. I get most of my information from my Google feed or, literally, Instagram plays a massive part for me as well, or Snapchat and I read the news on there.

She then went on to explain how she appreciated reading the comments on social media, especially Instagram, as she liked to get other people's perspectives and opinions on news stories. One of the older participants and a Labour voter described a similar process of how he would get his daily news:

Reuters gives you factual information to read. A couple of YouTube channels just to get the other side of what the mainstream are saying. Even Yahoo, for example, if I'm working on my laptop, I'll just skim through the headlines and see if there's anything and then just go elsewhere to see if there's any truth in it, see if there's anything else to verify if it's true or false, because you do get a lot of false stuff on the mainstream media and on the online media, so Yahoo, Google, etc.

This was an effective way, he said, of getting useful information, as 'you don't have to sit for an hour watching ITV News to hear it being spun, to entertain, and be told how to think and what to do'. In other words, some audiences actively scanned a range of media in order to make sense of issues they encountered in the news.

#### Pragmatic Scepticism and News Consumption

The discussion above illustrated the diversity of practices through which audiences consume their news on a daily basis. At the same time, it also indicated that, despite criticism of news media as being complicit in reproducing or failing to challenge disinformation, they were still part of the news consumption habits of the public. Indeed, similar criticisms were voiced both by research participants that heavily relied on mainstream media for their news and those that avoided them. We, therefore, suggest that media criticism does not necessarily entail an explicit lack of trust in news organisations, but instead revealed a pragmatic scepticism in the way audiences approached journalism and the

news. We define this as a form of media engagement that is underlined by the tension between, on one hand, the acceptance of disinformation and misinformation as inevitable in various media and, on the other hand, a reliance on these media as a source of making sense of the world. Pragmatic scepticism, put another way, combines expressions of particularised trust with critical readings of news media both as texts and institutions.

One expression of this pragmatic scepticism was that trust in particular media did not necessarily entail the use of these media. When we asked respondents in our first survey what their main source of news was, the majority of them claimed to mostly consume news online (see Table 2.2 below).

When, however, the same people were asked how much they trusted different news sources, television and radio news were ranked far higher than online news (see Table 2.3).

**Table 2.2** The proportion of survey respondents that use different media as news sources (N in brackets)

-		
Newspapers	4% (39)	
Online media	53% (567)	
Radio	3% (33)	
Social media	23% (240)	
Television	17% (177)	
Other	1% (9)	
Total	100% (1,065)	

**Table 2.3** The proportion of survey respondents who trusted different sources in terms of the news they provided (N in brackets)

	Media in general	TV news	Radio	Newspapers	Online	Social media
A fair amount	56% (599)	59% (631)	59% (626)	38% (408)	45% (483)	15% (160)
A lot	5% (50)	13% (140)	12% (132)	5% (58)	4% (43)	2% (18)
Don't know/unsure	1% (13)	1% (7)	4% (42)	1% (11)	1% (15)	2% (16)
Not at all	4% (42)	5% (56)	4% (38)	12% (129)	7% (70)	34% (360)
Not very much	34% (361)	22% (231)	21% (277)	43% (459)	43% (454)	48% (511)
Total	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065	1,065

Even those people we surveyed that consumed their news mainly online (N = 567) still trusted television and radio news more than online and social media sources, as evident in Table 2.4 below:

	Media in general	TV news	Radio	Newspapers	Online	Social
A fair amount	57% (323)	60% (340)	60% (339)	41% (232)	55% (314)	8% (45)
A lot	5% (26)	11% (65)	11% (61)	5% (26)	5% (27)	1% (5)
Don't know/unsure	1% (5)	1% (3)	4% (23)	1% (4)	1% (3)	1% (7)
Not at all	4% (22)	5% (30)	4% (21)	12% (69)	4% (21)	41% (235)
Not very much	34% (191)	23% (129)	22% (123)	42% (236)	36% (202)	49% (275)
Total	567	567	567	567	567	567

**Table 2.4** The proportion of online news consumers who trusted different sources in terms of the news they provided (N in brackets)

Tsfati and Capella (2005) explored this paradoxical relationship between media sceptics and their news consumption, which was not necessarily diminished by their lack of trust. They found that scepticism negatively affected news consumption only for those people that did not have a high 'need for cognition' (NFC), namely those that did not need to or did not enjoy thinking about social situations in an integrated way (Tsfati and Cappella 2005, 264). On the contrary, people that 'enjoyed deliberating and solving puzzles' (ibid.) continued to consume news media despite their scepticism.

What we have also argued is that scepticism does not necessarily dovetail with full mistrust or rejection of mainstream media. Instead, pragmatic scepticism, as illustrated in our audience studies, was expressed largely as a critical reading of the way news media function and journalists operate editorially. This scepticism consisted, on the one hand, of a pragmatic trust and confidence in specific news sources, despite generally questioning the media (Schwarzenegger 2020). On the other hand, it was expressive of rather sophisticated critical readings and understandings of political news. These readings included an acknowledgement of the political economy of media institutions and the conditions under which journalism operates. Pragmatic scepticism, viewed in this light, was illustrative of people's engagement with the news in ways that go beyond questions of trust and distrust as diametrically opposed and defining of audience engagement with the news.

This approach towards news media was further reflected by the practices audiences employed in order to deal with disinformation, which they understood to be part of their routine experience with news and information. They would behave as news nomads, moving between different platforms and sources, or rely on trusted mainstream sources, especially on topics that concerned them. This further illustrated that audiences' 'need for cognition' (Tsfati and Cappella 2005, 264) or desire to fully comprehend the complexity

of a situation had a temporal dimension. Overall, these practices of cross-referencing and verifying information, expressive of pragmatic scepticism, represented novel ways in which audiences engaged with the news. We have argued that they have not necessarily been driven by a lack of trust in news sources but enabled by the contemporary multi-choice and multi-platform media environment.

#### Pragmatic Scepticism and Journalistic Legitimacy

In this chapter we discussed how audiences understood disinformation and how these understandings mediate their relationship with news media. We argued that audience definitions of disinformation go beyond so-called 'fake news', conspiracy theories or outright political lies. Instead, our research revealed audiences viewed it as an intrinsic part of daily encounters with news media, due to both contemporary politics being dependent on spin, and the inherent and expected journalistic bias. In short, audiences largely conflated disinformation with misinformation and approached it as a normalised and routinised part of news consumption. These findings, however, should not be seen as an alarmist conclusion about the ubiquity of disinformation and its threat to public discourse and democratic politics. Instead, we would make the case that they were illustrative of the pragmatic scepticism through which audiences approach contemporary complex information environments. Our findings indicated that the majority of people do not explicitly mistrust or reject journalism. Instead, they largely acknowledged the political economy of media institutions and the challenging structural conditions under which journalism operates. However, they also expressed trust in specific news sources, despite questioning the media overall. This pragmatic scepticism was further reflected by the practices people employed when consuming news in complex information environments. Audiences purposely moved between different platforms and sources, while also heavily relying on mainstream sources, such as the BBC. These novel practices of engagement were not necessarily driven by a lack of trust but by the affordances of contemporary media technologies.

At the same time, it is important to contemplate these findings in relation to the discussion in the previous chapter and the ways journalists understood disinformation. Chapter 1 illustrated that, according to journalists, disinformation was seen as an external threat to their profession, mostly generated on social media and by politicians, with the public often participating in the process, if not actively perpetuating it. However, what this chapter has revealed is that for audiences not only is disinformation not external to journalism, but it is integral to how they view journalism. News media were seen by audiences

as being complicit with the reproduction of political disinformation by either failing to acknowledge it or amplifying it by reporting on it extensively. This means that, if journalists were to be seen as effectively tackling disinformation, they need to reconsider their own established practices and ways of reporting. More contextual information, for example, and more direct challenges of politicians' claims, were appreciated by audiences in our focus groups, surveys and diaries.

Unlike journalists' fears, however, the gatekeeping role of journalism has not become completely obsolete in contemporary multi-choice news environments. Despite their critical engagement with mainstream media, news audiences still employ them as largely credible sources of information, albeit not exclusively. It is often legacy media that were the first source of information that would be then further explored, unpacked and even challenged by other sources. In the case of crises, as the one illustrated by the global pandemic of COVID-19, it was mainstream media that were the primary source of information for the public. What our research findings illustrated in relation to journalistic legitimacy is that, although journalistic authority was often challenged by audiences, the place of journalism as a source of valuable information was still largely accepted, although it was constantly negotiated. In this negotiation, audiences need to be listened to and understood, rather than dismissed as another challenge good journalism has to tackle in order to survive.

In order to further explore the relationship between news audiences and mainstream news, the next chapter moves on to specifically explore how people made sense of disinformation and misinformation during the pandemic in relation to news reporting. We draw more substantially on our online diary study alongside a systematic analysis of television news reporting during the first months of the pandemic in 2020.

# Beyond Disinformation: Interpreting Misinformation from Mainstream Media

The role and influence of disinformation was brought into sharper focus during the height of the coronavirus pandemic with widespread concerns about false and misleading information emanating from a wide range of online sources and across social media networks. It led to the spread of conspiracy theories, such as the pandemic being deliberately created from Chinese laboratories or how people could be instantly cured from COVID-19 by homemade recipes (Mian and Khan 2020). One of the most prominent false claims was that 5G technology played a role in circulating the virus, which led to reports that people were attacking cell phone towers and setting them on fire (Hamilton 2020). The mainstream media covered many of these 'fake news' stories, reinforcing long-standing debates about the dangers that can spread from the internet and, most recently, social media. Yet, as Chapters 1 and 2 established, when news coverage focuses on the impact of blatant instances of disinformation it can distract from debates about how the mainstream media can themselves spread misinformation. This is not to downplay the serious impact that false and misleading information about the pandemic can have online and across social media networks, adversely influencing the behaviour or knowledge of millions of people around the world (Aïmeur et al. 2023; Gottlieb and Dyer 2020; Shu et al. 2020). But looking through a narrow lens of blatant acts of disinformation ignores a growing body of scholarship that has revealed how mainstream media have helped initiate, spread and reinforce 'fake news' from dubious information sources.

The aim of this chapter is to enter into broader debates about the subtle but significant influence mainstream media can have in spreading misinformation by exploring how the public made sense of the coronavirus pandemic. It begins with a review of the limited academic literature, to date, exploring the

role mainstream media have played in disseminating disinformation and misinformation. While debates about public engagement with 'fake news' have principally focused on online and social media spreading disinformation, this chapter will put the spotlight on the role played by professional journalists, particularly since the pandemic began. It explores the influence mainstream media have over alternative information sources, considering whether professional journalists exacerbate misunderstandings of fake news when they cover it, or if they effectively debunk it and raise public understanding. Finally, the chapter considers the few studies examining how mainstream news media comparatively reported how governments managed the pandemic. In doing so, we explore whether any misinformation may have been spread by television news coverage of national lockdown measures across different countries.

The academic literature drawn upon at the start of the chapter sets the wider context to understanding our UK-based study, which was designed to explore media coverage about and public understanding of disinformation and misinformation during a critical point in the health crisis. A six-week online news diary with 200 participants was conducted at the start of the pandemic. This explored participants' knowledge and understanding of COVID-19, as well as how the UK government was managing the crisis, in order to investigate the information environment during that time period (Cushion et al. 2022a). Specifically, we examined whether research participants were able to identify instances of disinformation or not, along with their knowledge about how the UK government handled the crisis compared to other nations.

The chapter then explores the extent to which television news bulletins comparatively reported the UK government's decisions about managing the pandemic by analysing how often other nations were covered, such as by comparing the implementation of lockdowns cross-nationally. Needless to say, we cannot assume a relationship between what diary participants watched on television news and their understanding of the pandemic. But we can get insights about what information they were exposed to and interpret the informational opportunities television news provided in order to help them understand political decisions domestically and in comparison with other nations. The diary study explored how participants understood how different national governments managed lockdowns, while the content analysis study revealed the extent to which broadcasters reported how foreign countries managed the pandemic, as well as comparative data about COVID-19 related deaths. Since the pandemic was managed differently by many nations, comparing the UK government's approach with foreign nations would allow news audiences to understand their contrasting political choices as well as helping them know if certain policies were effective or not. For instance, a government's performance could be examined by decisions about lockdown measures and the number of people that lost their lives due to the pandemic.

But before our study is introduced, we begin by contextualising debates about the role and impact of mainstream media disseminating both disinformation and misinformation over recent years.

## From Disinformation to Misinformation: The Role and Impact of Mainstream Media

Over the last decade, the growing threat of mis/disinformation has been studied from a wide range of perspectives. But the overwhelming focus has been on the influence of alternative online and social media sites rather than mainstream media, including their digital and broadcast platforms. As mentioned in the opening chapters of the book, academic and journalistic debates have largely focused on disinformation in the form of conspiracy theories and fabricated information on news sites, with warnings about their democratic dangers and harm to public safety. But, in doing so, we argued that the potential impact of disinformation - a deliberate intent to deceive people through nefarious sources – had marginalised debates about the importance of mainstream media inadvertently spreading misinformation. After all, many people will be more exposed to dubious or misleading news and claims across broadcast, online, print and social media than highly blatant acts of disinformation across a wide range of sources. Furthermore, as we illustrated in the previous chapter, research around the world, including our own audience studies, has found that audience understandings of 'fake news' and misinformation often include mainstream media.

Allen et al.'s (2020) study of exposure to fake news via mainstream media in the US revealed just how far the influence of online and social media was consuming scholarly attention. They found a voluminous set of studies related to misinformation in 'online news', 'Twitter', 'Facebook' and 'social media', whereas there was just one related to television news – 'an article about the unrealistic survival rates of cardiopulmonary resuscitation on TV shows' (Allen et al. 2020, 5). Allen et al. (2020) argued that this weight of scholarly interest in fake news on digital platforms was inconsistent with the reality of most Americans' media diets. They pointed out that while Americans increasingly relied on the media in their everyday lives, it was not widely used to access news and current affairs. When news was consumed, many people continued to watch through television programming as opposed to content produced online or across social media networks. Allen et al. (2020, 4) then generously estimated the degree to which Americans were routinely exposed to 'fake news', including hyperpartisan media, and what they called 'outright fraudulent sites'

compared to mainstream media organisations. They concluded that fake news made up a miniscule level of news consumption when compared with the public's reliance on mainstream broadcast and online media. Taken together, they argued that when debating the impact of fake news:

concerns regarding possible threats to democracy should be much broader in scope than deliberately engineered falsehoods circulating on social media. In particular, public ignorance or misunderstanding of important political matters could also arise out of a combination of ... ordinary bias and agenda setting in the mainstream media ... and ... the overall low exposure of many Americans to news content in general, especially in written form. (Allen et al. 2020, 6)

In other words, while the influence of disinformation should not be downplayed across online and social media, nor should the impact of misinformation spreading across mainstream media, particularly on television news, which still represents one of the most widely consumed information sources. This chapter addresses this concern with a study focused on misinformation across television news during the coronavirus pandemic.

Over very recent years, a small but growing body of scholarship has begun to recognise the influence of legacy news media spreading disinformation. For example, a review synthesising this academic literature concluded with a striking observation 'that mainstream news media ... play a significant and important role in the dissemination of fake news' (Tsfati et al. 2020, 168). Rather than ignoring or marginalising fake news emanating from dubious information sources with often limited audience reach, Tsfati et al. (2020) suggested these have moved up the news agenda due to the inherent news value in re-reporting new and novel instances of disinformation. While some news outlets covered fake news with a well-intentioned aim to challenge them, their study found partisan media often reported stories because they reflected their ideological agenda. Taken together, Tsfati et al. (2020) argued that egregious acts of disinformation had become amplified on mainstream media.

By elevating fake news to the mainstream agenda, Tsfati et al.'s (2020) comprehensive review of academic literature concluded that many people were more likely to be exposed to 'fake news' than they would have otherwise encountered. Their assessment of the literature concluded that 'more people learn about these stories from mainstream news media than from social media' (Tsfati et al. 2020, 168). But their review also revealed the degree of influence was moderated by contextual factors such as people's prior knowledge or which news media platform they routinely read, watch or listen to that re-reports 'fake news'. As the research throughout the book reveals, mainstream media do not just repeat disinformation, they often try and debunk it. It therefore follows that if the public regularly encountered fake news being corrected, it would make them more informed. But, of course, that depends on whether they were previously aware of the instance of fake news being reported. In other words, when mainstream media report disinformation stories do they do more harm than good even if they correct specific instances of 'fake news'? Tsfati et al. (2020) conceded that their review on the literature was based on a relatively limited set of studies, making it hard to draw clear-cut conclusions.

In the wake of false claims circulating about the coronavirus pandemic, in very recent years there has been more research produced about the impact the mainstream media have in misleading audiences. Altay et al. (2023), for example, carried out a two-wave panel survey in Brazil, India and the UK between January and February 2022, examining the influence of news and digital platforms on their knowledge and beliefs in Covid-related misinformation. They explored if people's awareness of false claims grew over time with news use and, if so, whether they believed or rejected them according to their news use. The study also examined participants' broader political knowledge and relationship with their news consumption habits. Overall, Altay et al. (2023) found that while knowledge of specific false claims increased with greater news use, it did not exacerbate beliefs in 'fake news'. While there was some variation between media platforms, the study found evidence of reducing false knowledge among participants and, on some sites, an enhanced understanding of political issues. There were also instances – in online Indian news – where false claims were reported and believed. When Atlay et al. (2023) asked survey respondents specific questions about popular Covid-related falsehoods, they discovered that false news was not widely accepted, but there were cross-country differences that related to the broader media and political environment. In Brazil and India, roughly a third of respondents believed the falsehoods were more than slightly accurate, while in the UK just one in ten did. This suggests the character of the news media system - which, in the case of the UK, included a high-quality public service broadcaster - influenced the degree to which people rejected fake news and improved their political knowledge. Altay et al. (2024, 479) concluded by observing that:

Despite a boom in insightful studies on the spread of misinformation across digital platforms and sometimes some news media, we still have much less work on whether, when, and under what conditions using these different sources of information impacts people's awareness of and, most importantly, belief in misinformation.

Not only have scholars tended to have a relatively narrow focus on people being exposed to disinformation beyond mainstream media sources, they have also tended to overlook the role news media may play in disseminating either disinformation intentionally or misinformation unintentionally.

To date, most content-based studies since the start of the coronavirus pandemic have focused on interpreting disinformation online and across social media networks. Few studies have investigated whether mainstream media have inadvertently spread misinformation from either re-reporting instances of 'fake news' or by their own coverage of the pandemic, such as reporting on how governments have taken measures to mitigate its impact. For example, a double special issue in Digital Journalism Studies and Journalism Studies (Quandt and Wahl-Jorgensen 2022) about the pandemic largely featured articles about how people had responded to news media coverage, or how journalists felt and responded to the health crisis, rather than systematic studies about the output of mainstream news produced during the pandemic. Where studies have been carried out, the findings have pointed to the importance of the context in which reporters covered the health crisis. So, for example, one study of 2,572 pandemic-related items in The New York Times in the US and China Daily in China revealed how national framing shaped how the pandemic was interpreted (Yu and Liu 2023). It found that each nation reported the other as being affected by the pandemic to a greater extent, comparatively downplaying the impact in their own countries. In doing so, Yu and Liu (2023, 17) warned that 'Representing the pandemic in one's own country as less negative and less severe than that in other countries may lead the audience to pride themselves on living in a country with the best containment measures'. In addition, the authors argued that coverage of other nations was viewed as reflecting the political aims of their national governments. For example, US newspaper coverage largely featured Western nations, while China reflected a wider range of countries around the world but in ways that showed the Chinese government pro-actively pursuing international collaboration, with the exception of America. Taken together, Yu and Liu (2023, 1273) concluded that:

While it is impossible for journalism to be hermetically sealed from politics and power plays, the findings of this study show that it is compelling to find ways to prevent news coverage from falling victim to nationalism and political antagonism in times of global health crises.

Since the consequences of the pandemic were downplayed in domestic news coverage, it may have led to misinformation about how foreign nations were handling the health crisis as well as the actions taken by governments to mitigate its impact. Needless to say, adopting a national domestic lens in political coverage, while marginalising or ignoring foreign affairs, has long been identified in news reporting. It was also identified in our audience studies as a way through which news media reproduce misinformation, as discussed in the previous chapter. But there has been limited academic debate about how this applies to discussions about mainstream media spreading misinformation about political events and issues.

Lwin et al. (2023) explored how newspapers in Singapore corrected COVID-19 misinformation at the start of the pandemic. Their study of 164 articles discovered that false or misleading news about science and health were most prominently covered, including topics like treating COVID-19 or remedies for it, with stories about specific cases. When it came to reporting government policy, Lwin et al. (2023) argued that newspapers quickly corrected any misinformation relating to it because of the close relationship the media have with the state, which they contrasted with the more critical watchdog role in Western media. But when newspapers countered misinformation about health and science, the study found rebuttals were relatively direct and straightforward. According to Lwin et al. (2023, 167): 'Close collaboration between the press and the state might, however, also come at the expense of having necessary checks and balances, especially in contexts where governance is marked by inefficiency, corruption, and lack of transparency.' In that sense, the study suggested that mainstream media did not sufficiently scrutinise or challenge the government about its measures to mitigate the impact of the pandemic. Without this accountability, the public may have been misled about the government's decisions and how successful they have been in tackling the health crisis.

Our UK-based study further develops this line of inquiry by examining how television news reported the UK government's handling of the pandemic compared to other nations. But before we introduce the study, the chapter first explores how far the public were aware of acts of COVID-19 disinformation in the opening months of the health crisis.

#### Identifying Fake and Factual News

Our diary study of news audiences was carried at the start of the pandemic (specifically, between 16 April and 27 May 2020). We employed this method to examine public knowledge and attitudes within the information environment they inhabited in this specific time period. After all, it would have been difficult to measure people's understanding and feelings after events and issues of public debate had long passed. For this chapter, we focus on two specific

periods (16 and 19 April and 11 and 13 May) because they reflected points in time when governments across the UK (England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland) were making crucial decisions about mitigating the impact of the pandemic. During this period, over eight out of ten of our news diary participants watched television news either every day or most days in the preceding week. This was broadly consistent with Ofcom's (2020a) representative surveys about news consumption in the UK conducted in roughly the same time period. The focus of our questions was on television news reporting, which we examine in the second half of this chapter, comparing participants' responses with television news reporting at the time.

In order to explore whether respondents could recognise any instances of disinformation we asked them if they thought 5G had played a role in spreading COVID-19. Needless to say, this was widely rejected as fake news. When respondents answered the question, we showed them a BBC News headline entitled: 'BBC News - Mast fire probe amid 5G coronavirus claims.' Despite the claims not being explicitly questioned in the BBC news headline - which gave the story some degree of legitimacy – almost all diary respondents refuted any suggestion that the spread of COVID-19 was linked to 5G technology. Many respondents revealed they rejected it as disinformation because of reading, watching or listening to mainstream media coverage, such as BBC News. To further explore whether respondents were susceptible to disinformation, we presented them with examples of fake news and asked if they were true or false. These stories were selected on the basis of false claims reportedly associated with disinformation (Ofcom 2020a). Other factual-based questions about how the UK government had managed the pandemic were also put to participants. The responses from our diary respondents should be interpreted in light of ongoing media coverage at that period of time, which was regularly drawing attention to so-called 'fake news' about COVID-19 (Wright 2020). For example, one survey revealed that many people in the UK had encountered disinformation about the pandemic (Ofcom 2020b). Our interest is in the relationship between this exposure to fake news and public misunderstanding of the pandemic and COVID-19.

Overall, almost all respondents did not believe any of the disinformation presented to them, as Table 3.1 reveals.

But while respondents clearly identified instances of 'fake news', when asked about how the UK government was dealing with the pandemic we identified gaps in public knowledge. For example, three in ten respondents did not know that the UK government had not met its testing targets, while just under that number of respondents did not realise living in more deprived areas of the UK enhanced the likelihood of catching COVID-19. Put simply,

	Drinking more water kills the coronavirus.	Gargling with saltwater cures COVID-19.	Increasing use of natural remedies such as colloidal silver, essential oils, garlic, MMS (chlorine dioxide) or vitamin C helps avoid getting COVID-19.
True	2	1	20
False	159	166	127
Don't know	10	4	24
Total	171	171	171

**Table 3.1** Diary participants' knowledge about COVID-19 false claims (in May 2020)

participants easily recognised so-called fake news stories, but did not appear knowledgeable about the UK government's handling of the health crisis.

We decided to further explore people's understanding of the UK government's management of the pandemic compared to other nations around the world. We began by asking them to rank which nation – including the UK – had the highest COVID-19-related death toll, including Iran, South Korea, the UK, France and China. As Table 3.2 shows, over four in ten – 43 per cent – falsely believed China had the highest death rate. Participants might have been influenced by media coverage of China, which reported that the coronavirus began there and spread around the world. But while 4,632 people had reportedly died in China at that point in time, France and the UK had three-to-four-time times more Covid-related casualties. Meanwhile, a third of respondents falsely believed Iran had either the highest or second highest death rate. In fact, Iran recorded just over 300 more deaths than China. It was only South Korea that had fewer recorded deaths than China at that point in time.

**Table 3.2** Diary participants' knowledge about the nations who have recorded the most deaths due to COVID-19 (from highest to lowest in April 2020)

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th
China	86	27	38	37	12
France	58	51	48	33	10
Iran	19	46	39	61	35
South Korea	0	12	17	37	134
UK	37	64	58	32	9
Total	200	200	200	200	200

While the official records of the Chinese government might be questioned, the UK's own counting figures have been open to dispute, since they have excluded many deaths in care and nursing homes. Half of our diary participants did not rank the UK as having either the first or second highest death rate among the five nations they were asked about. The consequences of this information gap at this point in the pandemic were that many people had not comprehended the impact of the pandemic in the UK, specifically when compared to other nations. Discombe (2020), for instance, pointed out that 'There is huge public debate over how the UK is faring in terms of deaths compared to other European nations and the government and its advisers have constantly referred to the "global death comparison" data to defend their position.' Without widespread knowledge of the UK's comparative management of the pandemic, people were not equipped with the information to provide an informed interpretation of the UK government's performance and handling of the pandemic.

How the UK government developed its lockdown measures - whether they were strict or lenient – was another policy we asked respondents to rank compared to other nations. A University of Oxford study (2020) concluded that, in rank order, Italy, Spain, South Korea, the UK and, finally, the US had developed the most stringent lockdown measures. At first glance, participants appeared to appreciate that Italy and Spain pursued the strictest lockdowns at that point in time, with the US pursing the least robust approach (see Table 3.3).

However, almost half of our diary respondents wrongly believed that South Korea adopted either the first or second most stringent of lockdowns. South Korea did not implement the same type of restrictions around freedom of movement as many European nations, including the UK, but instead tested widely, used GPS tracking and asked those affected to quarantine.

**Table 3.3** Diary participants' knowledge of the countries which implemented the strictest lockdown measures (from highest to lowest in April 2020)

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th
Italy	104	72	17	7	0
UK	1	13	52	114	20
South Korea	77	21	43	28	31
Spain	17	90	76	16	1
USA	1	4	12	35	148
Total	200	200	200	200	200

A month later we asked respondents once again about the UK's death toll compared to five other nations. This question was asked because the UK government had just decided to no longer use international comparative death figures in its daily briefing (from 12 May). This decision was criticised by commentators for trying to conceal the government's relative handling of the pandemic (Jones 2020). Table 3.4 shows the vast majority of participants now correctly ranked the US as having the most COVID-19-related deaths, with two-thirds rightly putting the UK second. Public knowledge had clearly improved over time, with our participants perhaps paying more attention to public debates and media coverage.

Over this period of time, too, journalists were debating how to comparatively measure the different death rates among countries. Comparing the number alone, of course, may simply represent the population of a country rather than the relative scale of casualties. The Financial Times' data journalist, John Burn-Murdoch (2020), argued that the 'gold-standard for international comparisons of Covid-19 deaths' was the excess death rate. This calculated the estimated number of deaths expected in that period and compared it to the actual deaths recorded. This allowed proportional comparative differences between nations to be identified. If this measure had been used in May 2020, the UK - not the US - would have had the highest excess death rate in the world. Given that this represented a more accurate measure than the death count alone, we asked participants to rank the excess death rates in the US, UK, Italy, Spain, Netherlands and Belgium. The US was, by far, considered to have the highest excess death rate, with just over one in ten rightly believing the UK had the highest excess death rate (see Table 3.5). Further still, close to four in ten participants considered the UK to have a relatively low excess death rate, since it was widely ranked either fourth, fifth or sixth in the list of six nations.

**Table 3.4** Diary respondents' knowledge about the nations who have recorded the most deaths due to COVID-19 (from highest to lowest in May 2020)

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th	6th
China	23	23	13	24	27	61
France	0	0	14	61	64	32
Iran	1	11	11	26	51	71
UK	10	108	38	9	4	2
Spain	3	11	85	45	22	5
USA	134	18	10	6	3	0
Total	171	171	171	171	171	171

Table 3.5 Diary respondents' knowledge about the nations who have
recorded the highest excess deaths due to COVID-19 (from highest to lowest
in May 2020)

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th	6th
Spain	2	6	40	99	19	5
US	125	21	10	9	5	1
Belgium	4	5	5	16	93	44
UK	21	90	34	18	8	4
Netherlands	1	3	4	6	42	115
Italy	18	46	78	23	4	2
Total	171	171	171	171	171	171

The final part of the diary directly asked participants to reflect on how well they thought TV news bulletins had covered the UK death toll in comparison with other nations. Above all, there was widespread mistrust in government communication as well as reporting by journalists. There was scepticism about how the UK was compared to other nations; as one participant put it:

I think originally when they started to announce the deaths on TV, they were only counting people that had died in hospitals which made it very unreliable and unfair. People had started to think the number was lower, but these were only what was being accounted for. Then when they introduced deaths that had come from care homes also it hit home as to how real and how high the deaths were!

While many participants understood that interpreting and communicating statistics was not always straightforward, they felt that comparative figures relating to the UK and other nations could have been more accurately reported. For some respondents, as discussed in the previous chapter, information from the UK government was often re-reported without challenge or interrogation. In effect, this meant that the government was not held to account and the many casualties of COVID-19 were underestimated. At the time the diary was completed, the UK government decided not to continue reporting cross-national death rates in their press briefings (Jones 2020). But many of our participants valued these comparative figures. As one explained:

I think it is fair for TV news bulletins to compare the UK death rate to that of other countries. It enables us to gauge the effect lockdown measures are having in different countries as they have all implemented lockdown differently and to varying degrees.

In short, many of our diary respondents wanted journalists to not just cover the comparative data around COVID-19-related deaths, they wanted these numbers to be uncovered in order to help scrutinise the UK government's decision-making.

But how far did broadcasters report the pandemic from an internationally comparative perspective? The next section of the chapter systematically examines the amount of domestic and foreign news coverage in TV news during the opening weeks of the pandemic, with a focus on how death rates cross-nationally were reported by different broadcasters.

#### Reporting the Pandemic from a Domestic and Foreign Perspective

Over four weeks (14 April to 10 May 2020 excluding Easter Monday), all news on the BBC *News at Ten*, ITV *News at Ten*, Sky *News at Ten*, Channel 4 at 7pm and Channel 5 at 5pm was comparatively examined, isolating all COVID-19-related coverage. In total, 1,259 items were analysed, including (with sample size in brackets) 307 from BBC (24.4 per cent), 247 from ITV (19.6 per cent), 190 from Sky News (15.1 per cent), 222 from Channel 4 (17.6 per cent) and 293 from Channel 5 (23.3 per cent). The focus was on the geographical prominence of an item (UK or international), the degree of international comparisons, the inclusion of specific nations, and the visual use of statistics to compare and contrast the death rate of countries.

Across all UK national broadcasters, domestic news made up the vast majority of the coverage related to the pandemic – 86.7 per cent in total – between April and May 2020 (see Table 3.6), leaving just 13.3 per cent about international affairs. However, the BBC stood out for producing the most foreign news about COVID-19, making up almost a fifth of its pandemic coverage. By contrast, for Channel 4's agenda it made up 6.3 per cent of news items and 4.5 per cent on Channel 5.

Foreign news coverage about the pandemic often just focused on a particular country, such as Italy, China or the US. We identified only 8.2 per cent of news items that included a comparison between the UK and another nation. However, these stories largely focused on examining the UK with other countries as opposed to closely examining the records of other nations and comparing them to the UK (see Table 3.7).

Once again, the BBC provided the most news items that included international comparisons with the UK, while Channel 5 produced the least.

Bulletin	International	UK	Total
5 at 5pm	4.5% (10)	95.5% (212)	100% (222)
BBC at 10pm	19.5% (60)	80.5% (247)	100% (307)
Channel 4 at 7pm	6.3% (12)	93.7% (178)	100% (190)
ITV at 10pm	16.2% (40)	83.8% (207)	100% (247)
Sky News at 10pm	15.7% (46)	84.3% (247)	100% (293)
Total	13.3% (168)	86.7% (1091)	100% (1259)

**Table 3.6** The percentage of international and UK news items (N in brackets)

**Table 3.7** The percentage of UK and international television news items with an international comparison (N in brackets)

Bulletin	UK	International	Total
BBC News at Ten	56.7% (17)	43.3% (13)	100% (30)
ITV News at Ten	71.4% (15)	28.6% (6)	100% (21)
Channel 4 News at 7pm	94.4% (17)	5.6% (1)a	100% (18)
Channel 5 at 5pm	81.8% (9)	18.2% (2)	100% (11)
Sky News at Ten	73.9% (17)	26.1% (6)	100% (23)
Total	72.8% (75)	27.2% (28)	100% (103)

But, overall, most people relying on television news during the start of the pandemic would not have been exposed to reporting that explored how the UK government handled the pandemic compared to other nations around the world.

The lack of comparative reporting was brought into sharper focus when we examined every international comparison and assessed if it was just a brief, in a passing reference or if it had more depth and detail about how a nation was handling the pandemic (see Table 3.8). The BBC provided the most detailed comparative coverage, with close to a quarter of its international news coverage exploring an issue in some depth. While just under a fifth of Channel 5 and ITV news supplied detailed comparative reporting, they also had a relatively small amount of news contrasting national records on managing the pandemic.

We defined detailed comparative reporting as news items where the UK and another nation were explored in some depth, such as comparing their COVID-19-related death tolls. For instance, one BBC news item - which included an on-screen graph - examined the death tolls of Italy and the UK, with its science editor stating that:

Bulletin	Detail	In passing	Total
Sky News at 10pm	10.9% (5)	89.1% (41)	100% (46)
BBC at 10pm	22.5% (9)	77.5% (31)	100% (40)
Channel 4 at 7pm	9.4% (3)	90.6% (29)	100% (32)
Channel 5 at 5pm	19.0% (4)	80.9% (17)	100% (21)
ITV News at 10pm	18.2% (2)	81.8% (9)	100% (11)
Total	15.3% (23)	84.7% (127)	100% (150)

**Table 3.8** The percentage of television UK-related news items with detailed or passing references to other countries (N in brackets)

The official numbers confirm that Italy has lost 29,315 people, and the UK now slightly more, at 29,427 (...) There are important differences between the two countries. The UK has more people than Italy, and London is far bigger than any Italian city. On the other hand, the population of Italy is older and more generations live together, which increases the risk to grandparents. (BBC *News at Ten*, 5 May 2020, detailed international comparison)

But, as Table 3.8 reveals, in the majority of news items, broadcasters made relatively brief references to other nations when comparing them to the UK, such as a Channel 5 report about lockdown measures in the UK, France and Germany:

Meanwhile teachers [in the UK] question how social distancing could work in schools: morning and afternoon sessions perhaps, like France and Germany from next week. For the UK so far, there is no road map. There is fear of getting it wrong and U-turning back to lockdown. (Channel 5 News at 5, 27 April, in passing international comparison)

Without unpacking any cross-national differences, overall we found that television news did little to enlighten viewers about the decisions and performances of national governments in handling the pandemic.

To further explore the degree of context and depth of television news coverage of the pandemic, we examined every item that included some kind of an on-screen statistic, such as the latest COVID-19-related death toll (see Table 3.9). We found 17.0 per cent of items featured a visual figure, but there were major differences in the use of statistics between broadcasters.

The BBC supplied the most on-screen statistical references, featuring in just over a quarter – 25.1 per cent – of all news items examined. Channel 5, by contrast, used visual statistics in 8.1 per cent of news items. Some

Bulletin	N of items featuring at least one visual stats	N of items with no visual stats	Total
5 at 5pm	8.1% (18)	91.9% (204)	100% (222)
BBC at 10pm	25.1% (77)	74.9% (230)	100% (307)
Channel 4 at 7pm	20.0% (38)	80.0% (152)	100% (190)
ITV at 10pm	12.1% (30)	87.8% (217)	100% (247)
Sky News at 10pm	17.4% (51)	82.6% (242)	100% (293)
Total	17.0% (214)	83.0% (1045)	100% (1259)

**Table 3.9** The percentage of television news items featuring an on-screen statistic (N in brackets)

broadcasters - including the BBC, Channel 4 and Sky News - tended to visually use charts and data sets about the latest data at the start of their news bulletins. This often included key debating points at the time, with the majority of them being about the number of COVID-19-related deaths.

We also explored whether data about casualties related to excess mortality figures or comparisons between the UK and other countries. Approximately 10 per cent of references to mortality conveyed the 'excess death' figure, with two thirds not supplying any comparative data with other nations. Sky News was the broadcaster which included the most references to excess death rates and produced some international comparisons with the UK.

### Identifying Mainstream Media Misinformation and Raising Public Understanding

While new online and social media platforms have dominated debates about spreading so-called fake news and blatant instances of disinformation (Aïmeur et al. 2023; Gottlieb and Dyer 2020; Hamilton 2020; Shu et al. 2020), this chapter has contributed new evidence about more subtle forms of misinformation emanating from mainstream media that have not been subject to a great deal of empirical inquiry. A small but significant body of scholarship was drawn upon that revealed the role and impact mainstream media have in covering 'fake news', as well as evidence about whether they help or hinder countering disinformation (Tsfati et al. 2020). In the previous chapter we illustrated how audiences think of disinformation as inherent in news media and journalistic reporting. The focus on the dangers of disinformation were exacerbated at the start of the coronavirus pandemic, as fake news about health and science, along with conspiracy theorists about the causes and impact of COVID-19, became a focal point for concerns about the spread of false and misleading information (Hamilton 2020; Mian and Khan 2020). But, as the chapter further explored, far less attention was paid to how mainstream media reported the health crisis, including any misinformation that may have flowed from reporting the measures taken by national governments to handle the crisis. And yet, a comparative understanding of how different countries implemented policies at a time of a global pandemic would allow audiences to make more informed judgements about the decision-making of their own elected governments. After all, they could compare and contrast the effectiveness of different health measures and assess the records of how far each national government kept the public safe from COVID-19.

In order to further explore the role and impact of mainstream media spreading disinformation and misinformation, an original UK-based case study was drawn upon at the start of the pandemic that explored public understanding of COVID-19 and government decision-making, along with an analysis of television news bulletins over a similar time period (Cushion et al. 2022a). We first established that the vast majority of our news diary participants easily spotted 'fake news' about the pandemic, with some evidence that they had seen it rebutted on mainstream media. However, many participants had limited knowledge about how the UK government was managing the crisis, most strikingly that the UK's death rate was far higher than many other nations. When asked specifically about what confused them during the pandemic, many of our participants referred to the UK government's use of statistics and statements about its handling of the health crisis. Our analysis of television news helped explain why many people lacked any knowledge and understanding of how other countries had experienced the pandemic. We found that the coverage was overwhelmingly domestically focused, with very few comparisons between the UK and other nations. When there were references to specific countries, they tended to be in passing rather than developing any comparative assessments about respective government decisions. Broadcasters did not regularly use any supportive statistical data to visually compare and contrast records – such as different lockdown measures or death rates – among different countries.

Taken together, our findings help explain why many of the research participants were not able to evaluate the UK government's decisions internationally. While we cannot account for every information source they were exposed to over this period of time, for many people television news was the primary and most trusted medium they used to understand what was happening in the world during the pandemic. Given the reliance on television news, the lack of internationally comparative coverage had consequences, in our view, that go beyond the dangers of disinformation and point towards the

influence of more subtle forms of misinformation. Since many people believed that the UK had a relatively low death rate compared to other nations, it follows that they could have been misinformed about the success of the UK government's policies, including believing – incorrectly – that a stricter lockdown approach was implemented in comparison with different countries. In other words, without the informational background and context to understand the UK's record in comparison with other nations during a global health crisis, it could lead to a misunderstanding about the government's performance and handling of the crisis.

But our findings do not point towards the mainstream media deliberately attempting to deceive audiences or conceal information. Instead, they represent editorial decisions to focus primarily on the UK which then left gaps in people's understanding of the pandemic on a global scale. In doing so, misinformation can spread because audiences may inadvertently be misled about the UK government's performance and its accountability to decision-making. This form of misinformation can emanate from impartial public service broadcasters with high standards in journalism because of editorial decisions to include and exclude information that help audiences make sense of the world.

The next chapter further examines how journalists report political powers and decisions. It considers how media attribute responsibility and accountability for government policies, exploring public (mis)understandings and identifying whether news reporting can better enhance knowledge and, more broadly, the legitimacy of journalism.

### (Mis)understanding Government Responsibility

During the coronavirus pandemic, local, regional and national governments took different political decisions about how to mitigate the risks of spreading COVID-19. As with any health crisis, the news media played a critical role in reporting the latest scientific advice designed for public safety, such as covering political decisions about lockdown measures (Lewis et al. 2021). As well as communicating information, reporters had the job of scrutinising government policies, interpreting their effectiveness and, where necessary, challenging any false or misleading claims. In holding power to account, journalists had a difficult job in navigating where political decisions should be attributed. Needless to say, political systems can be complex to understand and interpret across local, national and international contexts. This was openly acknowledged by an OECD (2020) report, which pointed out that 'Subnational governments regions and municipalities – are responsible for critical aspects of containment measures, health care, social services, economic development and almost 60% of public investment, putting them at the frontline of crisis management.' This was because political accountability during the pandemic was not just the responsibility of federal governments around the world, but could relate to national, regional and local bodies.

This chapter advances debates about how the media attribute power and responsibility in news reporting. Since political systems vary in their scope and power, we argue that it is important that the news media fulfil a normative role of informing the public about different rules and regulations that might be relevant to specific regions within a country rather than being uniform across a nation (Christians et al. 2009). By failing to do so, the media might produce public confusion and ultimately spread misinformation. We draw on a case study of how television news attributed who was responsible for the decisions

made by political bodies in the UK during the pandemic, along with how well-informed the public were about judgements made by different legislators (Cushion and Carbis 2024).

The UK's political landscape changed significantly in 1999. The UK government devolved powers to Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland in key areas such as health and education. Over time each national government has acquired more powers, but there have been debates about a so-called democratic deficit – particularly in Wales – because many people do not have access to news, information and analysis about the devolved institutions (Cushion et al. 2020). During the pandemic, the devolved nations rose to prominence because they had responsibility for managing lockdowns and COVID-19 related policies in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, while the UK government took decisions in England. Against this backdrop, this chapter explores how effectively television news framed who was responsible for the decisions made by political bodies in the UK during the pandemic, along with how well-informed the public were about judgements made by different legislators. In doing so, we draw on two complementary methods - a news diary study that explored people's knowledge about the pandemic over a six-week period during the height of the pandemic, along with a content analysis that examined 181 television news items between March and June 2020 on BBC, ITV, Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky News (Cushion and Carbis 2024).

The chapter begins by drawing on the broader academic literature that has explored how the media have attributed power and responsibility in coverage of politics and public affairs. We then explain that this body of scholarship represents an important but under-researched part of misinformation research that could help develop a more accountable form of journalism which informs the public about the political institutions that govern them. Since there has been limited academic focus on how media report political affairs in devolved and federal political systems, the chapter shows how journalists can open up new opportunities to enhance public understanding by more effectively holding power to account. In doing so, we draw attention to how gaps in reporting policy decisions can inadvertently spread misinformation and offer editorial solutions about how journalistic legitimacy can be enhanced by reporters more accurately reflecting governmental accountability.

#### Reporting the Attribution of Political Power and Responsibility

The media play a central role in helping the public understand who is responsible for making political decisions. Academic studies have long revealed how the selection and exclusion of different actors and institutions can influence

public knowledge about where accountability and responsibility lie in politics (Kim 2015). Weiner (1995), for example, theorised that responsibility can be interpreted in contradictory ways. It can be attributed to individual behaviour and decision-making, as well as broader societal and institutional forces, such as governments and businesses. Iyengar's (1991) book *Is Anyone Responsible?* examined how US news media attributed power according to individual or institutional reasons. While episodic framing attributed responsibility to either a specific event or an individual act, thematic framing attributed power to institutions, such as governments at different levels. The study discovered journalists favoured episodic framing of political reporting, which in turn had an influence on public understanding. Iyengar's (1991) follow-up analysis with audiences revealed that audiences exposed to episodic framing tended to attribute power to individuals, overlooking the role played by legislators, businesses and other external influences.

However, Iyengar's (1991) analysis of American media and audiences does not necessarily reflect how other national media and political systems operate. There have, for instance, been comparative studies of how politics is reported in the US and other nations, particularly across Europe. Unlike much of American journalism, they have shown that news coverage in other countries spends more time reporting policy issues rather than individual or specific events (Strömbäck and Dimitrova 2006). The issue being reported can also shape the framing of responsibility. Kensicki's (2004) study found that newspaper reporting of pollution, poverty and incarceration referenced the role played by the tobacco industry and the government, explicitly connecting their responsibility. Meanwhile, Kim et al.'s (2010) research identified societal factors shaping the coverage of poverty in the US, rather than attributing responsibility to individuals. Meanwhile, Zhang et al.'s (2015) study of Chinese newspaper reporting revealed coverage of depression was linked to wider social forces. Feezell et al. (2019) have shown how audiences can interpret episodic and thematic framing differently according to the issue being reported. They explored the response of audiences to media coverage of poverty, which has tended to be reported by episodic rather than thematic framing. Their survey of Americans broadly found audiences believed that responsibility lay to a greater extent with individual behaviour rather than wider social influences. However, on the issue of religious radicalism audiences did not respond in a uniform way, partly due to personal perceptions of individual-level beliefs towards Muslim Americans. Taken together, the evidence from studies across several nations is that specific issues and actors influence how the media report political responsibility, as well as how audiences interpret coverage.

In comparing how news media report responsibility and accountability, it is important to highlight the long-held influence of different media and political systems shaping coverage. Political powers and governance can operate in unique ways locally, nationally and internationally, and vary among countries. From a US context, Deli Carpini et al. (1994) examined how well informed citizens were about state politics and government across different parts of Virginia. When they examined people's knowledge in Richmond, the state capital, they discovered that local media served people well with political reporting, but in the metropolitan area of Washington coverage was fairly minimal. In doing so, they argued:

citizens living outside of state capitals, and especially those living in areas that border other states, are less informed about state politics than they would otherwise be. Despite the increasing importance of state politics, news coverage of state government and politics varies widely in amount and quality, and is generally less extensive and detailed than coverage of local and national government. (Delli Carpini et al. 1994, 453)

In other words, media systems help shape public understanding of politics, decision-making and governance.

In the UK, the media system is dominated by UK-wide news providers that serve all four nations, including England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (Cushion and Thomas 2022). Despite devolution, many people continue to rely on network broadcast media rather than just turning to national media in their respective devolved nations. Since England is by far the most populous nation, it is often the centre of attention. It is also the home of the UK government which – despite political devolution in 1999 – continues to hold significant reserved matters in key areas like controlling the public's finances, dealing with foreign affairs and immigration issues. Given this political and media context, the devolved institutions often struggle to gain media attention, limiting public access to information and analysis about their policies, let alone their political responsibilities.

However, the main UK broadcasters, in particular the BBC, have public service obligations that require them to reflect the nations' and devolved politics. Whether the BBC and other broadcasters have met these conditions has been the subject of several systematic reviews. The BBC Trust, which regulated the BBC up until 2017, carried out four reviews of news media between 2008 and 2016. Taken together, it concluded that 'The Trust believes that, to remain fully effective as a network news broadcaster in an increasingly devolved UK, the BBC's journalism must increasingly examine, understand,

illuminate and contrast the different challenges and priorities of each of the four Nations' (BBC Trust 2016, 4). In 2022, an Ofcom-commissioned study examined all the major UK network news providers across their nightly news bulletins and online coverage (Cushion and Thomas 2022). Due to the media focus on managing the pandemic, it found a high proportion – approximately 40 per cent – of all items were relevant to devolution because issues such as lockdowns in schools and workplaces were the responsibility of governments in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

In order to assess the accuracy of reporting political responsibility, both the BBC Trust and Ofcom studies informing the reviews measured the extent to which broadcasters reported the geographical relevance of stories to specific nations (BBC Trust 2016; Cushion and Thomas 2022). In all the studies, the BBC news provided the most accurate signposting of the different nations online and on television news compared to other broadcasters. However, it was concluded that all news providers had missed opportunities for journalists to provide greater clarity about devolved differences. Less attention has been paid to how much audiences understand media coverage of devolution and where specifically journalists can fill in gaps in public knowledge. How the lockdowns were reported and how much the public understood news coverage represents an important case study about framing political responsibility and misinformation in news reporting.

After all, the coronavirus pandemic put devolution to the fore of UK politics, demonstrating the importance of accurately reporting the UK's political system during a health crisis. Without doing so, the public could be misinformed about the health measures being taken and not hold the correct government accountable for their decision-making. As we now explore, at the start of the pandemic our news diary study revealed a lack of public knowledge about the role the devolved administrations were playing in managing the lockdown.

# News Diary Knowledge of Devolution and Confidence in News Coverage

In order to explore public knowledge about political responsibility, we examined how well informed people were about the policy responsibilities of the UK government and Scottish, Welsh and Northern Irish devolved governments at the start of the pandemic. This was achieved through our news diary study, which examined their understanding of the coronavirus pandemic over six weeks in the beginning of the health crisis (16 April to 27 May 2020). As already explained, our respondents were asked to complete two diary entries

per week (twelve in total) on a range of issues related to their understanding and knowledge about the pandemic. For the purposes of this chapter, we focus on entries 8 and 9 between 7 and 14 May 2020, which explored participants' attitudes towards local news and specifically their understanding of who was responsible for health measures that affected them during the pandemic. We selected this time period because it was at a critical point when decisions by the UK government, which applied to England only, began to diverge further from Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. On 10 May, for example, the UK prime minister announced new plans to allow people in England to exercise more freely, to consider opening schools from 1 June and to change health guidance from 'staying home' to 'staying alert'. Within a couple of days of these measures being announced, our diary was able to explore people's knowledge about whether they understood the policies related to England only or not.

In the weeks where we examined people's knowledge about UK and devolved government decision making, 170 and 164 participants submitted diary entries. At this point in time, about one in five participants were from the devolved nations outside of England. At the start of the diaries and just a few days before entry 8 (in mid-May), we asked respondents about their media consumption habits, including how often they watched the news. We found in entry 1 that 159 respondents - eight in ten in total - watched TV news every day or most days in the last week. When asked which TV news bulletins they most regularly watched and trusted, seven out of ten people chose the BBC. By entry 7, almost six in ten respondents watched TV every day or most days in the last week. Once again, the BBC was the most consumed TV news bulletin, with half of the respondents watching it every day or most days in the last week. Our respondents' news consumption habits were broadly in line with representative surveys conducted throughout this period that showed television news was the biggest source of news during the pandemic, with the BBC reaching the most people (Ofcom 2020c). Our sample represented a demographic mix of the population who routinely tuned into UK television news bulletins, notably the BBC, during the pandemic. Overall, our diary study was able to examine how well informed people were who regularly tuned into television news at a unique point in time when different health measures were being pursued across the four administrations of the UK.

Between 7 and 10 May, we asked our respondents who was in charge of the UK's lockdown measures, requiring them to choose either the UK government, the devolved administrations, the European Union or the World Health organisation. We found that a majority – just over half the sample – incorrectly

said the UK government, with just under half correctly stating the UK government and devolved administrations. Given the low level of public knowledge about who had responsibility for making decisions about the lockdown affecting their lives, our next entry – between 11 and 15 May – asked a series of more detailed follow-up questions about who had relevant powers in the UK. On 10 May the prime minister announced specific measures in England about being able to exercise more freely, changing the health guidance from 'staying home' to 'staying alert' and floating the idea that schools might open from June. Given that this announcement was widely reported by the news media and that we had previously asked participants about who had responsibility for making lockdown decisions across the UK – therefore priming them about this issue - we anticipated that the diary entries would display some reasonable knowledge about political power across the nations. We did find that most participants – eight in ten – realised schools may open from 1 June in England, while three in four knew they could meet one other person in a park or public place in England.

But there was some confusion about how and where they could exercise across the UK. The new measures allowed people in England to use their car to exercise, but six in ten participants did not know that in Scotland and Wales they had to remain in their local environment. We found that nearly a quarter of respondents thought rules about exercising were UK-wide. Part of the UK government's announcement included its guidance to 'stay alert' rather than 'stay home' for people in England. An image displaying this new guidance was emblazoned on lecterns in the days after the prime minister's statement and widely shared on social media. But in the other nations – Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland – the message to stay home remained unchanged. Despite the shift in messaging, we found only eleven in twenty respondents correctly identified the advert as being relevant to England only. Almost a third thought it was UK-wide government guidance.

Finally, we asked participants if they felt confident that the media was giving them the correct information about decisions that affected their life and community during the pandemic. We received a wide range of reactions, including references to unclear government messaging rather than news reporting being responsible for their confusion. As one participant put it: 'The government have been very vague which has led to a lot of confusion, but the media are only reporting on the information they have been given by the government.' While many respondents acknowledged that journalists tried to be informative, they also said they could do more to reflect their local environments. These were notably among those living outside England. As one respondent pointed out: 'I live in Wales, the information provided by the

news is mainly for England and the rules which apply to those in England and not much information is given about Wales.' One participant referenced stories about people in England travelling to Wales illegally because they were not aware that across the border there were laws asking people to stay within five miles of their home. It was further suggested this was due to the news media emphasis on England rather than the devolved nations:

I believe that the main news stories are about England only with Scotland, Wales and NI added as an afterthought. The number of stories regarding people in England trying to come to Wales for day trips or to book holidays confirms this as it would seem there are many people in England who have no idea that England has different rules to Wales, Scotland and NI.

Many participants admitted they struggled to understand the UK's devolved powers. One said: 'I am finding it confusing with there being different rules for different areas of the UK so I am not sure if the news I am receiving is totally correct.' Another observed that journalists could more effectively communicate who had responsibility for different rules: 'Distinguishing between rules for different parts of the UK has been difficult, with reporters sometimes omitting which rules apply where. These rules should be stated explicitly as to who they apply to.'

We now examine how well broadcasters attributed responsibility for political decisions made about the UK's lockdown measures.

## Reporting Which National Government is Responsible for Policy Decisions

In the early months of the pandemic, we examined five key policy announcements made by the UK government about the health guidance the public should follow. When the first major lockdown decision was announced by the UK prime minister on 23 March 2020, it reflected a four-nation agreement between England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Over time, the governments of each nation took different approaches to managing the risks associated with the public mixing and spreading COVID-19. Our content analysis of coverage in these five selected periods was designed to assess the clarity in which the UK's main evening television news bulletins communicated the political responsibilities of governmental decisions across the four nations. Television news was one of the most widely consumed and trusted sources of information throughout the pandemic. For example, in the early weeks of the pandemic – when the public were the most attentive to the

health crisis – the BBC 6pm and 10pm bulletins alone attracted audiences of 20 million.

We examined UK national bulletins – including the BBC *News at Ten*, ITV *News at Ten*, Sky *News at Ten*, Channel 4 at 7pm and Channel at 5pm – on 23 March, 16 April, 11 May, 28 May and 10 June in 2020 (Cushion and Carbis 2024). Each date was chosen because of reported major UK government announcements about health measures which affected either the whole of the UK or England only. In total, 181 items were examined (35 on BBC News, 30 on ITV, 40 on Sky News, 44 on Channel 4 and 32 on Channel 5). Our main analytical framework centred on whether broadcasters attributed the relevant policy responsibilities to each government across the four nation(s). This included assessing if journalists referenced the whole of the UK, England, Scotland, Wales and/or Northern Ireland. After recoding 10 per cent of the sample, there was a high level of agreement with all the content analysis variables (Cushion and Carbis 2024).

In coverage of all five announcements, our analysis revealed that in March and April 2020 there were few references to the four nations of the UK in television news coverage (see Table 4.1). Instead, the most common reference was to the UK generally, making up 58.6 per cent of all geographical references in television news coverage in March 2020 alone. By reporting the lockdown through the prism of the UK, network coverage failed to acknowledge the four-nation agreement to adopt the same health measures between the governments of England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Or, put more bluntly, devolution was invisible at the start of the pandemic when the public were most attentive to the news and the reporting of health guidance. The headlines of coverage in this phase focused on the prime minister's statement, which did not acknowledge the role of the devolved governments either. For instance, on 23 March the BBC News headline read: 'The Prime Minister announces the toughest restrictions on our way of life in living memory.' A later report went on to add that: 'Boris Johnson and his advisors ... felt they had no choice but to have a much more drastic approach.' Channel 5 likewise reported that the 'Government will be ready to go further', while a Channel 4 anchor put it to a guest that 'The population, citizens of the UK, want the Government to go further; do you agree with that?' In other words, the first major lockdown was narrowly framed as a UK-government decision rather than a four-nation agreement among four governments serving their respective nations.

However, in May and June broadcasters started to reflect and contrast the lockdown measures across the nations, with fewer references to the UK generally (see Table 4.1). For instance, when the UK government

ckdown
r lock
majo
of the ma
verage
phical references in UK television news co
vision
n UK telev
n U
rences i
refe
raphical
eograf
s of g
ercentage
. The p
le 4.1

With UK	Without UK	Total	With England	Without England	Total	With Scotland	Without Scotland	Total
58.6% (34)	41.4% (24)	100% (58)	12.1% (7)	87.9% (51)	100% (58)	13.8% (8)	86.2% (50)	100% (58)
37.5% (9)	62.5% (15)	100% (24)	8.3% (2)	91.7% (22)	100% (24)	4.2% (1)	95.8% (23)	100% (24)
44.8% (26)	55.2% (32)	100% (58)	67.2% (39)	32.8% (19)	100% (58)	37.9% (22)	62.1% (36)	100% (58)
30.8% (8)	69.2% (18)	100% (26)	80.8% (21)	19.2% (5)	100% (26)	30.8% (8)	69.2% (18)	100% (26)
46.7% (7)	53.3% (8)	100% (15)	80% (12)	20% (3)	100% (15)		100% (15)	100% (15)
46.4% (84)	53.6% (97)	100% (181)	44.8% (81)	46.4% (84) 53.6% (97) 100% (181) 44.8% (81) 55.2% (100) 100% (181) 21.5% (39)	100% (181)	21.5% (39)	78.5% (142) 100% (181)	100% (181)

—	78.5% (142)	21.5% (39)	100% (181)	55.2% (100)	44.8% (81)	100% (181)	53.6% (97)	46.4% (84)
—	100% (15)		100% (15)	20% (3)	80% (12)	100% (15)	53.3% (8)	46.7% (7)
_	09.2% (18)	JU.8% (8)	100% (20)	(c) %7.61	80.8% (21)	100% (20)	09.2% (18)	20.8% (8)

1009	78.5% (142)	21.5% (39)	100% (181)	55.2% (100)	44.8% (81)	100% (181)	53.6% (97)	46.4% (84)
1009	100% (15)		100% (15)	20% (3)	80% (12)	100% (15)	53.3% (8)	46.7% (7)
100	69.2% (18)	20.8% (8)	100% (20)	(c) %7.61	80.8% (21)	100% (20)	09.2% (18)	20.8% (8)

Table 4.1 The           announcements		percentage of geog (N in brackets)	graphical refer	rences in UK	percentage of geographical references in UK television news coverage of the major lockdown (N in brackets)	ws coverage	of the majo	r lockdown	
Dates	With UK	Without UK	Total	With England	Without England	Total	With Scotland	Without Scotland	Total
23 March 16 April 11 May 28 May 10 June	58.6% (34) 37.5% (9) 44.8% (26) 30.8% (8) 46.7% (7)	41.4% (24) 62.5% (15) 55.2% (32) 69.2% (18) 53.3% (8)	100% (58) 100% (24) 100% (58) 100% (26) 100% (15)	12.1% (7) 8.3% (2) 67.2% (39) 80.8% (21) 80% (12)	87.9% (51) 91.7% (22) 32.8% (19) 19.2% (5) 20% (3)	100% (58) 100% (24) 100% (58) 100% (26) 100% (15)	13.8% (8) 4.2% (1) 37.9% (22) 30.8% (8)	86.2% (50) 95.8% (23) 62.1% (36) 69.2% (18) 100% (15)	100% (58) 100% (24) 100% (58) 100% (26) 100% (15)
Total	46.4% (84)	53.6% (97)	100% (181)	44.8% (81)	55.2% (100)	100% (181)	21.5% (39)	78.5% (142)	100% (181)
Dates	With Wales	Without Wales	Total	With NI	Without NI	Total			
23 March 16 April 11 May 28 May 10 June Total	13.8% (8) 4.2% (1) 37.9% (22) 15.4% (4) 13.3% (2)	86.2% (50) 95.8% (23) 62.1% (36) 84.6% (22) 86.7% (13)	100% (58) 100% (24) 100% (58) 100% (26) 100% (15)	5.2% (3) 4.2% (1) 25.9% (15) 11.5% (3) /	94.8% (55) 95.8% (23) 74.1% (43) 88.5% (23) 100% (15) 87.8% (159)	100% (58) 100% (24) 100% (58) 100% (26) 100% (15)			
			(-)	(		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

announced up to six people could meet in a public place in England, over two thirds of all items referenced England. Similarly, when the UK government announced new rules about support bubbles and schools opening, over eight in ten items specifically mentioned England. But while England was namechecked, it was not spelt out that the changes did not relate to either Scotland, Wales or Northern Ireland. By not referencing the responsibilities of the devolved nations, once again their powers were often invisible in television news coverage. For example, Channel 5 contrasted the health measures across the UK in one headline: 'The lockdown in England is easing ... the rules are now different across the UK with Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland sticking to the 'stay at home' message'. However, Table 4.2 shows there was some variation among broadcasters in how regularly one or more of the four nations were namechecked. Above all, the BBC made more specific references to the four nations compared to commercial television news bulletins.

To provide an overall assessment about how clearly the attribution of political powers was communicated by broadcasters, we assessed whether any geographical reference was supplied, if there was an implicit reference (name-checking England), or if there was an explicit reference to one of the devolved nations (see Table 4.3). We found that in March and April 75.9 per cent and 95.8 per cent of news items respectively did not attribute powers to a specific nation. For example, Channel 4 referenced the government generally without reference to the UK or England: 'Now life under lockdown will continue for at least another three weeks as the government detailed the five things that will need to change before measures can be relaxed' (Channel 4, 16 April 2020).

By contrast, in two separate announcements in May 2020 over a third of news items – 37.9 per cent and 34.6 per cent respectively – included explicit references to devolution. For instance, ITV News on 28 May explicitly spelt out the differences at this time with supporting on-screen graphics:

New rules mean that from Monday people in England will be able to gather in groups of up to six people at once. That must be outdoors, but can, for the first time, include private gardens. And social distancing rules will still apply, so different households must remain at least 2 metres apart at all times. Scotland announced its own easing will begin from tomorrow, up to eight people across two households can meet outdoors. In Wales, an announcement on loosening restrictions is expected tomorrow. While Northern Ireland plans to enter the second phase of lifting its lockdown a week on Monday.

ne major lockdown
news coverage of th
UK television ner
1 references in L
e of geographica
.2 The percentage
ble 4.2

_	With UK	With UK Without UK	Total	With England	Without England	Total	With Scotland	Without	Total
	62.9% (22)	37.1% (13)	100% (35)	51.4% (18)	48.6% (17)	100% (35)	25.7% (9)	74.3% (26)	100% (35)
	26.7% (8)	73.3% (22)	100% (30)	40% (12)	60% (18)	100% (30)	20% (6)	80% (24)	100% (30)
	45% (18)	55% (22)	100% (40)	32.5% (13)	67.5% (27)	100% (40)	17.5% (7)	82.5% (33)	100% (40)
4	50% (22)	50% (22)	100% (44)	47.7% (21)	52.3% (23)	100% (44)	25% (11)	75% (33)	100% (44)
2	43.7% (14)	56.3% (18)	100% (32)	53.1% (17)	46.9% (15)	100% (32)	18.7% (6)	81.3% (26)	100 % (32)
	46.4% (84)	53.6% (97)	46 4% (84) 53 6% (97) 100% (181) 44 8% (81)	44 8% (81)	55.2% (100)	100% (181)	21.5% (39)	55 2% (100) 100% (181) 21 5% (39) 78 5% (142) 100% (181)	100% (181)

(1 + ) 0 / / (-)	(01) 0/0:00	(20) 0/001	( ) 1 ) ( ) 1 ( )	(01) 0///01	() 0/00-	(0) 0/ 107	(0=) 0/0:10
46.4% (84)	53.6% (97)	100% (181)	44.8% (81)	55.2% (100)	100% (181)	21.5% (39)	78.5% (142)

al	
t Total	
Without NI	
With NI	
Total	
Without Wales	
With Wales	
el	

Table 4.2	Table 4.2 The percentage of gannouncements (N in brackets)	ntage of geog brackets)	raphical refer	ences in UK	<b>Table 4.2</b> The percentage of geographical references in UK television news coverage of the major lockdown announcements (N in brackets)	ws coverage	of the major	r lockdown	
Channel	With UK	Without UK	Total	With England	Without England	Total	With Scotland	Without Scotland	To
BBC ITV Sky Channel 4 Channel 5	62.9% (22) 26.7% (8) 45% (18) 50% (22) 43.7% (14)	37.1% (13) 73.3% (22) 55% (22) 50% (22) 56.3% (18)	100% (35) 100% (30) 100% (40) 100% (44) 100% (32)	51.4% (18) 40% (12) 32.5% (13) 47.7% (21) 53.1% (17)	48.6% (17) 60% (18) 67.5% (27) 52.3% (23) 46.9% (15)	100% (35) 100% (30) 100% (40) 100% (44) 100% (32)	25.7% (9) 20% (6) 17.5% (7) 25% (11) 18.7% (6)	74.3% (26) 80% (24) 82.5% (33) 75% (33) 81.3% (26)	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
Total	46.4% (84)	53.6% (97)	100% (181)	44.8% (81)	55.2% (100)	100% (181)	21.5% (39)	78.5% (142)	100
Channel	With Wales	Without Wales	Total	With NI	Without NI	Total			
BBC ITV Sky Channel 4 Channel 5 Total	28.6% (10) 20% (6) 5% (2) 22.7% (10) 28.1% (9) 20.4% (37)	71.4% (25) 80% (24) 95% (38) 77.3% (34) 71.9% (23) 79.6% (144)	100% (35) 100% (30) 100% (40) 100% (44) 100% (32) 100% (181)	25.7% (9) 6.7% (2) 5% (2) 9.1% (4) 15.6% (5) 12.2% (22)	74.3% (26) 93.3% (28) 95% (38) 90.9% (40) 84.4% (27) 87.8% (159)	100% (35) 100% (30) 100% (40) 100% (44) 100% (181)			

Table 4.3	The percentage of implicit, explicit or no references to
devolution	in UK television news coverage of the major lockdown
announcen	nents (N in brackets)

Dates	Percentage of items with just an implicit reference to devolution	Percentage of items with an explicit reference to devolution	Percentage of items with no reference to devolution	Total
23 March	8.6% (5)	15.5% (9)	75.9% (44)	100% (58)
16 April	4.2% (1)	/	95.8% (23)	100% (24)
11 May	25.9% (15)	37.9% (22)	36.2% (21)	100% (58)
28 May	46.2% (12)	34.6% (9)	19.2% (5)	100% (26)
10 June	66.7% (10)	13.3% (2)	20% (3)	100% (15)
Total	23.8% (43)	23.2% (42)	53% (96)	100% (181)

Despite the increase in explicit references in May 2020, a month later broad-casters tended to attribute powers implicitly namechecking England without referencing the irrelevance to the devolved nations. For example, a Channel 5 headline on 10 June read: 'The Prime Minister defends the schools' U-turn in England; zoos and safari parks will open on Monday, but plans to reopen schools are on hold. The Labour leader says the government needs to get a grip.' By not stating that the opening up of schools, zoos and safaris will not apply to either Scotland, Wales or Northern Ireland, it could lead to public misunderstanding since viewers may not have been aware of this policy distinction. Indeed, our diary study during this period suggested that this distinction was not always picked up, leading to potential misinformation about which nation was responsible for managing the pandemic.

#### Enhancing Journalistic Attribution to Political Powers

This chapter explored how well informed the public were about many conflicting health measures at the start of the pandemic and assessed how well broadcasters rose to the challenge of attributing power to the relevant UK political bodies in television news coverage. We found many of our diary participants were confused about which government had responsibility over the different lockdown measures during the height of the pandemic. Moreover, many of them revealed they were not confident in the news media accurately informing them about the powers of the four nations and wanted journalists to explain the different policy responsibilities across the UK's devolved political system.

Our systematic analysis of television news coverage after major UK government announcements in March and April 2020 discovered that broadcasters did not regularly reference the four nations (Cushion and Carbis 2024). Instead, the focus was on decisions made by the UK government or prime minister, rather than explaining it was a four-nation agreement that had legislated for the lockdown measures. In May and June coverage began to reflect differences between the nations, but the focus still tended to be on England rather than namechecking the relevance of all four nations. By not explicitly signalling the (ir)relevance to specific nations, reporting could potentially lead to misinformation in relation to power responsibilities. Our diary study, for example, suggested that many viewers did not pick up on geographical references about the attribution of powers and were confused about how the rules were applied between the four nations. As journalists did not regularly signpost the relevance of health measures to audiences across the UK, viewers may not have understood where powers applied across the four nations. While we cannot claim cause and effect, our audience study suggested many viewers were not just confused but misinformed about the relevance of lockdown measures across the UK.

Our case study about how television news attributed responsibility to political decisions advances wider debates about how mainstream media can inadvertently spread misinformation. As the chapter began exploring, scholars have examined the attribution of responsibility in news reporting in different ways. Above all, scholarship has found that the ways media frame attribution matters (Iyengar 1991; Kim 2015). These framing effects can lead to audiences often (mis)interpreting coverage in different ways, demonstrating the profound impact journalistic choices can have on public understanding. As Starr and Oxlad (2021, 703–4) put it when they reflected on their study of how people attributed responsibility for cancer in media coverage:

These findings highlight the importance of news organisations understanding the power they wield regarding perceptions of responsibility. News organisations need to be aware of the potential for creating an imbalance of blame and responsibility, depending on how they tell a story.

When examining news reporting and exploring media influence, we would argue that empirical studies need to develop more effective ways of analysing responsibility framing and measuring people's responses to it. In our view, more research is needed to identify how audiences respond to the attribution of power across different layers of government. Put simply, how journalists frame the attribution of power and responsibility can help counter misinformation and advance public knowledge.

The next chapter focuses in micro detail on how journalists counter misinformation across different media platforms and types of news. In doing so, it considers how the application of impartiality in reporting election campaigns in different national contexts can both prevent as well as perpetuate false, misleading or vague political claims.

# Comparing the Impartiality of Cross-National and Cross-Platform Fact-Checking

When BBC sports presenter, Gary Lineker, tweeted criticism of the UK government's migration policy in 2023 - conflating the language ministers used with that of Nazi Germany - it prompted an existential crisis at the world's best-known public service broadcaster. The story dominated the news agenda over the following week, leading to Lineker being forced off air and causing an internal staff strike because of the BBC's treatment of the former footballer. The heated and extensive reaction to a social media post was not just a product of the BBC's influence and significance in the UK and beyond. It was motivated by vocal critics questioning its political independence and impartiality, particularly right-wing politicians and commercial media who have struggled - historically - to compete with the BBC's editorial power and reach. The public service broadcaster has long claimed that impartiality is central to its identity not just in news and current affairs programming, but across every facet of its output, including the social media accounts of its high-profile employees. When just a sports presenter - not even a news journalist - was seen to have breached its impartiality, BBC management responded immediately to defend the public service broadcaster from accusations of political bias.

The Lineker story represents a wider pattern of attacks over recent years on the impartiality of public service broadcasters around the world. Holtz-Bacha (2021), for example, has examined how European public service media have become a moving target of right-wing political populists. In doing so, she observed that 'criticising ... [public service] media is on politicians' daily agenda' and that 'allegations of biased and unbalanced reporting directed at the [public service] media are widespread in the political field and usually culminate in the run-up to an election' (Holtz-Bacha 2021, 222). Likewise,

attacks on Australia's main public service broadcaster – ABC – have intensified over recent years, with politicians using social media to allege bias or question its journalistic standards (Wright 2021). Needless to say, this has long been evidenced in the US, where public broadcasters, such as PBS and NPR, have been singled out by right-wing media and the conservative political class for producing a far left-wing agenda even when its output was considered free from partisanship by independent analysis and American audiences (Pickard 2020; Rauch 2021).

But while public service broadcasters now routinely face criticism about their impartiality, this tends to focus on isolated moments – a provocative tweet by a high-profile presenter, an antagonistic interview with a particular politician or a television programme tackling a contentious issue – rather than being based on a systematic and rigorous analysis of output over time. For example, the BBC's internally commissioned thematic reviews over recent years - designed to raise questions about its impartiality in coverage such as tax and spending – have largely been based on anecdotal examples rather than a thorough and comprehensive assessment of content (Blastland and Dilnot 2022). And, as this chapter will explore, even when scholars have examined the impartiality of journalism, they often centre on interpreting the broad political balance of coverage – the allocation of time to parties during an election campaign (Cushion and Thomas 2018), for instance - rather than developing a nuanced understanding of the intricacies behind the editorial judgements driving impartial reporting. In the case of the BBC and UK broadcast media specifically, they have always had to abide by 'due impartiality' requirements that police the nature of their journalism (Cushion 2015).

As the episode with Lineker's controversial tweet revealed, the BBC is highly sensitive about its impartiality and puts it at the heart of its public service credentials. Its latest editorial guidelines boldly assert that 'The BBC is committed to achieving due impartiality in all its output and services including broadcast and online.' In the BBC's 2022 'Impartiality plan' – designed to further enhance the public service broadcaster's impartiality – the director general emphatically re-affirmed its editorial ambitions, which forms its relationship with the public (BBC 2022). He stated that 'The BBC is consistently rated as the most trusted news source by audiences – but we take nothing for granted. That's why ensuring extraordinarily high standards of impartiality across our content is vital' (BBC 2022). In practice, this means impartiality should be applied with the same robustness in *all* its news coverage, such as in domestic and international affairs, as well as in journalism produced across different media platforms, programmes and websites. This chapter will empirically assess whether the BBC's application of 'due impartiality' is consist-

ently applied by interrogating how the broadcaster deals with political claims. In doing so, we will ultimately question how impartiality relates to the reporting of disinformation, and how it helps challenge or perpetuate it. Specifically, we draw on a forensic study that was designed to evaluate the degree of rigour that is applied to fact-checking political statements in UK (domestic) and US (foreign) election campaigns across BBC television news bulletins, online news and dedicated fact-checking websites (Hughes et al. 2023).

The UK's bespoke 'due impartiality' guidelines for broadcasters may differ to how impartial journalism, or even political balance and objectivity, have been constructed and applied by news organisations around the world (Barkho 2012). As this chapter will explore, unlike crude definitions of journalistic impartiality, the caveat of 'due' allows journalists to exercise editorial discretion and judgement about how news is reported. This includes making assessments about the veracity of claims made by competing sides of a story, which – as the opening chapters of the book established – is central to fact-checking journalism. We develop the first ever cross-national assessment of fact-checking reporting during the US and UK elections. This involved a close textual analysis of how far political claims were scrutinised by BBC News during the 2019 UK general election and the 2020 US presidential election (Hughes et al. 2023). The analysis allowed us to explore how due impartiality shaped the ways political disinformation was dealt with.

The chapter begins by contextualising how impartiality in journalism is applied. It then specifically considers the BBC's 'due impartiality' guidelines and how they apply to its journalism across media platforms and different online news sites, and when reporting domestic and international issues. We draw upon a systematic content analysis study of almost 1,000 journalistic interactions (Hughes et al 2023) with claims made by the four main party leaders during the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns (Boris Johnson and Jeremy Corbyn in the UK, and Donald Trump and Joe Biden in the US). This involved assessing whether journalists corrected any instances of dubious statements made by politicians.

Taken together, this chapter develops one of the most forensic studies to date about how fact-checking is comparatively applied to counter false and misleading claims (Hughes et al. 2023). In doing so, it considers the influence of the UK's 'due impartiality' guidelines in the editorial choices and judgements of news media when dealing with claims and counterclaims. The study was designed to better understand how misinformation was countered in routine reporting through an original cross-media content analysis study of domestic and foreign news reporting. As we suggest throughout the chapter, the findings highlight the value of fact-checking in promoting journalistic

legitimacy at a time when political misinformation can confuse audiences and undermine the integrity of democratic debates.

### Understanding the Impartiality of BBC Fact-Checking Cross-Nationally

The concepts of impartiality, balance and objectivity have long been applied by news organisations around the world (Barkho 2012). They were developed as editorial practices to professionalise journalism by mitigating the risk of bias and partisan reporting (Schudson 1978; Tuchman 1972). Needless to say, not all editors and journalists subscribe to this perspective. After all, partisan and campaigning forms of journalism can effectively hold power to account and champion causes in the public interest. And, as this section will explore, it should not be considered axiomatic that following impartial, balanced or objective journalism will deliver high standards of journalism that effectively counters misinformation.

But, across many different countries, either governments or media organisations have created editorial codes that attempt to ensure that news is impartial, objective or balanced (Barkho 2012; Sambrook 2012). While these concepts have often been used interchangeably, they represent conflicting journalistic goals and, in practice, can be applied differently between media and political systems (Hopmann et al. 2011). For example, being impartial, in theory, means not taking a position on a debate, while representing conflicting perspectives to an issue or event reported. By contrast, objectivity assumes there is a 'truth' to a story even when it may be contentious and difficult to establish what is and is not - accurate. Meanwhile, balanced journalism broadly and sometimes crudely reflects granting equal time to opposing positions on a story or issue being reported. Yet, few empirical studies have systematically examined how each concept has been applied in different political contexts and across media platforms. Hoppman et al. (2011) conducted a review of how political balance was conceptually defined and interpreted by different scholars. They found it was operationalised in different ways because of the diverse characteristics of competing political and media systems. For example, in countries with a twoparty system often political balance was based on contrasting the proportion of time and nature of election coverage granted to each party, rather than a broader reflection of political debates during a campaign. By contrast, in nations with multi-party systems political balance was not measured as crudely, with the types of issues and their associations with particular parties used to assess coverage during an election campaign.

The concept of impartiality incorporates political balance because it includes reflecting and representing different sides of a story or issue. Ahead of

an election, for example, allocating broadly equal time to parties has historically represented an impartial approach to covering a campaign (Cushion and Thomas 2018). But constructing political balance as impartial journalism without interpreting the relative weights of competing positions can have implications for spreading rather than countering misinformation. It can create what is known as 'false balance', where opposing positions shape the reporting of a story despite the fact that one side of the debate is far more credible than the other. This is most commonly associated with the reporting of climate change, when those who contest the science have appeared as a counterpoint to environmentalists despite the overwhelming scientific consensus that it is an urgent and man-made problem that needs addressing.

Another criticism of constructing balance as impartiality has focused on adopting a 'he said, she said' approach to political reporting (Wahl Jorgensen et al. 2017), which was introduced in Chapter 1. This is voiced most vociferously in two-party political systems when journalists cover the competing views of the main parties, but do not always uncover whether their respective claims were accurate or convincing. Without a journalist acting as a referee in a political dispute, reporting can allow misinformation to filter through because vague or even misleading claims may go uncontested. In a study examining television news coverage of the 2016 European Union Referendum campaign, for example, Cushion and Lewis (2017) found that Leave and Remain voices were broadly balanced by the UK's leading broadcasters. But coverage often ended up as a statistical tit-for-tat between competing positions, with rival campaigners trading claims about the relative benefits and pitfalls of remaining or leaving the European Union without any journalistic challenge. This was well articulated by Emily Maitlis (2022), a former senior BBC journalist, who covered the EU referendum campaign. In a speech to the Edinburgh Festival in 2022, she remembered back to when:

The UK is beginning to debate the big questions around Britain's potential exit from the EU. It is complicated stuff: we are trying to offer our viewers both sides of a fiendishly difficult debate. And that intention was right. But we still got it wrong. We fell into what we might call 'the Patrick Minford paradigm'. In other words, it might take our producers five minutes to find 60 economists who feared Brexit and five hours to find a sole voice who espoused it. But by the time we went on air, we simply had one of each; we presented this unequal effort to our audience as balance. It wasn't. I would later learn the ungainly name for this myopic style of journalism: 'both-sideism', which talks to the way it reaches a superficial balance while obscuring a deeper truth. (Maitlis 2022)

At face value, reporting both sides of an issue equally might be considered the most impartial way of covering a referendum campaign, with journalists not taking a position. Yet, as Maitlis acknowledged, it meant that viewers were often left with many dubious claims that they had to work out if they were true or false. Perhaps the famous misleading instance was the Leave campaign's claim that the UK government spent £,350m per week on EU membership, which – if the country left the EU – could be spent instead on the National Health Service (NHS). Independent bodies, such as UK The Statistics Authority, repeatedly warned politicians and broadcasters about the misleading nature of this claim, yet it was often allowed to be said on-air without challenge. Just days after the UK voted to leave the EU, a representative opinion poll found that almost half of people polled believed the claim that the UK spent £350m per week on EU membership (Ipsos MORI 2016) – illustrating how 'false balance' can result in spreading disinformation, misinforming the public and influencing democratic decisions. This claim was often brought up by our research participants in the audience studies, as discussed in Chapter 2.

The 'he said, she said' approach to reporting is a reflection of news media conveying the political voices of representative democracies. Rather than relying on journalists to construct political balance, they proportionally select parties democratically voted for by the public. While this may appear a fair and balanced method of delivering impartiality, it relies on competing sides to be well intentioned with their respective positions. But in an era defined as 'posttruth', the changing political landscape has raised doubts about the accuracy and honesty of political parties and actors. In doing so, the credibility of political leaders has become the subject of considerable debate, given their track record of making false or misleading statements. This has been associated with populist leaders such as Donald Trump in the US, Boris Johnson in the UK, the late President Hugo Rafael Chávez Frías in Venezuela, Jair Bolsonaro in Brazil, and many more around the world. For example, The Washington Post fact-checker revealed that over 30,000 statements by Trump during his term of office could classified false (Kessler 2021), while political journalist, Peter Oborne (2021), wrote a book spelling out, in detail, Johnson's dishonest and deceiving claims over his political career.

Debates about how journalists should counter false and misleading statements by elected politicians have intensified over the last decade or so. A small but significant body of scholarship has emerged about the value of fact-checking journalism and how it can be used to challenge politicians and hold them more accountable (Graves 2016 – see also Chapter 6). Needless to say, while journalists have always sought to establish the facts behind a story, more

news media organisations have begun – as mentioned in Chapter 1 – to either invest in dedicated fact-checking teams or draw on them to interpret the veracity of political claims. But there remains limited research about precisely how and where fact-checking is used and integrated into routine editorial practices, while delivering impartial journalism.

This chapter offers a UK case study that examines how the BBC applied its 'due impartiality' in its domestic and foreign reporting of the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns on television, online and by its fact-checking service, Reality Check (see also Chapter 6). Since the BBC claims that its impartiality is applied to the same high levels of editorial standards across all of its news output, it follows that 'due impartiality' should be applied equally in US and UK election campaigns as well as in different formats of news, such as television news bulletins, its online news and Reality Check websites. We focused on how far each news platform scrutinised the claims of the main party leaders from the UK and US, including Boris Johnson and Donald Trump, who have been associated with debates about spreading disinformation.

The BBC was selected for close scrutiny because of its continued influence on politics and public affairs in the UK and worldwide (Newman et al. 2023). While the news media has fragmented over recent decades with the emergence of online and social media platforms, the BBC's broadcast and online news services continue to attract domestic and international audiences. But not only does the public service broadcaster have significant reach, it remains as Chapter 3 established - widely trusted by audiences and viewed as a far more reliable information source than online and social media platforms. Its long-held reputation for impartial journalism has largely shaped the public's appreciation of its reporting, including in the US, where it is more trusted than many US domestic news media outlets (Newman et al. 2020). Unlike the US, the BBC - and all UK broadcasters - have always been subject to regulation - currently by Ofcom - that requires them to produce impartial journalism. But the BBC also has its own set of editorial guidelines on 'due impartiality', including how it should report election campaigns in the UK and internationally. They boldly state that 'The BBC should make, and be able to defend, editorial decisions on campaign coverage on the basis that they are reasonable and carefully reached, with due impartiality' (BBC 2024). While the guidelines state the interpretation of an overseas election may affect coverage if 'there are questions about the openness or fairness of the democratic process', they also make it clear that 'The principles of fairness and due impartiality that underlie the BBC's coverage of UK votes should also inform reporting in other countries' (BBC 2017). In other words, unless specific events or issues relate to the integrity of how an election is democratically conducted,

BBC impartiality should be applied with equal gusto in the UK and foreign reporting, including the US.

The BBC's (2024) election editorial guidelines further state that 'The way in which due impartiality is achieved among parties will vary, depending on the format, output and platform', but this relates to the balance of party coverage rather than scrutiny of claims made by the main political leaders. It also points out that 'content producers must take responsibility for achieving due impartiality in their own output without necessarily relying on other BBC content or services' (BBC 2024). In practice, this means that BBC's television news bulletins, and its online news and Reality Check websites, should all produce impartial journalism without assuming other programmes and platforms will feature perspectives and question claims they did not address. Our study was designed to assess whether the BBC applied the same rigour in challenging any instances of false or misleading claims by political leaders in domestic and foreign election news coverage, as well as across television, online and its dedicated fact-checking service.

### Applying More Scrutiny in Foreign than Domestic BBC Fact-Checking Journalism

In order to explore the degree to which the claims of political leaders were challenged in domestic and foreign news reporting, election-related items were examined on the BBC News and Reality Check websites during the 2019 UK General Election (28 November and 11 December 2019) and the 2020 US presidential election (1 September – 3 November 2020) campaigns. Within every item, claims made by party leaders – where their accuracy could be corrected or challenged – were examined. US coverage was examined over ten weeks as opposed to two weeks to generate a comparable number of political claims with the UK across both campaigns (Hughes et al. 2023). In total, 301 items were examined, including 128 items and 47 claims made by either Boris Johnson or Jeremy Corbyn in the UK, and 173 items and 46 claims made by either Donald Trump or Joe Biden. The BBC News at Ten was also examined between 28 November and 11 December 2019 for the UK election campaign and, for the US election campaign, a slightly longer period was chosen – 30 September and 3 November 2020 – in order to generate a similar sized sample.

Items were broken down by conventions rather than stories, generating seventy-two election items and twenty-four political claims in the UK, and forty-nine items and twenty-seven claims in the US. On both television and online news, every political claim was labelled a journalistic interaction, including

whether it was corrected, validated or left unchallenged. All items and claims were subject to robust inter-reliability check, which overwhelmingly showed high agreement rates and Cohen Kappa scores (Hughes et al. 2023).

The comparative study of leaders during the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns discovered that the BBC supplied more scrutiny in foreign (US) than domestic (UK) reporting. As Table 5.1 reveals, of the 967 interactions journalists had with the party leaders, above all the most – 73 per cent – related to Trump, followed by 70 per cent for Johnson, 50 per cent for Corbyn and 38 per cent for Biden. Trump had the least amount of claims that went either unchallenged or supported – 12 per cent – compared to 38 per cent for Biden, 32 per cent for Corbyn and 22 per cent for Johnson. When a claim was completely or partially validated, Biden had the highest proportion supporting him at 24 per cent as opposed to 18 per cent for Corbyn, 15 per cent for Trump and 7 per cent for Johnson. Of course, these proportions should be viewed in the context of the level of coverage for each candidate (see Table 5.1). Claims by Trump nearly doubled those made by Biden and Corbyn combined in coverage, and were over 130 more than Johnson.

On the face of it, an incumbency bonus might explain the greater focus on correcting Trump especially, as well as Johnson, because they were leaders of governments and naturally generated news. But the coverage of both candidates was predominantly about their campaign claims rather than how they were governing the nation. Almost three quarters of interactions about Trump – 73 per cent – focused on correcting him, compared to 70 per cent for Johnson, 50 per cent for Corbyn and 38 per cent for Biden. The most explicit rather than implicit correctives directed at any leader was Trump – 71 per cent in total – followed by 65 per cent for Corbyn, 53 per cent for Johnson and 50 per cent for Biden.

Taken together, the findings suggests that journalists felt far more emboldened to robustly challenge Trump than other candidates. So, for example, when Trump claimed the US has 'one of the lowest mortality rates' (27 October 23)

**Table 5.1** The percentage of interactions with claims made by UK and US political leaders during election campaigns (N in brackets)

	Biden	Corbyn	Johnson	Trump	Total
Corrective	38%	50%	70%	73%	65%
Validation	24%	18%	7%	15%	14%
No corrective or validation	38%	32%	23%	12%	21%
Total	100% (119)	100% (110)	100% (303)	100% (435)	100% (967)

during the pandemic the Reality Check item responded: 'Verdict: That's not right. The US ranks high globally in terms of covid deaths per person.' Of the 187 unique claims Trump made, he received 315 corrective interactions – higher than any other party leader. At face value, it might be concluded that Trump was challenged more than other candidates simply because he made more provocative claims. But, as explored below, there were many vague and dubious claims by UK candidates that could have been directly called out by journalists. Claims made by UK party leaders were also dealt with differently to US presidential candidates. For when UK leaders were explicitly corrected, they tended not to be challenged directly by journalists. Instead, news items mostly featured a counterclaim from a rival political party, adopting the 'he said, she said' convention of balance.

For example, when Johnson claimed there would not be any checks for goods travelling from Northern Ireland to Great Britain under the Brexit deal, a Reality Check item stated: 'Labour said the PM's claims about his deal with the EU were "fraudulent".' We found that coverage of the UK election campaign featured more direct quotations than the American presidential campaign. When US leaders were challenged, just over half of correctives – 52 per cent for Biden and 51 per cent for Trump – were by BBC journalists, whereas for UK leaders it was just 27 per cent for Johnson and 21 per cent for Corbyn. In coverage of US leaders, the reporting challenged claims immediately in the item, whereas when the story was about UK politicians the challenge would appear later in the story and was often preceded by contextual paragraphs. From a reader's perspective, this meant that claims about UK leaders were not instantly called out, but they were for the US Presidential candidates.

Taken together, the comparative study revealed subtle but significant differences in how US and UK leaders were fact-checked in election coverage. US leaders were more directly and instantly corrected by journalists in comparison to political coverage in the UK, which often left it to rival politicians to challenge claims from a distance. In other words, there appeared to be greater journalistic reluctance to robustly scrutinise UK than US politicians.

The varying levels of scrutiny become even more striking when broken down by the platform across BBC *News at Ten*, BBC online or BBC Reality Check (see Table 5.2). Above all, Reality Check issued the most correctives across each platform, with over three quarters of all claims – 76 per cent – contested in some way, while the remaining 24 per cent validated political statements. By contrast, two thirds of online news included correctives, with 14 per cent validations of statements and a fifth of claims involving no challenges. Meanwhile television news did not challenge 40 per cent of all political claims, with just half – 55 per cent – including a corrective and 5 per cent pro-

	Online	Television news	Reality Check
Interactions			
Corrective (CI)	66%	55%	76%
Validating (VI)	14%	5%	24%
Null (NI)	20%	40%	/
Total	100% (665)	100% (168)	100% (134)
Corrective interact	ions (Strength)		
Explicit (ECI)	65%	59%	62%
Implicit (ICI)	35%	41%	38%
Total	100% (436)	100% (92)	100% (102)

**Table 5.2** The percentage of interactions according to the BBC platform (online news, television news and Reality Check) (N in brackets)

viding validations. Many of the correctives on Reality Check's site were more decisive – including verdicts, for example – than online sites, and especially television news, which often relied on politicians to give counter-perspectives.

The analysis of how each platform and website reported a 2019 Conservative Party claim to build 40 new hospitals during the UK election revealed the levels of scrutiny comparatively applied to a key Conservative manifesto promise. This claim attracted attention because it was unclear whether the hospitals were 'new' or would be built in the time period promised. Four years after the 2019 election campaign, the UK government acknowledged that this manifesto pledge would not be met (Walker 2023). While television news featured Johnson emphatically claiming 'there will be forty new hospitals', it then offered a counter-perspective from the Labour Party suggesting the number had moved from promising forty, to twenty and then six. In other words, broadcast news provided a 'he said, she said' style of reporting without any journalistic judgement about the merits of either position. By contrast, Reality Check explicitly labelled the claim as misleading and inaccurate, drawing on NHS Trust sources to verify their fact-checking. At the end of one Reality Check it was decisively stated: 'so it's not correct to suggest that 40 new hospitals are currently being built'. While BBC online did not directly call out the claim, it provided a hyperlink to a Reality Check article which read: 'Boris Johnson is constantly championing the 40 new hospitals he wants to see built.' In other words, an online reader would only be exposed to an explicit journalistic challenge if they were motivated enough to click through to the Reality Check item. It was only a specific fact-checking news item that challenged the dubious claim rather than allowing politicians to argue between

themselves during a heated election campaign. We will further discuss how audiences engaged with this lack of explicit fact-checking on television news in Chapter 7.

### Interpreting the Impartiality of Cross-National and Cross-Platform Fact-Checking

The concepts of impartiality, objectivity and balance have long been used within the news media industry to editorially explain a professional approach to the production of fair and even-handed journalism free from partisan influence (Barnett 2011; Barkho 2012; Cushion 2012; Schudson 1978; Tuchman 1972). In more recent years, they have become terms used to help counter false or questionable claims, mitigating the impact of populist politicians spreading misinformation. But, as this chapter has argued, terms such as impartiality, objectivity and balance have often been broadly invoked concepts and used interchangeably despite the fact they represent conflicting editorial practices and journalistic goals. Moreover, they can be applied differently in subtle but significant ways across media and political systems around the world (Barkho 2012; Hopmann et al. 2011). And yet, beyond isolated moments when the news media are under fire for producing so-called biased output – such as Gary Lineker's tweet criticising the language of the UK government's migration policy – there has been limited detailed empirical scrutiny of content which, over time, rigorously interrogates how balance, impartiality and objectivity have been applied and interpreted by different news media.

This chapter offered an original case study of how the BBC interpreted the UK's 'due impartiality' guidelines in its fact-checking of political statements in domestic and foreign reporting during the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns. It compared the level of scrutiny of claims on BBC television news bulletins, its online news and fact-checking websites. As explained in the introduction, the BBC prides itself on ensuring all its output - including domestic and foreign reporting, and broadcast and online content – is subject to the same level of impartial rigour. Our study represented, to date, one of the most forensic examinations of how impartiality affects the way political claims are reported and challenged by a news organisation to different degrees in its output, and across news platforms and websites (Hughes et al. 2023). We offered a new and unique approach to examining the correction of disinformation at a micro level rather than at a broad, macro level. This involved examining not stories but almost 1,000 individual claims by political leaders in news coverage and assessing whether they were questioned and, if so, the degree to which they were comparatively challenged.

Above all, our findings demonstrated that political claims were corrected more robustly in coverage of US than UK reporting of election campaigns, as well as on fact-checking sites compared to online news and especially television news bulletins. In our view, this suggests that the editorial boundaries of fact-checking were policed by how journalists' constructed impartiality according to whether they were reporting domestic or foreign elections, or on television, an online news site or a dedicated fact-checking website. At face value, it might be assumed that impartiality would be more robustly applied in a domestic context. After all, academic literature about journalistic sources and indexing theory has long suggested it would be easier for journalists to access domestic than international sources that could facilitate greater scrutiny of claims (Bennett 1990; Fishman 1980; Gandy 1982). But the more robust treatment of US rather than UK politicians is, in our view, a symptom of how impartiality is applied. Given how sensitively national politicians monitor the BBC and its reporting of domestic politics – the Lineker debacle being a case in point – reporters would understandably feel more emboldened to challenge the claims of foreign over national politicians. This can also explain why claims made by UK politicians were often left to domestic political rivals rather than journalists interrogating their respective statements. This meant that impartiality was applied by the construction of political balance rather than directly questioning the claims of a domestic politician. In the same vein, we found that television news largely adopted a 'he said, she said' approach to election reporting when compared to online news and a dedicated fact-checking website.

Since television news bulletins remain one of the most widely consumed information sources, journalists may be more reluctant to challenge claims than online news and fact-checking sites. Needless to say, television editors might retort that fact-checkers probe claims more vigorously because they have the time and resources to investigate and scrutinise political statements. But many of the claims television news could have challenged – such as correcting Conservative manifesto promises or several of Trump's egregious statements – had already been called out by BBC Reality Check or other fact-checking organisations. In other words, television news and, to a lesser extent, online news could either have drawn more effectively on the BBC's own internal fact-checking service or reviewed analysis in the public domain to challenge and counter false or misleading statements during the election. In our view, it is an editorial choice to stick to the 'he said, she said' style of reporting because it is a long-held convention of maintaining impartiality, which limits any allegations that journalists have taken political sides. As discussed in Chapter 1, however, this type of reporting can also create uncertainty and confusion and,

by extension, leave the public vulnerable to disinformation. Directly correcting claims, by contrast, represents a more aggressive application of impartiality because it risks upsetting the political class. Yet it results in holding politicians far more accountable for their statements and serves audiences more effectively because they are told more bluntly what is accurate, false or unclear.

Our study has broader relevance to debates about the journalistic use and value of impartiality and fact-checking in countering disinformation. While the concept of impartiality tends to have relatively fixed definitions both in academic literature and in editorial codes (Barkho 2012), we would argue it is a fluid term shaped by the political context in which it is interpreted and applied. More finely tuned research studies are needed to understand the nuances behind editorial choices, such as the degree to which false and misleading claims are comparatively dealt with by journalists and, where necessary, corrected to different degrees across news media. In doing so, empirical research can provide evidence-based interventions into how misinformation can be effectively countered by journalists.

The next section further develops the book's focus on the value of fact-checking journalism. It assesses the type of journalism produced by fact-checking online news sites and compares them with how conventional news on flagship broadcast programming report the same stories and issues during an election campaign and in routine coverage. In doing so, we further compare how the same claims were assessed by journalists working on fact-checking sites and television news bulletins, as well as the extent to which fact-checking is employed in television news bulletins.

### Fact-Checking in News Reporting

During the 2019 election campaign in the UK, the BBC came under heavy fire from critics questioning the impartiality of its reporting. As discussed in the previous chapter, accusations of so-called political bias in BBC editorial decision-making have long plagued the public service broadcaster over its 100year history. But this attack nonetheless prompted a high-profile response in the middle of the campaign from the Head of BBC News, Fran Unsworth. Writing in The Guardian, she began her defence of BBC coverage by emphatically stating 'We've ramped up our Reality Check service, fact-checking campaign claims' (Unsworth 2019). The article ended with a fierce rebuke to critics: 'And to those who have suggested we are somehow cowed or unconfident, let me assure you - we are not' (Unsworth 2019). By putting Reality Check at the heart of her defence of BBC impartiality, the head of the BBC News revealed – at a highly sensitive moment in time – the editorial significance it placed on using fact-checking as a means of holding parties to account and upholding impartial journalism. After all, during any democratic election campaign, journalists and editors face considerable scrutiny, including greater media regulation of its output (Cushion and Thomas 2018). But how far did Reality Check inform BBC journalism during the 2019 election campaign and beyond? And more broadly, how much does fact-checking around the world routinely inform newsrooms inside and outside election campaigns?

This chapter answers these questions, as well as developing a broader review of the evidence to date, about how far and in what ways fact-checking has been used to effectively challenge political claims and inform audiences about what is factually accurate or dubious. It is split into three parts. The first part begins by briefly contextualising the fact-checking literature, identifying how research has explored the role and value of fact-checking. In doing so, it shows that

much of this focus has been on the role of dedicated fact-checking organisations and the influence of partisan fact-checkers, strikingly from a US perspective. Less attention has been paid to how different political and media systems shape fact-checking. For example, there is a lack of fact-checking studies in non-Western nations where authoritarian governments influence editorial decisions, or among public service broadcasters, where there is a requirement to be impartial. We unpack the few studies that have examined how news media have incorporated fact-checking into their daily output, identifying how fact-checking has been produced across different media and political systems.

The rest of the chapter then draws on case studies about the fact-checking practices of UK public service broadcasters, including an analysis of news output and interviews with senior broadcasters who helped explain editorial judgements behind the selection and exclusion of stories and sources. As we discussed in Chapter 5, the UK has an overarching public service broadcasting system that is required to be impartial, allowing us to consider how factchecking journalism operates within the rules on impartiality. The second part of the chapter focuses on news produced by dedicated fact-checking sites during the 2019 general election, including BBC Reality Check, Channel 4's FactCheck and an independent organisation, Full Fact. The third part of the chapter explores the same fact-checking sites in 2021 through a more routine period, examining the degree to which their claims informed coverage on BBC and Channel 4 television news, and if they were covered by other flagship bulletins (ITV, Channel 5, Sky News). When the same claims were identified, we then compared the rigour and robustness of reporting to identify any differences between how broadcasters and fact-checkers held power to account. Taken together, we examined almost 1,000 articles between 2019 and 2021, alongside more than 2,500 claims, in order to systematically assess the extent and nature of how fact-checking informed journalism. The final part of this section then examines the first seven months of 2024 to assess how far fact-checking informs the BBC's News at Ten in routine coverage and during a UK general election. Since fact-checking has been championed as an important part of challenging claims and upholding impartiality – as the Head of BBC News claimed - our analysis can shed light on how impartiality was applied by fact-checking sites and broadcasters between 2019 and 2024.

## The Adoption of Fact-Checking as a Solution for Journalism around the World

Over recent decades, dedicated fact-checking organisations have gained notoriety for helping to counter false information and dubious claims. Fact-checking

research has predominantly focused on examining the impact correctives to political statements have on more effectively informing voters during election campaigns and improving public confidence and understanding of politics (Amazeen et al. 2018; Nyhan and Reifler 2010; Nyhan and Reifler 2015a; Nyhan et al. 2020). There has also been a recent growth in studies exploring the type of fact-checking sites, and their selection of topics, dissection of claims, and the degree to which they challenge statements (Amazeen et al. 2019; Graves 2016; Graves 2018; Graves and Cherubini 2016; Lim 2018a; Uscinski and Butler 2013). But the diverse range and formats of fact-checking sites has made it difficult to draw comprehensive conclusions about their role. For instance, a study of two US sites, Fact Checker and PolitiFact, discovered that they pursued a radically different agenda of topics to scrutinise, making it difficult to compare how they examined the same claims and reach particular judgements (Lim 2018b). At the same time, fact-checking studies have been quite narrow in design and focus. Above all, most research has centred on the US – a nation with a highly partisan political culture and media system – which makes it difficult to generalise about how fact-checkers operate and how the public respond to political claims being corrected.

In the US, Graves (2016) has observed a distinctiveness between professional and partisan fact-checkers. While there is a long-standing tradition of highly professional impartial American fact-checkers, over recent years sites driven by partisan interests have grown. This is a reflection of the US's highly polarised media and political system, with audiences increasingly turning to sites that reinforce rather than challenge their ideological perspectives. But there is a risk in fact-checking research of interpreting trends through a narrow American prism. After all, a meta-analysis of fact-checking studies discovered that, up until April 2018, 77 per cent of all research exclusively focused on the US (Neimenen and Rapeli 2019). Over very recent years, a small but significant body of scholarship about fact-checking has grown beyond the US, from across Africa and Europe, such as France, Norway and the UK (Barrera et al. 2020; Birks 2019a; Brandtzaeg et al. 2018; Cheruiyot and Ferrer-Conill 2018).

But there remain differences in fact-checking on a global level that need to be understood in their political and media context. As Feng et al. (2021, 1373) have argued, 'With the increasing trend of fact-checking intervention in undemocratic and semi-democratic societies ... we ... call for more studies on fact-checking practices beyond the context of Western democracies.' There has been evidence of states with authoritarian political systems using fact-checking to propagate their political support rather than to challenge misinformation and enhance public understanding. As Vinhas and Bastos (2022, 459) observed in a Turkish context, 'Instead of independently authenticating

sources or photographs, Fact-Checking Turkey supports the government line and seeks to discredit perceived criticism of President Recep Tayvip Erdoğan.' Meanwhile, Feng et al.'s (2021) analysis of two fact-checkers in Hong Kong – Kauvim and TrueNews - during the Anti-Extradition Law Amendment Bill Movement between 2019 and 2020 found their coverage was driven by partisan editorial biases. Their content analysis revealed stories were selectively chosen to suit their narratives, with limited explicit criticism and engagement of false or misleading claims. They also discovered that one site - Kauyim had a veneer of professionalism associated with it having gained media industry recognition. This may have helped deliver credibility and legitimacy when, in reality, it was helping to spread government misinformation which, in theory, it was designed to counter. This illustrates, according to the authors, that 'partisanship and elements of professionalism can co-exist. It [Kauvim] could be seen as a fact-checker with a clearly discernible political value orientation and a commitment to professionalism' (Feng et al. 2021, 1371). In other words, it cannot be normatively assumed that fact-checkers represent an independent and impartial service. Conversely, in authoritarian states where the government control news media, Zeng et al. (2019) argued that Chinese citizen-based movements have more effectively fact-checked than mainstream journalism, delivering more accurate accounts of the 2015 Tianjin explosions - which killed 176 people and injured several thousand more – than state officials. Their systematic and comparative analysis of police, media and independent citizen web posts concluded that

user comments demonstrated that the official narratives about the Tianjin blasts were widely challenged, and the credibility of the official rumour-debunking messages was commonly questioned. In order to verify the police's and state-media's rumour-debunking messages, Weibo users exhibited dedication and skill in curating information to accurately fact-check. (Zeng et al. 2019, 30)

Once again, it is important to acknowledge how political systems can influence media systems and, in turn, shape how fact-checking is carried out along with its wider effectiveness.

The value of fact-checking has been recognised by news media with long-standing journalistic principles of producing objective, accurate and balanced journalism. Many newsrooms – especially in Northern and Western Europe – have adopted their practices over recent years in order to develop their fact-checking journalism (Graves and Cherubini 2016, 8). But while fact-checking has been swept up in debates about reforming and revitalising

news reporting by encouraging more accountable journalism and upholding news standards in accuracy (Amazeen 2019; Graves 2016; Graves and Cherubini 2016), there has been limited empirical research examining how news organisations have developed new fact-checking conventions and practices. Moreover, few studies have explored how the topics and judgements of dedicated fact-checking organisations compare to how journalists working for news media have developed them across their online and broadcast journalism. In order to understand how fact-checking informs news media, we now unpack the limited number of studies around the world that have systematically examined content, including comparing journalistic practices with dedicated fact-checking organisations.

Humprecht (2020) carried out a cross-national study of independent fact-checkers and news media fact-checking across four nations - the UK, US, Germany and Austria - in order to explore any editorial differences between organisations. The focus, in particular, was on the degree of journalistic transparency and accountability in comparative fact-checking. This was measured in four ways, including if there were any links to: (1) external documents or sources, (2) news sites, (3) a data set or (4) visual evidence. They examined 651 fact-checks between 2016 and 2017, and discovered major differences in levels of transparency not just between different organisations, but cross-nationally too. Above all, the study found independent fact-checkers were 'more likely to make their sources transparent and thereby enable users to understand and trace back the process of correction' (Humprecht 2020, 322) than news organisations. Cross-nationally, the study revealed that American fact-checking was the most transparent with links to external documents and news sites, whereas Germany and Austria provided more information graphics and boxes than the UK or US. Overall, Humprecht (2020, 323) concluded that: 'Although online disinformation is a global phenomenon, practices of correction still seem to be shaped by national news cultures – in newsrooms as well as in independent organizations.'

A large study of different types of fact-checkers in the US – including news media organisations – further revealed the diverse range of conventions and practices that shape fact-checking within and across different organisational types. Drawing on 78 sites and 384 posts between 2010 and 2021, Kim and Buzzelli (2022) discovered a hybrid mix of styles and conventions in how they fact-checked. They found a higher standard of fact-checking in non-profit organisations because output was more informed by evidence, such as statistical reports, officials and expert sources. Kim and Buzzelli (2022) further uncovered that independent fact-checking organisations provided more transparent practices than news media organisations, which was interpreted as them needing to legitimate their fact-checking credentials in ways that jour-

nalists did not have to prove. Overall, their study suggested that there was a journalistic logic in news media that led to a lack of clear fact-checking judgements, source transparency and a narrative-led approach to story-telling. Or, put more bluntly, fact-checking among American news media sites was not delivered to the same high standards of many stand-alone, not-profit and dedicated US fact-checking organisations.

Another US focused study painted a longitudinal picture about the destructive influence of a journalistic logic shaping fact-checking output between 1992 and 2013. Examining the posts of ninety-eight sites over selected periods, including comparisons between news media organisations and dedicated fact-checkers, Lowrey (2017) suggested that declining standards in traditional mainstream journalism had a corrosive influence on the form and style of fact-checking. He argued that over time:

We see fact-checking moving into spaces that are less strongly shaped by a traditional journalistic logic – that are less detached, more personally expressive, and more integrated with entities outside the organization. Fact-checking on TV news is an example, as TV news is often more sensationalized and tightly coupled with market demands ... These trends suggest a rise in network logic and a waning of traditional detached journalistic logic. (Lowrey 2017, 390)

From this US perspective, when news media have adopted 'traditional' conventions from dedicated fact-checking organisations, their fact-checking has not been considered as robust and rigorous because of a commercial logic shaping editorial decision-making.

In the UK, two dedicated fact-checking editorial teams have been established at the public service media organisations, the BBC and Channel 4. They were both originally set up to cover election campaigns, but (as explored throughout this chapter) they have since expanded their agendas (Graves and Cherubini 2016; Kyriakidou and Cushion 2021). Channel 4's FactCheck, for example, launched in 2003 in the run-up to the 2005 general election, and has become a permanent fixture on its website (Graves and Cherubini 2016; Birks 2019b). Meanwhile, the BBC's Reality Check was launched ahead of the 2015 election campaign with its resources expanded after the EU referendum a year later (Samuels 2017). Both Reality Check and FactCheck compete with Full Fact, the largest independent fact-checker in the UK, launched in 2010 (Graves and Cherubini 2016). Needless to say, there are other fact-checking organisations in the UK along with fact-checking that informs news media. But, taken together, Reality Check, FactCheck and Full Fact represent perma-

nent fact-checking services, and claim to be independent and impartial in their judgements. For UK broadcasters, this is consistent with their own editorial standards and commitments to report news with 'due impartiality' (Kyriakidou and Cushion 2021).

To date, there has been little attention paid to how new dedicated fact-checkers have editorially operated compared to conventional news coverage of an election campaign or in routine reporting. Birks (2019b) carried out a content analysis of 176 articles and 232 tweets from FactCheck, Reality Check and Full Fact during the 2019 UK general election. She identified, above all, that factual claims were the most checked form of coverage, while theoretical claims and social facts were also covered but without much authority. Birks's findings showed over two thirds of fact-checks supplied a clear judgement about the veracity of claims checked, with other articles focused on explainers and background analysis. She also observed that claims featured on fact-checking sites reflected the wider election news agenda, with a focus on senior politicians. The findings help paint a broad picture of how fact-checking was carried out across three UK fact-checking sites.

However, in order to develop a more comprehensive assessment of fact-checking journalism, more research is needed to understand its production processes, its comparative output, and to more broadly interpret to what extent and in what ways its reporting is distinctive from conventional forms of mainstream news. Our brief review of the academic literature suggested that debates about fact-checking needed more comparative analysis of output and an interpretation of the editorial judgements that inform decision-making. The second section of the chapter now draws on an original case study that examines how fact-checking sites operated during the 2019 UK general election (Soo et al. 2023).

# The Role of Fact-Checking During the 2019 UK Election Campaign

The role and value of fact-checking has grown stronger over the last decade, with more scholarly recognition of how it can enhance journalism and counter political misinformation. But, as the previous section explored, further research is needed to identify more precisely how fact-checking is being used by broadcasters, how it informs reporting and holds parties and politicians to account. This chapter considers these questions by drawing on interviews with senior broadcasters from the BBC, ITV, Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky News, which we introduced in Chapter 1. The interviews included discussions about how fact-checking shaped routine journalism. This was particularly the case

in our interviews with the then editors of BBC Reality Check and Channel 4's FactCheck. In addition, we then draw on a systematic content analysis of the websites of BBC Reality Check and Channel 4's FactCheck during the campaign (between 6 November and 12 December 2019), as well as of Full Fact. This site was included in order to compare and contrast the editorial decisions of professional fact-checkers with fact-checking carried out by journalists working for public service broadcasters. We examined how articles were fact-checked, the claims under investigation, the topics addressed, the sources selected, the degree to which claims were interrogated and the type of judgement delivered (Soo et al. 2023).

The value and significance of fact-checking was recognised by all senior editors at BBC, ITV, Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky News. While they all, in different ways, acknowledged that fact-checking has always been part of a reporter's job, they agreed that a dedicated fact-checking service could enhance the scrutiny of claims. But, as several interviewees pointed out, this was not always possible in routine reporting given the time and resource constraints of newsrooms. Paul Royall, then editor of the BBC 6 and 10 television news bulletins, believed that there was

a really high premium now on that [fact-checking], for obvious reasons. I think that it's a real key core function for BBC News to be able to rigorously check and contextualise information and I definitely think that audiences, because they're surrounded now by a world of information from multiple sources and places, and particularly in the digital space where you literally might skim over something but you might still absorb the statement that you're just literally flicking through.

Likewise, Jon Snow, the veteran Channel 4 News anchor, considered fact-checking 'Fundamental. It's one of the new resources we do have. We have invested in fact-checking and at least then you have an objective truth which you can work to.' However, the disparity in fact-checking resources between broadcasters was pointed out by several interviewees. Above all, the BBC's small army of fact-checkers were often referenced enviously by editors across more commercially orientated broadcasters. The then BBC Reality Check editor, Rupert Carey, told us that he had a fixed team of thirteen editors and fact-checkers, which included those involved in fact-checking internationally. During the 2019 election campaign, he also revealed they had recruited someone from the Office of National Statistics on secondment to help them interpret data. Of the permanent members of the Reality Check team, Carey explained they were all journalists but had expert knowledge with

different specialisms. So there's a guy who's from business but is very good with stats. I'd say actually a lot of the team, because they have to do their own original research, are really good with reading Excel spreadsheets and they're all quite numerate as well, but we've also got people whose expertise is public policy or health. There's expertise within the team and obviously Chris [Morris, the main presenter of Reality Check] has been a Brussels correspondent in the past.

While BBC Reality Check had ample resources and expertise at its disposal, Channel 4's FactCheck employed a permanent editorial team of just two staff during the election campaign. At the time, this included the editor, Patrick Worrall, and full-time researcher Georgina Lee. As we now explore, the resources available to fact-checking departments help explain the amount of claims they were able to examine and analyse during the campaign.

Several studies have tracked the topics of fact-checking stories (Birks 2019a; Birks 2019b; Uscinski and Butler 2013). But our analysis went beyond the issues being assessed in order to develop new ways of categorising the format and function of fact-checking coverage (Soo et al. 2023). We created five categories. First, a conventional fact-checking article, which takes claims and delivers some form of judgement about them. Second, a brief article which in roughly five sentences or fewer addresses a claim or issue. Third, an analysis article, which breaks down a claim but does not deliver a verdict about it. Fourth, an explainer article, which provides context and background to claims but with no verdict or analysis of them. Fifth, a question asked by a member of the public, which Full Fact included on its website. We analysed all election fact-checking items over the campaign and categorised them according to these variables.

Table 6.1 shows a total of 211 election-related articles that were identified over the campaign period, including ninety from Reality Check, twenty-three from FactCheck and ninety-eight from Full Fact.

Table 6.1	The format of	articles feature	d on fact-c	checking sites	during the
2019 UK g	eneral election	campaign			

Types of article	BBC Reality Check	Channel 4 Fact Check	Full Fact	Total
Fact-checking	26	11	56	93
Brief	47	/	8	55
Analysis	16	12	8	36
Explainer	1		7	8
Audience question	/	/	19	19
Total	90	23	98	211

Due to the size of the editorial team and their resources, Reality Check and Full Fact supplied far more fact-checking coverage than Channel 4's FactCheck. While Full Fact featured the most dedicated fact-checking articles, Reality Check supplied the most briefs. We examined all articles to establish if they were based on a single claim or multiple claims, and found that, across all three sites, most – approximately two thirds – involved investigating a specific claim.

Across the three sites, there was a range of topics addressed during the election campaign. But, above all, many of the articles related to the parties' agendas. This was most explicitly evidenced by roughly a third of all articles focusing on the parties' manifesto promises, while many of the policies fact-checked – notably on health, taxation, the economy and Brexit – reflected the specific pledges of parties. In contrast to the broadcasters, the independent fact-checking site, Full Fact, featured dubious claims found on social media, with nearly all of them about party politics and the election campaign. Both editors of Reality Check and FactCheck in 2019 acknowledged it was difficult to broadly explain how stories were selected, but they were open about their agendas being driven by responding to the parties' claims during the campaign. Patrick Worrall, editor of Channel 4 FactCheck, revealed his team

focused on looking for a lie to expose, that's essentially what we're doing. Somebody's told a lie and we're going to try and expose it ... So we're sitting there scanning the airwaves and we're looking at the big set-piece speeches and we're trying to look at things that are bubbling up on social media, all kinds of things, the things that people are Tweeting ... And the kind of questions we'd be asking ourselves are, is it a big lie, is it consequential? Is it like a tiny little slip? Is it a deliberate lie, is it seen to be something that's deliberate? ... And the other thing we'd have in mind, to a slight extent is, are we being even-handed? Obviously the question would be like, have we just been fact-checking stories carried out by the Labour Party, the Conservative Party?

When asked about how his team selected fact-checking stories, BBC editor of Reality Check, Rupert Carey, singled out being

heavily involved with the manifesto launches. So if you get a manifesto being launched, a key policy, someone stands up and says 40 new hospitals, 20,000 more police, that's unavoidable and you know that's a claim that you have to fact-check, that warrants being fact-checked. I think, even aside from those big moments, there were still phone-ins. Boris, Jeremy

Corbyn did phone-ins to Five Live and Five Live and News channels hooked up and simulcast them. We did all those as well. We had a team, a smaller team monitoring digital ads. So I got a producer from here to work with a producer from BBC Monitoring to monitor what was going out beyond the airwaves. So I'm not sure there was ever a moment where I was sat back in my chair thinking what are we going to do today?

The interviews with the fact-checking editors further revealed how they selected sources used to verify claims. They both said the process was similar to routine reporting, with authoritative expert sources used to interpret the veracity of claims and supply wider context and analysis. For example, in the words of the Reality Check Editor:

It's most straightforward if there are stats involved. We would go to ONS [Office of National Statistics], we go to the OBR [Office for Budget Responsibility], we go to the IFS (Institute of Fiscal Studies] – we tend to use those an awful lot. We would go to obviously individual Government departments. If it's crime, you go to the Home Office for the latest stats. If it's health, NHS Digital ... when you come to economics, you've got the IFS, you've got the OBR. I don't think we would necessarily just use one in isolation. So you might in an article about the gig economy or something, you might use the IFS, you might use the Resolution Foundation. In a sense, we've got the stats that we've got ... I would class all of those as pretty much the gold standard, if you like, and they're used across the BBC. I'm less comfortable, for example, with going to individual bits of academic research because you never quite know where they're getting their funding from, whether they've reached a conclusion that isn't supported by other research. So, particularly if you're trying to do things in a limited time period, I wouldn't deviate from that pattern.

The relatively narrow range of sources used to inform fact-checking reflects long-standing research that has shown it tends to be elite, institutional actors that inform journalism (Franklin and Carlson 2011). In other words, fact-checking that is embedded in broadcast media reproduced well-established journalistic practices.

The content analysis study revealed that the sources used by Reality Check, FactCheck and Full Fact during the campaign were from UK government departments and politicians (see Tables 6.2 and 6.3) (Soo et al. 2023). It shows, above all, that fact-checkers drew heavily on data from non-ministerial government departments (which operate at arm's length of the UK government),

**Table 6.2** The percentage of sources used in 2019 election-related articles with single claims in UK fact-checking sites (N in brackets)

Source category	BBC Reality Check	Channel 4 FactCheck	Full Fact	Total
Non-ministerial government department/statutory agency/ public body	21.1% (12)	11.9% (5)	34.4% (45)	27.0% (62)
Ministerial government department	8.8% (5)	14.3% (6)	19.8% (26)	16.1% (37)
Politician/Political party	19.3% (11)	35.7% (15)	6.1% (8)	14.8% (34)
Think tank	8.8% (5)	16.7% (7)	9.2% (12)	10.4% (24)
Journalist/Media	5.3% (3)	9.5% (4)	6.9% (9)	7.0% (16)
EU Institution/regulations/ MEP	8.8% (5)	/	6.1% (8)	5.7% (13)
Charity	7.0% (4)	2.4% (1)	4.6% (6)	4.8% (11)
Academic	1.8% (1)	7.1% (3)	3.8% (5)	3.9% (9)
Non-UK Politician/ government	/	2.4% (1)	2.3% (3)	1.7% (4)
Pollster/Opinion polls	5.3% (3)	/	0.8% (1)	1.7% (4)
Local council	1.8% (1)	/	1.5% (2)	1.3% (3)
Business	/	/	2.3% (3)	1.3% (3)
Campaigner/Pressure Group	1.8% (1)	/	1.5% (2)	1.3% (3)
Economist	1.8% (1)	/	0.8% (1)	0.9% (2)
Other/Unknown	3.5% (2)	/	/	0.9% (2)
Trade union/Association	3.5% (2)	/	/	0.9% (2)
IGO/NGO	1.8% (1)	/	/	0.4% (1)
Total	100% (57)	100% (42)	100% (131)	100% (230)

public bodies, or statutory agencies (as officially defined by the UK government), such as the House of Commons Library and Office of National Statistics, followed by ministerial government departments (such as the Department of Work and Pensions), politicians or political parties, then think tanks, journalists or the media, and EU institutions or regulators. It was the broadcasters – rather than Full Fact – that relied most extensively on political sources, suggesting their coverage was institutionally tied to formal party politics compared to the independent fact-checking site.

The final part of the study examined the verdict of all claims addressed by the three fact-checking sites, asking whether they were challenged or

**Table 6.3** The percentage of sources used in 2019 election-related articles with multiple claims in UK fact-checking sites (N in brackets)

Source category	BBC Reality Check	Channel 4 FactCheck	Full Fact	Total
Non-ministerial government department/ statutory agency/public body	27.8% (30)	20.0% (4)	26.5% (72)	26.5% (106)
Ministerial government department	20.4% (22)	5.0% (1)	24.3% (66)	22.3% (89)
Think tank	14.8% (16)	10.0% (2)	12.1% (33)	12.8% (51)
Politician/Political party	12.0% (13)	25.0% (5)	7.4% (20)	9.5% (38)
Charity	3.7% (4)	5.0% (1)	5.9% (16)	5.3% (21)
Academic	1.9% (2)	5.0% (1)	5.1% (14)	4.3% (17)
Journalist/Media	1.9% (2)	/	4.4% (12)	3.5% (14)
EU Institution/regulations/ MEP	1.9% (2)	/	3.3% (9)	2.8% (11)
IGO/NGO	4.6% (5)	/	2.2% (6)	2.8% (11)
Non-UK Politician/ government	2.8% (3)	/	1.5% (4)	1.8% (7)
Trade union/Association	1.9% (2)	5.0% (1)	1.1% (3)	1.5% (6)
Pollster/Opinion polls	2.8% (3)	5.0% (1)	0.7% (2)	1.5% (6)
Law enforcement agencies	0.9% (1)	/	1.8% (5)	1.5% (6)
Business	0.9% (1)	/	1.5% (4)	1.3% (5)
Other/unknown	/	10.0% (2)	1.1% (3)	1.3% (5)
Campaigner/Pressure group	1.9% (2)	/	0.7% (2)	1.0% (4)
Economist	/	10.0% (2)	0.4% (1)	0.8% (3)
Total	100.0% (108)	100.0% (20)	100.0% (272)	100.0% (400)

verified, or whether their verdict was unclear. It found more than two thirds of fact-checking or analysis articles challenged claims (see Table 6.4), with Channel 4 by far delivering the most decisive verdicts. Approximately a fifth of articles had an unclear verdict across the three sites, while between 4 per cent and 17 per cent of fact-checking claims once viewed as suspicious were verified as being accurate.

The editor of Reality Check and FactCheck believed it was important to be impartial when investigating a claim – rather than being too 'gung-ho' when

**Table 6.4** The percentage of articles with different verdicts by fact-checking sites during the 2019 UK general election campaign

Verdict	Fact-Checking	Analysis	Total
BBC Reality Chec	ck		
Challenged	73%	56%	67%
Unclear	8%	44%	21%
Verified	19%	/	12%
Total	100%	100%	100%
Channel 4 FactCh	eck		
Challenged	91%	67%	78%
Unclear	/	33%	17%
Verified	9%	/	4%
Total	100%	100%	100%
Full Fact			
Challenged	63%	75%	63%
Unclear	18%	25%	19%
Verified	20%	/	17%
Total	100%	100%	100%
Total for all sites			
Challenged	69%	64%	67%
Unclear	13%	36%	19%
Verified	18%	/	13%
Total	100%	100%	100%

delivering fact-checking verdicts. Patrick Worral, then editor of Channel 4's FactCheck, explained that the site does not subscribe to a conventional way of fact-checking. In his words:

... what a lot of fact-checking sites do is they have a kind of template, and they often do a kind of thing where they'll award like a claim like three stars out of five. So we've very deliberately not done that because we just kind of realised after a while this is silly, we're just trapping ourselves into an artificial kind of framework here that doesn't necessarily aid the reader very much. And sometimes it is just a case that the claim is so complicated that it really is just too simplistic to try and say it's straightforwardly a lie or the opposite of that, or even any kind of rating. So this probably sounds very pompous but it's somewhat like a coroner delivering a narrative verdict, where the only way that you can explain it to

the best of your ability is to write an explanation of what you think has happened.

Similarly, Reality Check editor, Rupert Carey, questioned an Americanstyle approach to fact-checking and admitted: 'I'm not particularly a fan of the truthometer ... Trump is great for US broadcasts because it's either ten, he's completely wrong, or one or two, he's quite but not completely right.' This editorial resistance to being clear-cut with fact-checking decisions helped explain why roughly a fifth of verdicts were unclear (see Table 6.4).

Taken together, our election study found that broadcasters largely centred their fact-checking on party political agendas during the campaign, drawing on a narrow range of institutional sources to interrogate dubious claims (Soo et al. 2023). Full Fact, an independent fact-checking site, were less tied to party campaigns or political sources, questioning many claims from social media. In order to further explore the use of fact-checking by broadcasters, we now examine how integrated they were with other news divisions within the organisation and consider in more detail how claims were analysed and judgements delivered outside of election time.

## Fact-Checking across Online and Television Platforms: The Case of UK Broadcasters

The chapter began by referencing the Head of BBC News's claim that its fact checking service, Reality Check, was 'ramped up' during the 2019 UK general election campaign, playing a crucial role in holding parties to account by challenging any dubious political claims (Unsworth 2019). But how much value do editors place in Reality Check and how much does it inform BBC journalism? And, more broadly, how much is fact-checking used by broadcast media in their coverage? In this section, we first explore these questions through our interviews with senior broadcasters. We then draw on a systematic content analysis of three fact-checking sites – BBC Reality Check, Channel 4 FactCheck and the independent site, Full Fact – throughout 2021 to explore the claims they checked, how they verified and challenged them, and – most importantly – how far these fact-checks informed television and online coverage more broadly. Or, put more simply, how much do the claims dedicated fact-checkers investigate inform routine news reporting?

At face value, senior editors at the BBC considered Reality Check to be a vital and much-needed journalistic service at a time of widespread political misinformation. But our interviews suggested that the Reality Check team was not at the front and centre of the BBC's main newsroom, driving editorial

decision-making about the latest stories. Reality Check, instead, was used in a more reactive way, and was called upon when it was editorially needed. For example, Katy Searle, then Head of Politics at the BBC, explained how during the election campaign the Reality Check team would be contacted after morning or afternoon editorial meetings when it was felt an issue needed to be investigated in detail, such as the claims put out by parties in their manifesto promises. Once the Reality Check examined a claim, its judgement would then go online and across social media, which could then inform BBC output more generally. Paul Royall, then editor of the BBC's 6pm and 10pm bulletins, revealed that the BBC Reality Check team changed their working hours to ensure they were better equipped to fact-check later in the day when parties put out contentious claims, which they could analyse for the next day's news cycle. But Katy Searle acknowledged there were limitations of prominently fact-checking in real time or in live programming. In her words:

You can't stop every five seconds and say hang on a minute, what we really mean is this. You have to try to the best of your ability within the structure of programme, headlines and all the challenges within that to be very clear about the questions surrounding any claim.

The editor of Reality Check, Rupert Carey, admitted his team received 'a steady stream of emails' from BBC colleagues about exploring dubious claims during the election campaign. But while there was a lot of demand for the main Reality Check presenter, Chris Morris, to appear on BBC radio programmes and its news channel, Rupert Carey went on to reveal that:

I wouldn't say in terms of the 6 and 10, the mainstream bulletins, that's one area where we could have got on more [BBC Reality Check], but then I think it's always quite difficult for those bulletins ... which have a certain amount of time. Once you've factored in, we've got to run something on Labour, we've got to run something on the Tories, we've got to do right by the nations, we've got to get a people piece, we've got to get three chunks of live analysis; it does narrow down the window for a bit of fact-checking. That's a consideration, I think.

In other words, while fact-checking was considered to be a valued part of BBC journalism, mainstream programmes found it difficult to integrate it into their routine conventions and practices. This was partly driven by the impartial approach to storytelling – in balancing competing party political claims and correspondent live analysis – which ultimately limited the space for dedicated

fact-checking. The BBC would need to deviate from these norms of impartial reporting in order to more prominently elevate fact-checking above the competing statements of politicians. But whether there is the editorial appetite to restructure political reporting is debatable. Katy Searle, for example, believed that it was not up to the BBC to 'decide what the public should hear from political parties in terms of what their messages are, particularly in a campaign ... in a democracy they have the right to say what they want to put', which can then be challenged. From this perspective, it would appear difficult for fact-checking to be routinised into political coverage, especially at election time.

More broadly, the lack of integration between Reality Check and the main BBC newsrooms and programme production teams arguably limited the degree to which fact-checking can regularly inform output across broadcast media. This separation often meant dedicated fact-checking services operated in isolation, with their output used on social media, online and fleetingly in certain broadcast programmes. However, Channel 4's FactCheck Editor, Patrick Worrall, pointed out that his team's work informed anchors and reporters privately, which then had an impact on broadcast programming. When specifically asked about how his fact-checking shaped TV content, he responded:

there's a mutual thing where that happens where, let's say for example, Jon Snow [former Channel 4 News Anchor] is interviewing a government minister – in fact Government Ministers won't be interviewed by him at the moment, as you probably know, but theoretically. He might come across to us and say I believe you've written a fact-check blog about this and we'll end up giving him a briefing, of setting him up with the right questions that we think he ought to be asking, or aiding him understanding, or if the Minister comes out with this, this is the right question to ask because they've used this line before and we think it's not true. So it feeds in like that.

In other words, fact-checking might not directly shape news output, but indirectly it can inform anchors and correspondents when reporting issues and events.

Throughout 2021, we examined just how far dedicated fact-checking on the BBC Reality Check and Channel 4 FactCheck informed either their television news or online coverage. Drawing on a content analysis, we examined 355 items across the UK's three main UK fact-checkers including BBC Reality Check, Channel 4 FactCheck and Full Fact, and assessed whether five different television news bulletins over the same time period reported the same political claims and, if they did, whether they subjected them to the same journalistic

rigour and scrutiny (Morani et al. 2024). Taken together, we assessed 705 news items on UK television news and specialist fact-checking websites and examined 2,373 political claims between 20 April and 31 July 2021.

Of the 355 fact-checking items we examined, 59.7 per cent (N = 212) were produced by Full Fact, 33.2 per cent by BBC Reality Check (N = 118) and 7.0 per cent by Channel 4 FactCheck. Once every fact-checking item and all the claims in them were identified, we examined the UK's five flagship television news bulletins - the BBC News at Ten, ITV News at Ten, Channel 4 at 7pm, Channel 5 at 5pm and Sky News at Ten – over the same time period. We assessed whether television news had covered the same claims as dedicated fact-checking teams and whether they treated them in the same way. In doing so, every claim was systematically examined and quantified according to the type of source scrutinising the claim, the nature and degree of scrutiny by a journalist or a source, and the clarity of the journalistic verdict. In order to assess the degree with which different claims were scrutinised in coverage, we interpreted them as 'interactions' where either a journalist or an external source explicitly or partially/implicitly challenged or validated a claim. When a claim featured in coverage, but was not challenged or validated, this was labelled a null interaction.

Our analysis of the UK's fact-checking sites reinforced the findings produced during the 2019 election campaign, with contrasting topic agendas and editorial approaches between Reality Check, FactCheck and Full Fact. Full Fact, for example, largely focused on countering disinformation on social media – making up 83 per cent of its articles – in contrast to the broadcasters' fact-checking sites which examined a broader range of topics related to public health, Brexit and the environment. Meanwhile, Full Fact produced conventional fact-checking items - reflecting 93.9 per cent of its articles - BBC Reality Check went beyond standard fact-checking (21.2 per cent), including 'analysis' pieces (22.9 per cent), 'explainers' (36.4 per cent) and brief posts (19.5 per cent). In doing so, just one in ten – 9.7 per cent – Reality Check claims had a verdict at the heart of its story, whereas 85.2 per cent of Full Fact items had a decisive judgement at the top of the article. On investigating the comparative level of scrutiny further, we discovered that 83 per cent of Full Fact interactions with claims were explicit challenges, while just over half - 56 per cent - were on Channel4's FactCheck and 40 per cent on Reality Check. The BBC had the highest proportion of implicit/partial instances of challenges (33 per cent), suggesting a reluctance to deliver clearcut fact-checking verdicts. Overall, we found different agendas, editorial styles and journalistic scrutiny between the UK's main fact-checking sites. But how did the fact-checkers' agendas compare with flagship television news bulletins,

<b>Table 6.5</b> The percentage of items and claims reported by UK fact-
checking websites and television news bulletins (BBC News at Ten and
Channel 4 at 7pm) (N in brackets)

Platform	No TV coverage	Story match with no corresponding match claim	Story match with corresponding claim match	Total
BBC Reality Check	56.8% (67)	22.9% (27)	20.3% (24)	100% (118)
C4 News FactCheck	60.0% (15)	12.0% (3)	28.0% (7)	100% (25)
Full Fact	92.5% (196)	4.2% (9)	3.3% (7)	100% (212)
Total	78.3% (278)	11.0% (39)	10.7% (38)	100% (355)

and to what degree did broadcasters apply the same level of scrutiny on claims examined?

Table 6.5 shows that the majority of stories covered by fact-checkers were not reported by television news bulletins. While this was understandable for Full Fact – which largely focused on social media disinformation – Reality Check and FactCheck pursued a domestic policy agenda and were part of the same news organisation as broadcasters.

But many of the same stories reported on BBC and Channel 4 did not include claims scrutinised by dedicated fact-checkers. For instance, in coverage of Prime Minister's Questions, a high profile weekly political event at Westminster, Reality Check questioned many of the claims exchanged between the two main party leaders. But the BBC *News at Ten* stuck to a largely 'he said, she said' approach to political reporting, featuring the perspectives of the prime minister and the leader of the opposition with limited scrutiny of their respective claims and counterclaims. While time and resources have often been used as an explanation for why broadcasters cannot subject claims to a great deal of scrutiny, the Reality Check item was published before the BBC *News at Ten* aired. In other words, there was an opportunity for BBC fact-checking online to inform BBC broadcast news output.

Overall, we found that just 20.3 per cent of items on BBC News at Ten and 28.0 per cent on Channel 4's nightly bulletin included a claim either from Reality Check, FactCheck or Full Fact in their coverage over a sixweek period. To widen the television news analysis, we also examined ITV News at Ten, Channel 5 News at 5 and Sky News at Ten in order to compare how the same claims on the fact-checking sites were reported by different television news bulletins (see Table 6.6). Every type of editorial interaction with a political statement was assessed, including whether it was a journalist or external source challenging or validating a claim. We discovered that fact-

checking items included more challenges or validations to claims (N=269) than broadcast items (N=223) despite only examining half the number of claims (N=100) than television news coverage (N=208). Put simply, television news challenged political claims less frequently and robustly than fact-checking sites.

Table 6.6 reveals how fact-checking sites scrutinised politicians far more than television news bulletins, with over half of claims on TV – 53.8 per cent – left unchallenged by broadcasters. It also shows, compared to television news, fact-checking items challenged more claims explicitly or implicitly, or validated them in some way. In short, fact-checking journalism more routinely held power to account than television news bulletins by applying more scrutiny of politicians' claims and challenging dubious claims.

A few indicative stories help illustrate the differences in how television news and fact-checking sites reported the same political events. For example, in the coverage of the Queen's Speech debate on 12 May 2021 - which is an annual parliamentary event that lays out the government's agenda for the upcoming year - television news bulletins largely focused on the process of the ceremony and parliamentary procedures, while fact-checkers forensically dissected the policy announcements. When an issue was reported on television news, political reporting largely reverted back to the tit-for-tat approach between the two main leaders with minimal journalistic questioning of claims. Channel 5 produced a series of vox pops about social care policies, but at no point were any political or public claims fact-checked. As another example, on 11 June 2021 BBC's Reality Check closely analysed claims by the then health secretary, Matt Hancock, about the government's handling of the pandemic. But on BBC News at Ten two claims made about care home discharges and a lockdown extension went unchallenged. Television coverage instead was more personal, asking whether Hancock was a liar or not rather

**Table 6.6** Percentage of claims scrutinised across fact-checking sites and television news bulletins (N in brackets)

Extent of interaction with political claim	Fact- checking	TV	Total
Explicit challenge	35.7% (96)	27.8% (62)	32.1% (158)
No interaction with claim	4.5% (12)	53.8% (120)	26.8% (132)
Partial/Implicit challenge	37.2% (100)	13.5% (30)	26.4% (130)
Partial validation	13.4% (36)	1.3% (3)	7.9% (39)
Validation	9.3% (25)	3.6% (8)	6.7% (33)
Total	100% (269)	100% (223)	100% (492)

than dissecting the health secretary's specific policy claims. Some of the other bulletins also featured claims fact-checked on Reality Check, but yet again there was limited scrutiny of claims with many left unchallenged or unvalidated in some way.

The comparative content analysis further revealed that fact-checkers drew on a far wider range of sources to help assess the veracity of claims compared to television news (see Table 6.7). As previously acknowledged, a majority of claims on television news went unchallenged, with either no external source or journalists offering any scrutiny of them. When claims were inspected, it tended to be rival politicians responding to them (promoting a 'he said, she said' approach to reporting) and, to a lesser degree, journalists examining them. By contrast, fact-checking sites drew on a far broader range of information-rich sources, whether from institutional political sources, or scientific experts, including academics from universities and think tanks. Online news, in this respect, was able to draw on hyperlinks and on-screen graphics to help inform coverage, which was more difficult to achieve on television given its format and structure.

Taken together, our analysis shows that while editors considered fact-checking divisions to be central to their journalism, the claims they routinely

Table 6.7	The percentage of top ten sources used to scru	itinise claims on
television n	ews bulletins and fact-checking platforms (N in	n brackets)

Source of interaction with claim	Fact- checking	TV	Total
No interaction	4.5% (12)	53.8% (120)	26.8% (132)
Journalist/Analysis (internal)	31.2% (84)	13.9% (31)	23.4% (115)
UK politician/political party/government	8.9% (24)	16.6% (37)	12.4% (61)
Ministerial government department	10.0% (27)	0.4% (1)	5.7% (28)
Non-ministerial government department / statutory agency / public body	7.8% (21)	3.1% (7)	5.7% (28)
Scientist/health/medical expert/SAGE	8.6% (23)	0.4% (1)	4.9% (24)
UK Parliament	5.2% (14)	/	2.8% (14)
Academic	4.5% (12)	0.9 % (2)	2.8% (14)
IGO/NGO	4.1% (11)	/	2.2% (11)
Think tank	3.0% (8)	/	1.6% (8)
Other	12.2% (33)	10.6% (24)	11.4% (57)
Total	100% (269)	100% (223)	100% (492)

checked were not widely included in television news output. When they were covered, the same claims were not treated to the same levels of interrogation and rigour as they were by fact-checking sites. Over half of the same claims assessed on television were left without any interrogation, often representing a tit-for-tat exchange, leaving it largely to politicians to argue between themselves without much journalistic mediation, let alone any challenge to their perspectives. Fact-checking coverage, by contrast, relied twice as much on their journalists as television news to directly scrutinise claims.

# Fact-Checking in 2024 and During the UK's Election Campaign: A Case Study of BBC News at Ten

The chapter has largely drawn on analysis of fact-checking undertaken during the 2019 election campaign and against the backdrop of the COVID-19 health crisis. We therefore updated our analysis in 2024 to assess whether the role of fact-checking had become a more prominent part of broadcast news programming or if it remained a service delivered mostly online or across social media platforms. As previously explained, the BBC rebranded its fact-checking service, Reality Check, into Verify in 2023, creating a larger team that operated more centrally within the BBC's newsgathering team. The Reality Check team had largely worked outside of the BBC's main newsroom (Soo et al. 2023). In order to explore whether the launch of Verify enhanced factchecking coverage on broadcast programming, we analysed all references to the new service over seven months (between 1 January and 3 July 2024) on the BBC's evening flagship bulletin, News at Ten. This involved systematically examining a routine period of almost five months (between January and June 2024) as well as during a six-week election campaign (between 30 May and 3 July) after a general election was announced. Overall, we examined News at Ten coverage in order to assess how and to what extent the BBC Verify team informed reporting on the evening flagship bulletin. Needless to say, we can only quantify explicit references to Verify. It could be that the fact-checking service informed BBC journalism behind the scenes, but we could not assess this unless Verify was namechecked.

On the BBC *News at Ten* between 1 January and 3 July 2024, Verify covered twenty-five fact-checking issues (see Table 6.8). Put another way, in approximately one in seven BBC *News at Ten* programmes, Verify was used to fact-check an issue. Of the twenty-five fact-checking issues covered, sixteen of them related to international conflicts, such as events happening in Ukraine or Palestine, while the remaining nine were about UK domestic politics. Apart from one item about the UK government's budget in March 2024, all of BBC

Table 6.8 The number of references to Verify fact-checking on BBC News
at Ten between 1 January and 3 July 2024

Month	Number of Verify references by days of month	If Verify referenced, what was fact-checked?
January	2/31	2 international items: Palestine-Israel (2)
February	7/29	7 international items: conflicts in Palestine-Israel (3), Yemen (1), Ukraine-Russia (2) and Kazakhstan (1).
March	3/31	2 international items and one domestic item: Palestine-Israel (1), Ukraine-Russia (1) and UK politics (1)
April	2/30	2 international items: Palestine-Israel (1) and Ukraine-Russia (1)
May (22 May general election announced)	3/31	3 international issues: Palestine-Israel (2) and Saudi Arabia (1)
June	8/30 (in six bulletins)	8 domestic issues: legal migration (2), taxation (3), economy (2) and public opinion polls (1)
July (until 3rd)	0/3	
Total	25/185	16 international issues and 9 domestic issues

Verify's fact-checking on the BBC *News at Ten* appeared during the election campaign in June 2024.

Taken together, the findings demonstrate that the BBC's new fact-checking service in 2024 was used occasionally rather than routinely on its high-profile broadcast news bulletin. When it was used, Verify tended to cover international issues, such as examining the veracity of claims made by foreign militaries, including on social media, in relation to conflicts in Ukraine, Palestine and Yemen. By contrast, the claims of domestic politicians were not routinely fact-checked by Verify on the BBC *News at Ten*.

However, after a general election was called in May 2024, the number of domestic items fact-checked by Verify spiked in June, with policy claims in areas such as migration, taxation and economy subject to fact-checking analysis. The most prominent fact-check related to a Conservative claim – made more than ten times by Rishi Sunak, the then prime minister, in the first televised leaders' debate during the campaign – that a future Labour government would cost households  $\pounds 2,000$  more in tax. Despite Conservative politicians claiming the figures were generated by the civil service, Treasury officials

stated they had not been calculated independently. Moreover, the civil service also pointed out that they had warned the government about making this misleading claim and the UK Statistics Authority had questioned the claim.

Analysis throughout the book has shown broadcasters have tended to be quite cautious in calling out a claim by one political party, particularly during an election campaign. They instead drew on competing party political perspectives to provide balanced coverage. As argued in Chapter 5, this editorial approach was consistent with how journalists adhered to the UK's legal requirement to report impartially. But there is some evidence to suggest that broadcasters adopted a more assertive approach to impartiality during the 2024 general election campaign. This approach, according to BBC journalist, Ros Atkins (2023), represents a forthright and fact-driven approach to debunking claims, which he often did in five-minute explainers that appeared on the BBC News channel and then on its evening bulletins.

A more explicit approach to BBC journalism questioning political claims was evident in how the £2,000 Labour tax allegation was dealt with on the News at Ten. For example, the BBC Political Editor, Chris Mason, described the Conservative claims live on air as 'misleading' and 'dubious' - a departure from the typically cautious language adopted by broadcasters during the 2019 general election (see Chapter 5). A BBC Verify reporter broke down the Conservative Party's alleged figures and identified where its political advisors had influenced the calculations. But beyond the fact-check about taxation, BBC Verify also examined the parties' economic plans and migration figures in similarly robust language, decisively providing judgements about their veracity.

Despite the spike in fact-checking stories on the BBC News at Ten ahead of the 2024 general election, it remains to be seen whether this represents a new approach to covering domestic political issues or a temporary response to covering dubious campaign claims. While the BBC ramped up its use of Verify on the BBC News at Ten, the fact-checking service still only appeared in six programmes out of a possible thirty-five days of coverage – approximately one in six episodes overall - during the official campaign period. A more regular slot for BBC Verify during the campaign might signal a more fully fledged shift towards embracing fact-checking on the public service broadcaster's flagship bulletin.

#### Towards More Fact-Checking in Broadcast News Reporting

This chapter focused on the extent to which news media have incorporated dedicated fact-checking into their reporting and, where they have, the nature

of their journalistic practices. It began by exploring the growth of studies examining fact-checking sites, and how different media and political systems have shaped their agenda and independence. Most attention has been paid to the US, and the rise of new partisan fact-checkers that reflect the increasingly polarised American political and media system over recent years. But beyond the US, the chapter considered how research on fact-checking needs to be de-westernised, and to more widely examine changes on a global level in the context of their political and media systems. The chapter drew on evidence that revealed how states with authoritarian political systems had used fact-checking for political purposes rather than to challenge misinformation. It was argued that it cannot be normatively assumed that fact-checkers represent an independent and impartial service, since they can be exploited in order for claims to gain political authority and legitimacy. Or, put differently, we acknowledged how political systems can influence media systems and, in turn, shape how fact-checking is carried out along with its wider effectiveness.

The chapter then turned to exploring the few systematic content studies that have examined how news media have incorporated fact-checking into their journalism. It found a diverse range of fact-checking journalism, with little uniformity in the editorial content and style. Broadly speaking, the chapter established that fact-checkers – free from partisan influence – tended to have higher standards than news media, such as producing more transparent ways of sourcing evidence and investigating claims (Humprecht 2020). Moreover, a journalistic logic was viewed as undermining the robust standards typically associated with dedicated fact-checking sites. But this research was largely from a US perspective, where a market-led approach to journalism with light-touch regulation has created a highly commercialised media system (Pickard 2020).

The chapter then focused on the UK, which has an overarching public service broadcasting system that is required to be impartial. It explored how dedicated fact-checking had been introduced into broadcast journalism over years and was often championed by editors as an important part of challenging claims and upholding impartiality. A case in point was the Head of BBC News namechecking Reality Check to defend the public service broadcaster from critics during the 2019 election campaign. We drew on systematic content analysis studies to compare fact-checking journalism on BBC and Channel 4 with an independent fact checker, Full Fact, during the 2019 election campaign. We found that broadcasters tied their fact-checking claims to the main parties' agendas and relied on a select few institutional sources, while Full Fact featured a broader range of topics and expert figures, with output more focused on challenging misinformation from social media (Soo et al. 2023).

In 2021, we examined these three sites again, but comparatively with television news in order to explore whether the same fact-checking informed broadcast output and if claims were treated differently across platforms. We found, above all, that claims assessed by dedicated fact-checking sites - including within the same news organisation - were not widely used by flagship broadcast programmes. When they were covered, we further discovered that fact-checking sites scrutinised claims more than television news bulletins, with over half – 53.8 per cent – of all claims on TV not subject to any journalistic comment or challenge. This is despite the fact that all broadcasters, including BBC and Channel 4, apply the same rigour of impartiality in their journalism across all output, as we discussed in the previous chapter. Of course, fact-checking at speed can be highly challenging for flagship bulletins. But there were times when online fact-checking stories were available to inform television news coverage but were not taken up by broadcasters. Our interviews with editors revealed a degree of separation between the main news and fact-checking teams, which may help explain the contrasting agendas and editorial approaches. While the impartiality rules allow fact-checking in coverage, journalists may be reluctant to regularly take political 'sides' by singling out a dubious political claim, and instead rely on balancing their coverage between opposing voices. In doing so, it is often left to dedicated fact-checking sites to apply more robust scrutiny of misleading statements across online or social media sites. We updated our analysis of how broadcasters used fact-checking in 2024, systematically examining the extent to which BBC Verify informed coverage on the BBC News at Ten. We found that it tended to be used for international conflicts rather than addressing domestic political claims. However, during the general election campaign in 2024, the flagship bulletin drew more heavily on Verify to question and explicitly call out some dubious claims – a departure from the more cautious approach of BBC reporting (see Chapter 5).

But despite the increase in fact-checking on the BBC *News at Ten* during the 2024 election campaign, our analysis revealed that over recent years fact-checking online or on social media within news organisations has not been widely used in broadcast programming. We also argued that broadcasters applied impartiality differently to online reporting, relying more on balanced coverage rather than challenging false or dubious claims from one side of the political debate. Impartiality, needless to say, can be complex to interpret, with journalists drawing on range of sources to understand an issue or event, and represent fair and balanced debates. It requires a journalistic judgement – reflecting the 'due' part of the UK's broadcast impartiality guidelines – about assessing the veracity of competing claims. But without an evidence-based approach to assessing source claims – which was apparent on television news

– a 'he said, she said' approach to reporting can emerge, creating a tit-for-tat narrative where contrasting views are aired but without assessing the accuracy of their views. It can also lead to false equivalence between competing views on a topic, with misinformation a symptom of journalists not robustly holding claims to account (Nyhan and Reifler 2015a). This false equivalence is not sufficient to clarify misconceptions or challenge dubious claims. It can, therefore, feed public confusion and ultimately fuel misinformation.

The next chapter moves from analysing how the news media apply fact-checking in their stories to how the public understand and engage with fact-checking. We carry out an extensive review of how news audiences have responded to fact-checking initiatives around the world, considering the degree to which they have enhanced or undermined people's knowledge and engagement. We then introduce new ways of understanding the role and value of fact-checking by drawing on our extensive studies with audiences in the UK, including a news diary study, two surveys and fourteen focus groups.

### Audience Engagement with Fact-Checking

Fact-checking has been celebrated as a significant journalistic tool in the fight against disinformation. As discussed in Chapter 1, it has been viewed as a new style in political reporting that can revitalise journalism by holding politicians accountable for spreading falsehoods and disinformation (Graves 2016). The assumption is that this increased accountability can raise the standards of political discourse, as well as rehabilitate public trust in journalism and restore journalistic legitimacy. For this to happen, however, fact-checking needs to play a significant and consistent role in the ways the public engages with and consumes political news. It is this question of public engagement with fact-checking that we turn to in this chapter. What role does fact-checking play in the public's news consumption habits? How do people engage with it and how often do they use it? Ultimately, what is the actual impact of fact-checking on people's understanding of politics? These are the issues that we will address in this chapter.

These questions become particularly pertinent when considered in relation to the last two chapters. As we discussed in Chapters 5 and 6, dubious political statements have rarely been subjected to rigorous fact-checking in broadcast news, either because this would be seen as undermining 'due impartiality' or due to the constraints of television news formats. If fact-checking is a tool to fight disinformation in a battle where journalistic legitimacy is at stake, then it is crucial to consider how aware the public are of journalistic fact-checking efforts and whether they engage with them. As we illustrated in Chapter 2, news audiences largely consider disinformation and misinformation to be inherent in journalistic work, as they criticise journalism for often causing confusion by failing to explain political claims or to contextualise them. Fact-checking could provide this forensic approach to information that audiences

deem necessary. If, however, its role in mainstream news is marginalised, as we discussed earlier, its potential for reinvigorating people's trust in journalism would also be undermined.

The chapter starts with a review of existing literature on the audiences of fact-checking. This has largely focused on the effectiveness of fact-checking in correcting misinformed perceptions and has been mostly experimental in nature. The limited studies that questioned whether news audiences use fact-checking have illustrated this use as politically motivated or ideologically conditioned, given that fact-checking is embedded in broader partisan frameworks of news consumption. These findings mostly reflect the polarised nature of US politics, where most of these studies were conducted. Research beyond the US, however, has also illustrated limited use of fact-checking. This was confirmed by the findings of our audience studies, which, as described in the Introduction, included an online diary with 200 participants conducted during the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, a survey of 1,065 participants and a follow up qualitative survey of 542 people, and 14 focus groups consisting of 52 respondents, which were carried out in the spring of 2021. We found that audiences in our studies were not very familiar with UK fact-checkers and, by extension, very rarely used them. However, when we asked research participants to reflect on specific examples of fact-checking, they expressed an appetite for more inclusion of this type of journalism in news. We ultimately argue that fact-checking is a valuable form of journalism that can enhance journalistic legitimacy by filling in the gaps in journalistic reporting that were identified by audiences and discussed in Chapter 2. For this to happen, however, fact-checking needs to become incorporated in mainstream news content and, therefore, part of routine news consumption.

#### **Correcting Misinformed Audiences**

Similar to academic and journalistic assumptions about the audience of disinformation, as mentioned in Chapters 1 and 2, research about fact-checking has also been underlined by assumptions about the passivity of news audiences. Framing audiences as victims of disinformation, extensive research – largely experimental in nature and based in the US – has attempted to explore how effective fact-checking can be in correcting misinformed perceptions. This research has illustrated remarkable imbalances in the ways people approach fact-checking and their openness to its corrective potential on the basis of individual characteristics, such as pre-existing attitudes, political affiliations, world views and levels of scepticism (Lewandowsky et al. 2012). Nyhan and Reifler (2015b), for example, conducted a multi-wave panel survey during

the 2014 US election campaign to explore attitudes towards fact-checking and how they might change during the campaign. One of the main challenges for fact-checkers, the authors argued, was the fact that people who were interested in and knowledgeable about politics were also more receptive to the practice of fact-checking. At the same time, Republican voters tended to have a more negative view of fact-checking and appeared more resistant to its corrections. In other words, the impact of fact-checking in the US was influenced by people's partisan identity.

Furthermore, research has discovered that the public often apply motivated reasoning when confronted with corrective messaging (Schaffiner and Roche 2017), particularly among Conservative/Republican voters (Walter et al. 2019, 364). This type of reasoning is also aggravated by emotions such as anger (Weeks 2015). At the same time, 'belief echoes' (Thorson 2016) or the 'continued influence effect' mean that retractions are not always effective, even when people believe, understand and remember the retraction (Lewandowsky et al. 2012, 114). This, Thorson (2016) has argued, can be explained on the basis that misinformation has a strong affective impact on people, becoming immediately integrated into their evaluations of politics and political candidates. It is this immediate affective response that generates belief echoes rather than deliberative, cognitive processes.

Lewandowsky et al. (2017) have, therefore, concluded that for fact-checking to be effective it must not directly challenge people's world views, and must explain why misinformation was disseminated in the first place. Research has also illustrated that fact-checking can be effective, when repeating retractions, providing an alternative explanation, as well as explicit warnings before reporting a false claim, and using simple language (Lewandowsky et al. 2012). Belief echoes, according to Thorson (2016, 476), can be minimised not only by correcting misinformation but additionally providing a narrative about how misinformation emerged in the first place. Furthermore, fact-checking is more favourably viewed when people are randomly exposed to it, irrespective of their individual characteristics and pre-existing attitudes, and this randomised exposure helps the public become better informed (Nyhan and Reifler 2015b). In their study on US Twitter (now X) users, Margolin et al. (2018) found that people were more likely to accept corrections from users they followed or were followed by rather than strangers. Moving beyond partisan politics, Carnahan and Bergan (2022) found that, when it came to correcting false beliefs about immigration, fact-checking could have a positive impact on US citizens, even those with high levels of confidence in inaccurate beliefs. Similarly, concerns about COVID-19 were found to increase support and interest in fact-checking across political lines (Rich et al. 2020). In their meta-review of the literature,

Walter et al. (2019) discovered that the threat of partisan motivated reasoning was exaggerated, as this was largely linked to election periods rather than routine reporting. Ultimately, the bulk of research related to corrective fact-checks concluded that it could have a positive influence, although this is conditional upon its format, and on the decisiveness of fact-checking judgements (Walter et al. 2019).

The findings of these studies, taken together, have provided significant insights into the cognitive processes through which people understand misinformation and its correctives, as well as conveying specific recommendations for the successful debunking of misinformation. Although they do offer answers about the effectiveness of fact-checking in influencing people's beliefs, they tell us little about the role that fact-checking plays in people's daily consumption of news. If fact-checking is to play a role in challenging misinformation and enhancing journalistic legitimacy, it needs to be embedded in people's routine media consumption habits and their engagement with politics.

#### Who Uses Fact-Checking?

Experimental studies testing the effectiveness of fact-checking in challenging misinformed beliefs have proliferated over recent years. But little attention has been paid to the ways fact-checking as a journalistic practice has become part of audiences' news consumption repertoires. This gap is startling, given that if fact-checking is to fight disinformation and restore journalistic legitimacy, it needs to be widely adopted by the general public. If audiences fail to engage with fact-checking, its mission to reinvigorate journalism is likely to remain limited.

People's engagement with fact-checking has also been understood through a narrow lens. Most studies that have explored the question of who uses fact-checking have tended to be US-based. They have largely confirmed the polarising nature of the country's political environment and, by extension, news media use. Some research has illustrated that the use of fact-checking in the US has limited public reach, with one survey revealing that roughly half of the population were not very familiar with fact-checkers while about a third of the public claimed to be 'very unfamiliar' with them (Nyhan and Reifler 2015b, 8). In their study of individual web traffic data, along with a representative survey of Americans, Guess et al. (2018, 11) found that engagement with fact-checking was more common among people that did not consume fake news. Moreover, they found that people almost never read fact-checks about specific fake news articles they had consumed themselves. In other words, fact-checking was generally failing to directly counter disinformation people had encountered.

Furthermore, research into the characteristics of fact-checking use has suggested it has been ideologically conditioned, if not politically motivated (Shin and Thorson 2017; Amazeen et al. 2019; Walker and Gottfried 2019). For example, while about half of the US population have evaluated fact-checkers as fair and impartial - more than mainstream news organisations - about 70 per cent of Republicans have suggested fact-checkers favour one side of the political spectrum (Walker and Gottfried 2019). Exploring how fact-checking was employed by different groups discussing the 2016 US election on Reddit, Parekh et al. (2020) confirmed that corrective fact-checks were more extensively and effectively used in the non-partisan subreddit politics sites than partisan-driven subreddits for Donald Trump and Hilary Clinton. Ultimately, what these studies have highlighted is that, despite fact-checkers largely positioning themselves as objective watchdogs, the way they have been understood and used by the public is 'absorbed into wider ideological discourses and patterns of news consumption' (Robertson et al. 2020, 217). This research suggests the effectiveness as well as the broader mission of fact-checking is undermined, if it only influences those already interpreting fact-checking as a valuable process and who generally hold high levels of political knowledge.

At the same time, fact-checking might be viewed according to patterns of mistrust similar to the journalistic profession overall. In an attempt to explore how US social media users evaluated and engaged with fact-checking in natural settings, Brandtzaeg and Følstad (2017) analysed social media users' comments about fact-checking, focusing mostly on perception of trustworthiness and usefulness. Although positive comments were mostly related to the perceived usefulness of fact-checkers, about 60–70 per cent of the comments expressed negative sentiment about Snopes and FactCheck.org. This was largely related to a perceived left-wing bias, but also appeared motivated by an underlying mistrust towards the social and political system. The conclusions of the study point out that not only is fact-checking not successful in reinvigorating trust in journalism but seems to be interpreted within the same kind of generalised lack of trust toward news media.

Taken together, these research findings represent how fact-checking is used in American's highly polarised political environment. But what can they tell us about the use of fact-checking beyond the US and across different media systems? In a Hong Kong-based study on a very polarising issue, namely the Anti-Extradition Bill Movement (AEBM), Chia et al. (2022) discovered through a survey that it was men with extensive news consumption and political involvement in the issue that used fact-checking the most. Furthermore, fact-checking was also found to have reinforced beliefs in misinformation about opposition groups. Lyons et al. (2020) explored public attitudes towards

fact-checking in six European countries, including France, Germany, Italy, Poland, Spain and Sweden. They concluded that, similarly to attitudes in the US, research participants' political interest and knowledge predicted familiarity with fact-checking. However, in Northern Europe, where people were exposed to public service media and tended to have a high level of institutional trust, there was greater acceptance and positive evaluation of fact-checking. In other words, it is not only political polarisation but also media systems that play an important role in how the public evaluates and engages with fact-checking (Cushion et al. 2022b).

Further studies have illustrated the limited engagement much of the public have with fact-checking. In a non-representative survey with young social media users in the Philippines, Lavilles et al. (2023) found that although 62 per cent of their respondents were aware of fact-checking websites, just under half – 46 per cent – reported to have used them. They were also ambivalent in terms of trusting these sites, with their judgements varying depending on the platform. Ultimately, the authors found that fact-checkers were not central to processes of verification of information, as social media users found that other ways, such as looking for information on search engines, better responded to their news consumption needs. Schwarzenegger's (2020, 370) German interviewees claimed to be so critical and sceptical of the news media that they found fact-checking unnecessary, given that they already did not believe much of the information they received. Chang (2021) also found that only a minority of survey respondents in a Taiwan-based study used fact-checking as a means of authenticating information, whereas the majority relied on personal evaluations.

Ultimately, while most of the research has focused on the effectiveness of corrective information, the most critical question that studies in the US and around the world have posed is how this corrective information can reach the public. Or, put more simply, how fact-checking can become more popular and widespread among the general public. We now turn to advancing this research agenda in terms of understanding people's knowledge and understanding of fact-checking, as well as how they believe it can be used to enhance their knowledge and engagement with politics.

#### Familiarity with and Use of Fact-Checking

In order to explore public engagement with fact-checking in quantitative and qualitative detail, we now draw on our own UK-based audience studies, including an online diary during the height of the pandemic in 2020, a quantitative survey of 1,065 people, a follow-up qualitative survey of 542 people, and

14 focus groups with 52 participants all undertaken in the spring of 2021. Our aim was to consider how fact-checking informed people's news consumption habits during a major health crisis and in more routine periods of time.

Overall, we found that while the practice of fact-checking was broadly familiar to research participants, the vast majority did not use the UK's fact-checking services. In fact, as Table 7.1 reveals, in our diary study only 13 per cent stated that they had used the BBC's Reality Check services once or twice, while for Channel 4's FactCheck and Full Fact just 6 per cent and 7 per cent respectively had used it. This fell to 7 per cent when considering who regularly used BBC Reality Check, compared to just 3 per cent for Channel 4's FactCheck and Full Fact.

Our larger survey of 1,065 participants in May 2021, which explored perceptions of disinformation and fact-checking in detail, found that almost a third – 31 per cent – of respondents were aware of the BBC Reality Check site, compared to 9 per cent for Channel 4's FactCheck, 11 per cent for Full Fact, and 5 per cent for Sky News Campaign Check (see Table 7.2).

As expected, this lack of awareness was reflected in the limited use of the UK's main fact-checking websites. Although about 18 per cent of the survey respondents claimed to have used BBC Reality Check once or twice,

Table 7.1	The percentage	of diary	participants	who use	fact-checking site	S
(N in brack	cets)					

Use of fact- checking	BBC Reality Check	Channel 4 FactCheck	Full Fact
Not at all	80% (139)	91% (158)	90% (156)
Once or twice	13% (23)	6% (11)	7% (12)
Regularly	7% (12)	3% (5)	3% (6)
Total	100% (174)	100% (174)	100% (174)

**Table 7.2** The percentage of survey respondents who were aware of UK fact-checking services (N in brackets)

Fact-	Reality	Channel 4	Full Fact	Sky News Campaign
checking	Check	FactCheck		Check
Aware of	31% (334)	9% (100)	11% (120)	5% (49)
Not aware of	69% (731)	91% (965)	89% (945)	95% (1016)
Total	100% (1,065)	100% (1,065)	100% (1,065)	100% (1,065)

Frequency	Reality Check	C4 FactCheck	Full Fact	
Not at all	78% (830)	93% (991)	91% (966)	
Once or twice	18% (193)	6% (60)	6% (61)	
Regularly	4% (42)	1% (14)	4% (38)	
Total	100% (1,065)	100 % (1,065)	100% (1,065)	

**Table 7.3** The percentage of survey respondents who used UK fact-checking sites (N in brackets)

Table 7.3 shows that more than 90 per cent of them had never used FactCheck or Full Fact.

The findings from the fourteen focus groups carried out in 2021 broadly reinforced the conclusions of our online diary and survey studies with regard to audience awareness and use of fact-checking. We found that research participants claimed to have heard of fact-checking and seemed aware of what the practice entailed. However, they could not name specific UK fact-checking sites. In fact, only six out of fifty-two participants knew that the BBC had its own fact-checking service and could not remember its specific name. Full Fact was mentioned by four participants and a couple said that they had used Snopes, the US-based commercial online fact-checker. Just one participant, exceptional in her heavy consumption of TV news and social media, seemed to be aware of the three main fact-checkers in the UK (Reality Check, FactCheck and Full Fact).

The few focus group participants that had used fact-checking told us they did so as a means of clarifying the validity of political claims, especially before elections. For example, one participant in the diary study, who claimed to regularly use fact-checking, explained he had:

first heard of these websites during the Brexit referendum build-up. I found them really useful when discussing the issue with friends who had a different view than I did in order to remove some of the hyperbolic and tabloidesque 'facts' that they would use to argue their case. I then also used the websites more frequently during the December general election campaign.

Similarly, the few participants in the focus groups that used fact-checkers described how they followed the Twitter (now X) account of BBC Reality Check regularly only during 'election time' and 'political conference season' or checked information about COVID-19 vaccines on Full Fact before getting vaccinated. These comments seemed to link fact-checking to periods of social

and political anxiety, when fears about misinformation or actual disinformation were rife. They thus confirm the temporal nature of disinformation, as discussed in Chapter 2. This reinforces research findings that suggest misinformation is likely to be perceived as more severe during critical periods in time, which then affects how people cope with information, including whether they turn to fact-checkers (Chang 2021).

For other focus group participants, especially those that had heard about fact-checking, but had never used it themselves, this journalistic practice was mostly associated with conspiracy theories and 'fringe beliefs', such as 5G masts spreading COVID-19. Some participants also referenced warnings of unreliable information that social media platforms, such as Twitter (now X) and Instagram, started to include in some of their posts and videos as, for example, in relation to Donald Trump's false claims that he had won the November 2020 USA elections. Given the confidence that participants felt in detecting this type of fake news, as discussed in Chapter 2, many found that fact-checking was not useful to them. This confidence not only stemmed from the trust they had in their selected news sources, but also by what they described as 'doing their own research' or 'fact-checking', as explained in Chapter 2.

### Fact-Checking as Valuable Journalism

Most of our research participants – across the online diaries, surveys and focus groups – appeared highly confident when dealing with news and perceived misinformation. But once we discussed fact-checking with them, they were overwhelmingly positive about its journalistic role and wider purpose.

Given the limited exposure to and knowledge of fact-checking among participants, we shared examples of fact-checking with them and asked them to further reflect on these. Respondents in the diary study, for example, were asked to reflect on a BBC Reality Check video debunking COVID-19 myths, as well as the web page of BBC Reality Check. They were also shown BBC Reality Check stories challenging government claims about reaching specific health targets, juxtaposed with BBC television news reporting that would uncritically reproduce these claims.

Similarly, we showed focus group participants – half-way through the discussions – three short news clips from BBC, ITV and Sky News, all reporting on the same contentious claim. This was made during the 2019 election campaign by the then prime minister, Boris Johnson, who promised that 50,000 nurses would be hired under a new Conservative government. According to fact-checkers, the claim was not accurate, as the figure included successfully encouraging about 19,000 existing nurses to remain at the NHS.

However, out of the three news clips, it was only the Sky News one that challenged the claim, under the label of fact-checking. The first two clips shown to the focus groups (ITV and BBC News) uncritically reported this claim. Each clip was followed by a short discussion that illustrated that participants appreciated the information received and deemed the report accurate. It was only after watching the third Sky News clip, which included a dedicated fact-checking segment entitled 'Sky News campaign check', that they became aware of how the first two reports, by not questioning the claim, had failed to help them understand it and, in doing so, misled them about the alleged recruitment of 50,000 new nurses.

The support for fact-checking among participants – once the practice was discussed and illustrated – was overwhelming. This was also evident in the survey results. The vast majority of respondents in our survey of 542 people in 2021 – 82 per cent – wanted journalists to fact-check politicians. This strong support for fact-checking was apparent across ideological and party political lines, with slightly more support from those on the political left (84 per cent) than right (78 per cent) as well as for Labour (82 per cent) compared to Conservative (78 per cent) voters. This contrasts with some other countries, across Europe (Lyons et al. 2020) and especially the US (Nyhan and Reifler 2015b), where research has suggested that those on the political right tend to trust fact-checkers far less than those holding left-wing perspectives.

In a similar vein, the degree to which respondents were engaged with mainstream media or politics did not influence whether they wanted journalists to fact-check more or less (see Table 7.5). There was only marginally greater support for fact-checking among respondents more engaged than disengaged with mainstream media (7 per cent) or more politically engaged than disengaged (8 per cent).

The apparent lack of polarisation and ideological asymmetry with regards to how receptive research participants were to fact-checking can be justified when one contextualises these findings within the UK media system.

**Table 7.4** The percentage of participants supporting the use of fact-checking according to their ideological and party political perspectives (N in brackets)

	All	Left	Right	Lab	Con
Don't know	12% (66)	11% (36)	12% (19)	10% (18)	12% (19)
Fact-check less	6% (32)	4% (13)	10% (16)	3% (16)	10% (16)
Fact-check more	(82%) (444)	84% (266)	78% (127)	87% (159)	78% (121)
Total	100% (542)	100% (315)	100% (162)	100% (193)	100% (156)

**Table 7.5** The percentage of participants supporting the use of fact-checking according to their level of engagement with mainstream media and politics (N in brackets)

	All	MSM engaged	MSM disengaged	Pol. engaged	Not pol. engaged
Don't know	12% (66)	11% (30)	14% (16)	7% (17)	15% (25)
Fact-check less	6% (32)	6% (16)	9% (10)	7% (16)	5% (9)
Fact-check more	82% (444)	84% (233)	77% (86)	85% (194)	80% (137)
Total	100% (542)	100% (279)	100% (112)	100% (227)	100% (171)

As opposed to many highly polarised national media and political systems – most strikingly the US – the UK, as we discussed earlier, has an influential public service media infrastructure which requires broadcasters to be impartial. This underlying public service ethos in broadcast media has, for many decades, cultivated a relatively high level of trust in television journalism, which was established in Chapter 3. This broad faith in journalism translates into public confidence, including the kind of journalistic scrutiny involved in fact-checking processes (Cushion et al. 2022b). By contrast, in highly polarised national media and political systems, the public can be suspicious of journalists and sceptical about whether they can impartially fact-check politicians.

The qualitative responses from our participants across the news diaries, surveys and focus groups often expressed confidence that fact-checking can enrich both public engagement with the news and political understanding. Viewed in this light, we argue that participants experienced fact-checking as a form of 'valuable journalism' (Costera Meijer 2022, 230), namely as journalism that news audiences find worthwhile and useful in ways that might diverge from professional ideals. This was explained across three main dimensions. The first was the value of fact-checking for understanding the context of news stories and political claims. The second dimension constructed fact-checking as a tool for political accountability. The third dimension related to journalistic legitimacy, with fact-checking considered critical for news media to carry out their 'watchdog role'. Although these three dimensions of fact-checking often overlapped in participants' understandings of it, we have analytically separated them in order to illustrate the different ways it was interpreted as valuable journalism.

The value of fact-checking as contextual information was articulated in terms of providing news audiences with the resources necessary to understand current affairs, formulate judgements and take decisions that affected them. For participants in the online diary study, their receptiveness to fact-check-

ing was framed by anxieties over the global pandemic and the need to verify information necessary for dealing with daily decisions that had to do with public health. They saw fact-checking as a necessary tool for challenging any misinformation stemming from social media, as well as confusion caused by relevant political news. It was considered to be vital for people in order for them to have an 'accurate view of the situation', as one female participant put it, 'both so that people can understand the severity but also not believe everything that they see and suffer mentally due to worrying'. A few participants also mentioned that challenging racist misconceptions or 'hate between races/nations' was another way fact-checking could have been useful during the pandemic, presumably referring to the stigmatisation of China being seen as responsible for causing and spreading the virus and the xenophobic attacks that ensued during the first months of the pandemic (Karalis Noel 2020).

Importantly, it was not only online misinformation that needed to be fact-checked and challenged, according to participants, but also claims made by politicians, as they were the most important source of information framing the way the public understood the virus. This call to fact-check claims made by politicians was justified on two grounds. On the one hand, informants were asking for more clarity in the messages that they would get on daily updates, in order to 'clear up misconceptions', especially as there had 'been conflicting information such as ideas on immunity and reinfection'. There were a few issues that participants found confusing with regard to political messaging in the first few months of the pandemic, as illustrated in our diary study, and discussed in Chapter 2. These included lockdown measures, the number of deaths reported daily, the use of face masks and PPE (Kyriakidou et al. 2020). This lack of specificity in political messaging, as one participant wrote, meant that 'people are in limbo, and it gives people the wrong impression'.

In a similar vein, many participants in the focus groups, when discussing the Sky News fact-check of the pledge of the 50,000 NHS nurses introduced earlier in the chapter, drew attention to the usefulness of fact-checking in helping them understand the context surrounding political decisions and claims and formulate informed opinions. The Sky News clip was highly praised for 'breaking down' the information, which helped participants comprehend the political claim, rather than just repeating the dubious pledges of politicians. Despite actively verifying news that is important to them, our participants still had expectations that broadcasters would provide them with news that featured not just plain information but sufficient context to make sense of it. As a young woman who claimed not to watch television news often put it, 'that's why you watch the news – you want information.

But you don't just want little bits of information, you want all the information.' Similarly, another woman who was a heavy consumer of television news, argued that:

That's the kind of thing that should be regular. We should be expecting that level of breakdown of information, we should be expecting that level of detail, rather than just snippets, headline grabbing information.

This expectation was even higher during general elections, several participants argued, as well as other critical moments where 'making a judgement' was expected by the public, such as during the EU referendum campaign or the global pandemic. This reaffirmed the time-bound nature of public fears about and understandings of disinformation, discussed earlier. After all, it is in times of crisis that so-called 'fake news' and misinformation proliferate. According to participants, it was during these moments in time that the public expects more from journalists, helping them to understand the context within which they are asked to make decisions.

These responses, highlighting the usefulness of fact-checking in providing further contextual information, need to be considered within the discussion about public understandings of disinformation and misinformation addressed in Chapter 2. To recap, disinformation was understood by our participants beyond fake news reproduced on social media or explicit lies told by politicians. In their view, it included possible misinformation and confusion created by the media when, for instance, journalists did not provide adequate context about news stories. According to participants, then, fact-checking not only served to verify information but to also provide the public with the tools necessary to understand politics.

This sense of empowerment that participants experienced was based on the opportunity for understanding and learning that fact-checking provided them with, in this case by unpacking a political claim. It is this opportunity that many participants seem to think is missing from mainstream news – as discussed in Chapter 2 – which makes fact-checking valuable and worthwhile. As Costera Meijer (2022, 238) has observed when analysing news audiences, this 'joy of suddenly understanding a complex situation or topic' or having an eye-opening experience, as our research participants seemed to have, is central in the type of 'valuable journalism' that centres on audience experiences rather than normative understandings of the profession. A focus group participant that seemed to have a keen interest in news explained the unpacking of information by fact-checkers as something that dovetails with the evolving demands of news audiences, who:

are more interested in data these days, and analysis. And we're not happy with just one line that includes really big numbers, we're demanding more of, 'what does that actually mean?', 'what does that actually mean in real terms?', 'what does that mean for my locality?' We're asking those questions and I think news agencies are having to go into it rather than 'that's their one-line statement that covers health, believe it or don't believe it, up to you'. There is that demand out there, from us, wanting to see more granular information about these bold statements. I think the perfect example is that bus with the big number on it, some people were bought by that and lots of others, and when it comes down to it, where has that gone? Oh well 'that was never the promise', kind of thing, so people are pushing more for that underlying data.

Underlining the need for contextual information among participants was the lack of trust in politicians, or at best a belief that it was not always in the best interests of politicians to fully communicate and explain their claims to the public. As discussed in Chapter 2, spin and the manipulation of information were viewed by our participants as inherent in politics and the way politicians communicate with the public. Fact-checking, in this context, was constructed as valuable because it could act as a tool for political accountability. For example, in the online diaries, fact-checking was considered highly useful because it could hold politicians accountable for their mishandling of the pandemic. Government failures were mentioned extensively in the diaries, such as the UK's missed opportunity to join an EU scheme to buy PPE in bulk, and the respective shortages in the NHS. In that context, fact-checking was seen as a way for holding political leaders accountable for their failures, as described by a young man, when he reflected on the usefulness of the BBC's Reality Check service and whether it should feature more on BBC news. He believed it was:

Very important. A lot of these politicians and big figures need to be held accountable to what they say and by doing these reality check reports the public can form their own opinions on these important figures. England is a great example; we had seen what the coronavirus is doing to Italy and had time to prepare for it, yet we were one of the latest to close our airports and take COVID-19 seriously and now we are at over 20,000 deaths!! So I believe more should be included especially on UK Politicians.

The fact-checking of politicians was broadly seen as necessary by our participants on two grounds. In the short term, it helped the public make informed decisions. For example, during the global pandemic this would

mean, according to participants, that the public had a better understanding of the situation, did not panic or follow 'scaremongering' information on social media, and complied with lockdown rules or other public health measures. A young participant and Labour voter in the focus groups described the value of fact-checking at election time:

When it comes to general elections, no-one is going to sit there and Google and research what was in his manifesto; they're going to rely on what the news tells them. So if the news can tell us in more detail than what Boris ... because Boris isn't going to go into depth – he wants people to hear what he wants them to hear, to get elected. That's just the way it is with politicians, I think. So if the news can break it down and give more information, then that helps people to make a decision, and if they want to go and do further research, then they can do, and they're a bit more informed about the topics.

In the longer term, such political accountability, according to our participants, could lead to more confidence in politicians and enhance trust in the political process. In this respect, fact-checking was seen as being able to establish a culture of political accountability beyond checking the trustworthiness of specific political claims. This idea of accountability reporting, which promotes democratic discourse and accountable government, has underlined fact-checking initiatives around the world, irrespective of their organisational and practical differences (Graves and Cherubini 2016; Graves 2018). Professional perceptions, viewed in this light, dovetail with audience expectations.

Including more fact-checking in routine news reporting, according to many of our participants, could further empower citizens and improve their engagement with politics. As one of the oldest participants in the focus groups, who had not voted in the previous election, put it, fact-checking political claims could 'begin to dissolve public indifference to politicians' lies'. It could also create greater confidence in political news, as people would feel confident that only claims that were truthful would be covered in the news. If not, they would be challenged by journalists, as one participant in her diary entry pointed out when reflecting on the significance of fact-checking claims by politicians:

By weeding out the truth from the fiction, people can trust better in what is reported. I think it would be very useful to use this with UK politicians as so many distrust them. It could lead to greater compliance with lockdown rules for example. Overall, including pieces like this in news bulletins could lead to greater confidence in them and greater accountability for all.

At the same time, among participants there was the assumption that this threat of fact-checking and potential reputational damage would deter politicians from lying and would further improve political discourse (Nyhan and Reifler 2015a; Lim 2018a), although it might also open the space for politicians to avoid employing verifiable claims altogether (Mattozi et al. 2023). It is this belief in the corrective potential of fact-checking on political discourse that participants often drew attention to in focus group discussions:

But I do think, doing something like that, it would definitely put politicians on the spot and make them think about what they're actually saying, because it would discredit them if that flashed up, that they'd try to avoid it and so maybe they would lean more towards the truth.

Overlapping with such expressions of mistrust towards politicians were expectations about the role of journalism as the watchdog of political power. Research participants in their majority argued that fact-checking should be integral to routine reporting, as verifying and challenging the claims of politicians was expected from journalists. This was particularly illustrated in the focus group discussions, and the juxtaposition of the different clips reporting on the same claim, with only one of them fact-checking it and explaining the context of the pledge of hiring 50,000 nurses. According to one participant, the ITV news clip, which merely reported the claim without explaining nor challenging it, 'was technically accurate but morally not accurate at all'. According to another one, the first two clips felt like 'a retweet without reading the content. It's just, 'here's the headline - minus the content.' Taken together, these responses show how mainstream news can circulate misinformation by amplifying untruthful claims without questioning or challenging them, as we have discussed throughout this book. The news stories that did not unpack the political pledge of hiring 50,000 nurses failed to make audiences understand the complicated nature of the claim, thus leading to misinformation and public confusion.

This was also acknowledged in our survey, when respondents were asked to reflect on whether it should be expected by the media or other politicians to challenge political claims. While the responses were varied and nuanced, the majority of respondents believed the role of journalists was to scrutinise and, when necessary, question information. As one respondent put it, 'If someone tells a lie, you would not just tell everyone that same lie, yet labelling it as true, before scrutinising first.' If journalists fail to do that, our participants broadly agreed that they failed in their journalistic roles and risked becoming facilitators of political misinformation. For example, one respondent stated:

The role of journalism is to gather, analyse, scrutinise, create and present information for the public. Scrutiny of information presented by politicians is fundamental to that role. If journalists do not or cannot do that effectively then they cease to be journalists and become a mouthpiece for others.

Underlining the responses, both in the surveys and focus groups, was a distinction between just reporting and interpreting claims for the public. If journalists merely did the former, they were seen to be in collusion with politicians. Given that misinformation was seen as inherent in politics, as we discussed in Chapter 2, journalism was by extension seen as being complicit with politicians in promoting it. In the words of one survey respondent, 'If they are just reporting the claims, we might as well just listen to a recording of the politicians' claims.' On the contrary, our research participants believed that journalistic interpretation should routinely involve unpacking, challenging and fact-checking claims. In a lengthy answer, one survey respondent explained this expectation:

The media are the ultimate mediators of news. It is simply misguided to think that all they could be reduced to is 'report what happens'. If the BBC were to report all that happens in the world, that would be one long broadcast. Rather, the media already has to choose what is news-worthy, what to show, etc. Given this interpretative role and responsibility they already have, they should provide unbiased but decisive fact-checking.

There are two salient points to highlight here in respect of how participants constructed the watchdog role of journalists. First, objectivity and interpretation were not mutually exclusive in the way research participants perceived fact-checking and journalism overall. Explanation of political claims and interpretation of the context within which they were made were both welcome and considered part of the job of fact-checking. Viewed in that light, fact-checking does not reflect nor encourage a simplistic understanding of the world, as its critics seem to assume (Uscinski and Butler 2013, 163). On the contrary, our participants believed it could help news audiences better understand politics, as discussed above and described here by a focus group participant, who explained that she does not necessarily expect fact-checkers to call politicians liars. Instead, she thought they can help the public better understand how political claims can be misleading:

instead of saying this is right or wrong, or a lie or not, I think it would make more sense to just have more context on why this person says this

and what is the objective behind it, especially when it comes to politics. Yes, Covid there are the facts and the truth, but there is also some decision made out of ... I don't know, it could be economic reasons, or something else, or maybe because there is a campaign coming or whatever. So it's not just about saying this person lied because of this, but more explaining why this person said that, and just additional information, including some fact-checking, but not just the facts, also the reason why this person said that.

The second point to underline in relation to how our participants understood fact-checking was that it presupposed a certain degree of trust in the media and their potential to be a watchdog of political power. In some of the discussions it was pointed out that, when adopting fact-checking, journalists should be cautious in keeping a journalistic balance, ensuring they challenge different political parties to the same degree. However, despite their assumptions that media can be complicit with politics in reproducing misinformation, our participants seemed to still recognise that journalism operates separately from political power, which is the precondition for the press's watchdog role (Palmer et al. 2020). This assumed trust should once more be contextualised within the UK's media system and the overall political culture, which lacks the polarisation observed in other national contexts and media systems (Cushion et al. 2022b).

### Fact-Checking and Journalistic Legitimacy

This chapter has demonstrated that the public's understanding of the role and value of fact-checking is complex and multifaceted. On one hand, research has mostly focused on how effective fact-checking can be in correcting misinformed beliefs. Despite their diversity and the challenges in the corrective potential of fact-checking they illustrate, these research projects point to specific ways and contexts within which fact-checking can play an important role in challenging misinformation and helping audiences become better informed. However, we argued that this research tells us little about how fact-checking is employed by audiences in their routine news consumption and about the broader role it can play in reinvigorating journalistic legitimacy. The few studies that have addressed this question have pointed out that the use of fact-checking is rather limited and, at least in polarising political environments such as the US, determined by political orientation and often explained by partisan motivations. And yet, in our study the ideological motivations of respondents did not deter their support for fact-checking. While many participants could

not regularly use or name dedicated UK fact-checking sites, an overwhelming majority agreed that this approach to journalism should more routinely inform news reporting. We argued that the public's appetite for fact-checking was conditioned by the UK's overarching public service broadcasting ecology that attempted to be impartial in coverage of politics and public affairs. Nevertheless, the fact that the vast majority of our participants were unfamiliar with fact-checking, and therefore would not use it, also meant that the practice served only a small and engaged minority, and so its role in informing public debates was limited (Birks 2019b).

Overall, our research shows that fact-checking can foster engagement with news and, in so doing, enhance the public legitimacy of journalism. When asked to reflect on specific examples of fact-checking, a majority of participants revealed how they viewed it as a form of 'valuable journalism' (Costera Meijer 2022, 230). Based on these findings, we argue that the value of fact-checking can be identified in three interrelated dimensions. It can provide contextual information that helps the public better understand politics, act as a tool of political accountability and confirm the role of journalism as the watchdog of political power. In this context, we would agree that fact-checking can reinforce public trust in news (Graves 2016) and empower citizens (Singer 2018).

It seems, however, that in order for this to happen, fact-checking first needs to tackle the problem of its reputation among audiences - or lack thereof. Ultimately, it needs to become a more routine and integral part of flagship broadcast news reporting, as we have already discussed in Chapter 6, given that it is this reporting in its various platforms that reaches the biggest audiences (see also Riley 2019). This will ensure the reach and influence of fact-checking will be extended, making it a day-to-day news practice as opposed to during election campaigns or pandemics. There is a further gap to be bridged in the relationship between the public and fact-checking. Graves et al. (2016) found that it is primarily professional motivations and the promotion of journalistic values that drives fact-checkers, rather than the aspiration to respond to audience needs. From this perspective, fact-checkers appear to professionally position themselves in relation to journalists and politicians as opposed to the wider public. By neglecting, however, their audiences and how they can cater to their needs, fact-checkers ultimately largely fail to engage audiences with their work. Moreover, this can also mean that fact-checkers risk reproducing the gap between professional motivations and audience understandings discussed in Chapters 1 and 2. While disinformation and misinformation have been broadly understood by journalists as external threats to news work, what our research has revealed is that misinformation is already seen by research participants as inherent in the work of journalists. This means that turning fact-checking into a routine journalistic convention would not only correct external disinformation but would also improve how the public thinks about journalism.

We develop our analysis of how to more effectively engage the public with fact-checking journalism in the final chapter. It brings together the salient findings of the book and argues that the news media need to rethink how they counter disinformation if they want to enhance their journalistic authority.

# Countering Misinformation in Political Reporting

This book has made the case for why it is important for news media to more effectively counter political disinformation and enhance public understanding. We have examined how broadcast media have attempted to confront false and misleading political information over recent years, as well as how audiences engaged with and reacted to such journalistic efforts. The book drew on several large-scale content analysis studies that forensically scrutinised the extent to which journalists challenged political claims and the nature of their corrections, as well as interviews with senior editors and journalists from the UK's major broadcasters and their specialist fact-checking sites. We also explored audience evaluations and engagement with news media through a variety of methods, including a six-week news diary study, fourteen focus groups and two large scale surveys. This extensive analysis, along with a review of the latest academic literature on disinformation and fact-checking, generated a wide range of evidence-based conclusions about how effectively the news media can counter disinformation. This included identifying gaps in public knowledge about politics, and assessing how journalists could more effectively challenge false or misleading information, and provide greater context and explanation for audiences. Across different case studies, our research identified areas where the news media robustly countered disinformation and interpreted issues cogently for audiences. But we also found instances where the news media could have tackled false and misleading information more convincingly. In doing so, our research identified reporting that could have unwittingly reproduced disinformation and spread misinformation among audiences.

This final chapter brings together the salient findings of the book across five themes. First, we rethink debates about the origins of misinformation. Rather than focusing so heavily on blatant acts of disinformation, we argue that more

nuanced research is needed to identify where and why misinformation can emanate from mainstream media, and lead to public misunderstanding of politics and public affairs. Second, we focus on how the interpretation of impartiality has led to reporting that often balances competing political perspectives without always interrogating the veracity of them. In doing so, we make the case for broadcasters to move from passively applying impartiality to adopting a more assertive approach that rigorously challenges false and misleading claims. Third, we consider the value of fact-checking journalism and how it can be used to counter disinformation. Our research found that while fact-checking has often been heralded by senior editors and journalists, in practice it often lies at the periphery of newsrooms when – given its democratic value and appeal to news audiences - it should be a normalised convention used in routine reporting. Fourth, we consider the role and influence of media and political systems in countering misinformation and raising public knowledge. We highlight how differences in media systems frame public engagement with journalism and its attempts to tackle disinformation. We illustrate this by analysing fact-checking initiatives developed by public service broadcasters in the UK and how the public have responded to them. Finally, the book is concluded by considering how the legitimacy of journalism can be enhanced by tackling disinformation in ways that have been considered valuable in our various studies of news audiences. As argued throughout the book, we believe that news media need to more consistently and effectively hold politicians to account, as well as rethink their practices, especially in fact-checking, in order to respond to the fast-changing media and political environment.

#### Rethinking Debates about Misinformation and Mainstream Media

Over recent years, debates about the origins of misinformation and disinformation have intensified not just in academic scholarship, but across media and public policy agendas. Above all, there have been escalating fears that so-called 'fake news' is warping the minds of the public and undermining democratic politics. The protagonists inciting public harm have largely been social media platforms, conspiracy theory websites and malign foreign government interference. A burgeoning academic literature has steadily grown, intricately tracking the trajectory of false information, and how it spreads lies online. The mainstream news media often prominently report on such studies, producing sensationalist headlines about the malign effects of disinformation. For example, when a 2023 poll asked the British public whether 'The COVID-19 pandemic was part of a global effort to force everyone to be vaccinated whether they want to or not', a headline in The Guardian newspaper read: 'Quarter in UK

believe Covid was a hoax, poll on conspiracy theories finds'. Yet the findings of the highly leading question were based on a five-point scale survey that actually found that 41 per cent of the public thought it was definitely false, 18 per cent probably false and that 9 per cent didn't know. In other words, the majority of the public did not subscribe to the idea that the pandemic was a hoax. Even the 32 per cent who thought it was probably or definitely true may well have thought a global effort to force vaccination was required in order for governments to logistically manage the pandemic. This is at odds with the portrayal that many people believed COVID-19 was a hoax or, more broadly, that conspiracy theories now plague public opinion in the UK and beyond.

Our point here is not to diminish or underestimate the effects disinformation can have on the public. There has been - as the UN labelled it - an 'infodemic' of false and misleading information about the coronavirus pandemic over recent years. At the same time, however, we have argued that the often singular focus on online disinformation and the prominence it has received in academic scholarship and media coverage can, at times, exaggerate its impact and undermine the complexity of debates about the origins of public misunderstandings on a range of issues. As argued throughout the book, the evidence shows that it is not merely so-called 'fake news' being peddled on social media or conspiracy websites that represents the only threat of disinformation and misinformation to the wider public. A small but growing body of scholarship has begun to ask whether mainstream media perpetuate rather than prevent the spread of misinformation. For example, research has found news audiences routinely encounter false or misleading information directly from politicians, or from partisan news channels like Fox News and MSNBC. Similarly, the tabloid press and their sensational reporting have often spread exaggerated and misleading information in the UK and beyond.

The way we advanced debates about the role of mainstream media was by demonstrating that even impartial news providers, including the BBC – one of the most well-known global public service broadcasters – can inadvertently spread misinformation and limit public understanding of politics. This was highlighted in our audience research. Across the online diaries, focus groups and surveys, research participants described disinformation in much broader ways than academics and journalists. Although they could easily identify and dismiss examples of conspiracy theories, fake news and blatant instances of disinformation, our research participants criticised the news media for often creating confusion by not providing adequate context for them to better understand political claims and developments. Some of these critiques explicitly focused on media bias and what participants saw as the one-sidedness of reporting. Others were more nuanced and reflective of an awareness of media framing, as

well as the structural and complex conditions under which journalists operate, which did not give them the space or time to provide sufficient contextual information. For example, research participants expressed frustration about the wav COVID-19 was communicated, which created confusion in terms of the lockdown measures, the number of deaths in the UK, and UK government policies. We argued that many of our audience participants approached news media with a form of pragmatic scepticism (Kyriakidou et al. 2023). This meant that people continued to heavily rely on the mainstream media for information, but they were aware that some degree of disinformation may have informed the news they consumed.

Our research during the first few months of the pandemic allowed us to identify instances of audience misunderstanding which could potentially be linked to the lack of contextual and clear information provided by television news reporting. When we examined television news coverage, which was the key information source for much of the public – including our research participants – during the early period of the pandemic, our systematic content analysis revealed that the agenda was overwhelmingly focused on domestic issues, with very few comparisons between the UK and other nations. At the same time, we found that the reporting of political decisions was largely from an English perspective and did not sufficiently explain any policy differences across the four nations - England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland - of the UK. These gaps in news reporting - not clearly identifying which government was responsible for political decisions across the UK during the pandemic (Cushion and Carbis 2024) - were reflected in the gaps in knowledge among our research participants in the diary study. They lacked an understanding of how the UK was dealing with the pandemic in relation to other countries, such as not being aware of the UK's comparatively high death rate due to COVID-19. Many research respondents did not realise there were contrasting political decisions taken by the devolved nations, displaying a misunderstanding of how different lockdown measures were implemented across the four nations of the UK at a key point in the pandemic. This was not necessarily indicative of a direct link between television coverage at the time and our participants' responses. But our analysis illustrates an informational environment that did not regularly supply audiences with any clarity about the different lockdown measures across the UK or how different countries were dealing with the health crisis and implementing distinctive policies.

Our research, in broader terms, points towards a need to rethink debates about the origins and causes of misinformation and disinformation beyond social media and websites peddling conspiracy theories. Taken together, our book has shown that mainstream media, including impartial public service

broadcasters, can inadvertently spread news about politics and public affairs in ways that undermine rather than enhance people's knowledge and understanding of the world. There needs to be greater acknowledgement of how 'fake news' can often stem – not necessarily deliberately or conspiratorially – from often highly reputable news media organisations. More nuanced research is needed to identify where and why misinformation can emanate from mainstream media, and lead to public misunderstandings of politics and public affairs. In short, a new agenda for studies examining the origins and causes of misinformation from mainstream media is needed.

#### From Passively to Assertively Interpreting Impartiality

Our analysis throughout the book has largely focused on news produced by public service broadcasters with legal obligations to report with 'due impartiality'. Reporting impartially is a long-standing convention designed, in theory, to prevent political partisanship from shaping editorial judgements. The journalistic aim is to deliver news without bias by drawing on a range of perspectives to construct well-balanced debates when reporting a story or issue. But, as explored in several chapters, research – including our own systematic content analyses – has often found that impartiality can be passively applied in news reporting, with political balance often narrowly constructed by opposing political parties and subject to little or no journalistic scrutiny about their respective positions (Cushion and Lewis 2017; Hughes et al. 2023; Morani et al. 2024). In doing so, misinformation can spread because journalists passively relay competing perspectives rather than assertively challenge any false or misleading claims.

If the lack of contextual information in journalistic reporting was identified by audiences in our studies as reproducing misinformation, another prominent critique was the perceived complicity of news media with politicians' lies and manipulation of information. Politicians were often seen by our research participants in the diary study, focus groups and surveys as major actors in perpetrating disinformation. Many felt politicians achieved this through explicit lies and political propaganda, as well as more implicit forms of manipulating information, such as political spin. News media were often mentioned by our respondents in conjunction with politicians when we asked them to interpret the meaning of 'political disinformation'. Our research participants often felt journalists failed to challenge politicians and hold them accountable, or that they would amplify politicians' untruthful claims by broadcasting them uncritically. This failure to counter disinformation was attributed not only to media bias, but also journalistic routines and the inherent limitations of reporting within the culture of 24/7 news.

Our analysis of online and especially television reporting generally and during the 2019 UK election campaign demonstrated that journalists often appeared reluctant to challenge the claims of political elites. It was often left to opposing politicians to argue between themselves irrespective of the claims both sides were making. By contrast, when we examined how the same claims were covered by the broadcasters' fact-checkers, including the BBC's own dedicated service Reality Check (now subsumed into BBC Verify), they were rigorously checked, and either validated or corrected. We argued in Chapter 6 that a passive approach to impartiality was largely due to the adoption of a 'he said, she said' approach to political reporting and interpreting impartiality as balanced journalism (Cushion and Lewis 2017; Hughes et al. 2023; Morani et al. 2024; Wahl Jorgensen et al. 2017). This is most evident in two-party political systems when journalists cover the competing views of the main parties, but they do not always uncover whether their respective claims were accurate or convincing. In many cases, public service broadcasters adopt this approach with the well-intentioned aim of reflecting representative democracy rather than constructing it. But we would make the case that this approach to reporting politics has become increasingly flawed because it rests on the assumption that the claims and counterclaims of political elites are broadly accurate and allow audiences to reach informed judgements about their competing positions. Over recent years professional politicians and parties have made wild and egregious claims that can either confuse or mislead public opinion. Employing the 'he said, she said' model of reporting validates such claims as legitimate opinions and arguments. In this post-truth world of politics, we believe it is essential that the news media hold parties accountable and challenge any deceptive or false claims. Put simply, when broadcasters apply impartiality passively it can perpetuate rather than prevent the flow of political misinformation.

In our view, broadcasters need to shift from adopting a passive approach to impartiality towards what has become known as 'assertive impartiality' (Atkins 2023). The term has been coined in the context of how a BBC journalist, Ross Atkins, has approached analysing news stories on the public service broadcaster's dedicated television news channel over recent years. He has produced 'explainers', lasting approximately between two and ten minutes, which take up a particular story - such as funding the health service, the origins of COVID-19 or the tax affairs of a UK government minister - by comprehensively going through all the facts or issues behind it, and reaching a final informed and decisive judgement about them. This direct form of journalism represents a break from a passive form of impartiality because it puts greater emphasis on fact-checking and journalistic judgement. Indeed, in developing

an assertive approach to impartiality, Atkins's explainers have relied heavily on the BBC's Reality Check team (now BBC Verify) to fact-check the events and issues being covered. When explaining why he adopted this approach, Atkins (2023) argued that 'even in these helter-skelter moments, there are still chances to stand back, to distil what's happened and provide the fact-checking, context, analysis and explanation to really understand an event'. In doing so, the BBC's explainers had the confidence to regularly call out lies and halftruths from politicians, and deliver clear-cut conclusions driven by the facts. For example, one explainer directly challenged the UK government's account of how they had not broken lockdown rules during the pandemic. In a tweet, Atkins posted: 'The government says "there was not a party" at No 10 last December and that no COVID rules were broken. A week into the story, this is a new 5-min video on the gap between the government's assurances and available evidence.' Likewise, another explainer explicitly called out Donald Trump for 'attacking American democracy' given his past behaviour. Atkins has openly acknowledged the assertive approach to reaching impartial judgements: 'If a participant in a story says something factually inaccurate, we would be quite comfortable saying so. Not to make a political point but to help our audience judge a story in as accurate a way as possible' (cited in Sherwin 2021).

But while many of the BBC's explainers have gone viral on social media and have been accessible online, they have not become a fixed part of broadcast programming, such as the evening news bulletins. On occasions they have featured on prime-time television, but this type of assertive impartiality has not become the norm for how politics is reported. Instead, explainers have largely been reserved for the BBC's online media, across their social media platforms, or on its dedicated news channel. For an assertive approach to impartiality to become widely applied across the BBC and other news organisations, it will need to turn into the norm rather than the exception in broadcast journalism. By normalising the use of fact-checking into routine reporting – as we further argue below – our research suggests that political disinformation would be more effectively countered, and the public better informed about politics and public affairs.

#### Normalising Routine Fact-Checking

Fact-checking has now become an established practice around the world, with dedicated online and social media platforms set up to investigate contentious issues and deliver judgements about the veracity of stories including claims made by politicians. While it has long been a professional convention in journalism, limited time and resources can undermine how thoroughly

fact-checking can be routinely carried out. As a consequence, the news media have begun to draw on professional fact-checkers, particularly during election campaigns, such as when the leaders of the major political parties debate each other live on television news. Some news media outlets have invested in the development of their own dedicated fact-checking teams, incorporating it into their newsrooms. But, to date, there has been limited academic attention paid to how far it informs mainstream journalism and the nature of fact-checking conventions employed by broadcast news (Soo et al. 2023). Research has illustrated that fact-checkers, when free from partisan influence, have tended to embrace higher editorial standards than traditional news media, such as more transparently sourcing evidence and investigating claims (Humprecht 2020). In this book we have analysed whether fact-checking journalism can enhance journalism standards and help counter political misinformation.

Our research found that senior editors and journalists at the UK's major broadcasters all broadly supported the value of fact-checking. As Chapter 6 explored, the BBC claimed to have ramped up its fact-checking during the 2019 election campaign to debunk political spin. But our analysis found that while fact-checks were regularly posted on the BBC's news website and appeared on their social media platforms, they did not become an integrated part of broadcast programming. We then examined how dedicated factchecking online sites – on the BBC, Channel 4 as well as the independent site, Full Fact – dealt with the same claims covered in UK television news bulletins throughout 2021. Above all, we discovered that fact-checks conducted online – including within the same news organisation – were not widely used by flagship broadcast programmes. When we analysed political claims included both on television news and fact-checking sites, we found that fact-checkers subjected them to rigorous interrogation and, when necessary, often directly challenged them. On television news, by contrast, over half of the claims did not receive any journalistic scrutiny. This reveals the relatively passive approach to impartial reporting in conventional broadcast news compared to the more assertive impartial approach of challenging claims on fact-checking online sites. Despite the fact that the BBC and Channel 4 had in-house fact-checking divisions, there appeared to be an editorial reluctance to draw on them in prime-time programming (Soo et al. 2023). Our interviews with editors further revealed that there was a lack of integration between the main newsroom and the fact-checking team. Since we carried out the interviews, the BBC has moved its fact-checking team into a larger division of specialist reporters, called Verify, in order to develop a new brand of journalism, which can counter disinformation. We examined whether the BBC's flagship bulletin, News at Ten, referenced Verify's fact-checking between 1 January and 3 July 2024, including during the general election campaign. We discovered that the new disinformation team fact-checked many international conflict news stories, but just one domestic politics story ahead of the election campaign. However, once the campaign began there were some prominent fact-checks that did feature the Verify team robustly challenging the claims of political parties. This shows that fact-checking was ramped up in BBC broadcast programming during the 2024 election campaign, but beforehand – in a routine period of time – Verify (like Reality Check) largely operated across online sites and social media accounts.

The limited integration of fact-checking in routine news was reflected in our findings from the audience research. Across the focus groups, online diaries and surveys, our research participants revealed they were not that knowledgeable about any UK fact-checking sites, including BBC's Reality Check, Channel 4's FactCheck and the independent site, Full Fact. This is particularly important in light of the fact that research participants, as we discussed in Chapter 3, assumed that disinformation was inherent in newswork. Their lack of knowledge of fact-checking sites demonstrated that, even when journalists actively tried to challenge disinformation, audiences were not aware of these efforts. However, when we provided our research participants with specific examples of fact-checking and asked them to reflect on those, they were highly receptive to this practice. They found it useful in ways that went beyond simply verifying information. According to our participants, fact-checking provided them with contextual information for understanding political claims and held politicians accountable for their actions. Reflecting on our participants' responses, we argued that fact-checking embodies what Costera Meijer (2022, 230) has described as 'valuable journalism' because audiences identified the practice as worthwhile and useful for their understanding of politics. Given that our studies revealed that fact-checking was highly appreciated by audiences and considered central to journalism, we believe there is a strong case for moving it from the margins to the centre of newsrooms and ensuring it is not only an online and social media service, but a prominent part of widely watched broadcast programmes.

The value of fact-checking for audience understanding was well illustrated in our analysis of how news media reported the claims of the UK government during the opening months of the coronavirus pandemic. We found that a senior government minister's claim that the UK government had carried out 100,000 tests per day by April 2020 was almost instantly rereported without any scrutiny on the BBC's 'Breaking News' Twitter (now X) account. A government minister then retweeted it, using the BBC's journalistic reputation to add credibility to the government's management of the pandemic.

Less than thirty minutes later, however, the BBC's Reality Check Twitter (now X) account cast doubt on the claim because the figure included testing kits sent out to homes but not returned or analysed. In other words, the fact-checking site used its resources to dig deeper into the claim and provide an evidence-based judgement on the performance of a specific government policy. We believe that this approach to fact-checking news should become a normalised pursuit in routine reporting, informing all output – social media, online and broadcast - rather than being at the fringes of journalism and ramped up during election time, or when covering blatant instances of disinformation. Roger Mosey, former Head of BBC Television News, similarly argued that broadcasters have not made enough of fact-checking and marginalised it in their journalism. He observed that the BBC's 'reality checks tend to sit on their own little bit of the broadcaster's website, or towards the end of the Today programme, whereas they should be right up there at the top of News at Ten' (Gibb and Mosey 2020).

Needless to say, not all fact-checking journalism has the same high standards of accuracy and impartiality. Furthermore, in media and political systems where political polarisation affects public perceptions and engagement with fact-checking - notably in the US - it could be that news audiences have become sceptical of this journalistic convention compared to countries where news media have historically been widely trusted. In the case of the UK and other nations with well-resourced public service broadcasters and impartiality requirements, our audience research has showed overwhelming support for the greater use of fact-checking as a tool for journalists to hold politicians accountable and for the public to better understand politics. This, we have argued, is where public legitimacy in journalism can be enhanced to help counter political disinformation. These ideas, however, need to be contextualised and considered in relation to the media and political systems within which news media and fact-checkers operate.

## Media and Political Systems Matter in Countering Misinformation

Throughout the latter decades of the twentieth century, scholars begun to theorise and empirically investigate the way national media systems reflected the broader political and social identity of a country (Siebert et al. 1956). As scholarship grew and became more sophisticated, large cross-national studies began to interpret how media and political systems shaped journalism and, more broadly, the comparative ways people acquired knowledge about politics and public affairs. Hallin and Mancini's (2004) landmark 18-nation study across Western European countries and North America, for example, coined three media systems – Liberal, Democratic Corporatist and Polarised Pluralist – that began to develop specific indicators that differentiated national journalistic structures and cultures. While their taxonomy attracted criticism for grouping nations crudely together, it raised important debates about interpreting the comparative value of media systems. For example, the UK was grouped with the US in a Liberal model and yet the former has an overarching public service media system compared to the latter's largely hyper market-driven media system. This has helped fuel a highly partisan political broadcast media system compared to the more impartial system in the UK. As a consequence, critics have argued that media systems construct radically different information environments that affect how people understand what is happening in the world (Bruggemann et al. 2014; Curran 2011). In short, how media and political systems have historically been funded and organised shapes public knowledge. Debates about understanding media systems have grown over recent years and become more sophisticated in the twenty-first century, interpreting the commonalties and characteristics within and beyond nations in the Western world (Hallin and Mancini 2012).

Our book has contributed to and advanced debates about media and political systems by highlighting the important role they play in how disinformation is countered by both journalists and news audiences. As discussed in the previous section, we identified that news audiences in the UK were largely receptive to journalists directly confronting disinformation by challenging false or misleading claims, and more regularly fact-checking political statements and promises. By contrast, a growing body of scholarship has found Americans have been largely resistant to journalists' fact-checking largely due to partisanmotivated reasoning (Walter et al. 2019). A meta-analysis of thirty academic studies based on a total sample of 20,963 people concluded that 'Democrats/ liberals are equally receptive to information that supports or contradicts their ideology, Republicans/conservatives are more eager to accept pro-attitudinal corrections and less likely to adopt ideologically inconsistent information' (Walter et al. 2019, 367). The study also established that partisan reasoning increased during election campaigns – a time when fact-checking has tended to be used more widely by news media. In doing so, an academic conventional wisdom has grown that suggests that news audiences do not want journalists to engage with corrective fact-checking. This is because, as Walter et al. (2019, 369) acknowledged, 'while the number of fact-checkers around the world has more than tripled in the past few years ... and currently fact-checking organizations can be found in 53 countries around the globe, the empirical literature focuses disproportionately on the United States'. Contrary to the prevailing logic, our book demonstrated that news audiences in the UK were receptive to journalists directly challenging disinformation, including through the use of fact-checking.

Taken together, the evidence throughout different chapters has shown that a country's media and political system helps frame the ways audiences respond to journalistic attempts to counter disinformation. In the UK, we found that many participants in our studies were receptive to fact-checking and appeared to trust broadcast journalists when they fact-checked political claims, irrespective of their partisan allegiances. They also displayed high trust in television news, which was the most trusted source of information during the pandemic. This was despite the fact that they would also criticise journalists for unwittingly or purposefully reproducing disinformation. Taken together, we have argued throughout the book that the UK's impartial media ecology and overarching public service infrastructure has helped cultivate an environment which makes many people receptive to journalists countering disinformation. In broader terms, our research suggests that in order to understand how news audiences respond to journalistic challenges of disinformation it is important to interpret the media and political systems that shape the wider information environment.

Cross-national research has shown that it is public service broadcasters rather than market-driven news media – that have developed the most robust and well-resourced initiatives to combat misinformation (Horowitz et al. 2022). In the UK, for example, Channel 4 set up a fact-checking blog during the 2005 general election campaign. A decade later the BBC launched Reality Check, a fact-checking service, before the 2015 general election campaign. Reality Check has now morphed into BBC Verify, a broader news service, as discussed earlier. As explored throughout the book, both public service broadcasters have continued to invest in these dedicated disinformation teams, drawing on their resources to investigate contentious claims. In the UK, public service media have developed more initiatives to tackle misinformation than many market-driven media outlets. In doing so, they have the potential to cultivate healthier relationships with their audience compared to many commercial media outlets, while facilitating effective ways of countering false and misleading information that can help the public better understand politics and public affairs. For this to happen, however, the initiatives to tackle disinformation - as argued throughout the book - will need to become a more prominent part of news reporting, in order for audiences to become familiar with and make use of these services, such as fact-checking.

#### Enhancing the Legitimacy of Journalism

This book began by considering the place of journalism in the disinformation age and the perceived weakening of its legitimacy at a time of worldwide declining trust in news media. We suggested that journalistic legitimacy needs to be considered as a negotiation between professional practices and audience expectations. Our methodological approach, which included interviews with senior editors, journalists and fact-checkers, extensive content analyses, and a range of audience studies, enabled us to examine the connections between the production, content and reception of news countering disinformation. By specifically assessing how effectively broadcast journalists in the UK challenged false and misleading information and how these attempts were evaluated by the public, we identified gaps in the relationship between journalistic practices and audience expectations. Our interviews with some of the most senior editors, journalists and fact-checkers in the UK suggested that they were worried about maintaining their journalistic legitimacy in the digital age because they had lost some of their gatekeeping power to social media networks. However, our audience research suggested that the mainstream media still have an important gatekeeping role even if it has been weakened over recent years. Broadcasters, in particular, act as a gravitational force for news audiences on the issues that matter to them, or for critical moments, such as during the COVID-19 pandemic or elections.

But we believe broadcasters would enhance their legitimacy by rethinking their approach to tackling false and misleading political statements. As our audience research revealed, the news media and disinformation were not viewed as opposing forces. Many respondents believed that news media might reproduce disinformation and misinformation due to factors such as media bias or because of the structural constraints journalists operate under. However, we have argued that news audiences approached news media with a kind of pragmatic scepticism yet still largely trusted broadcast journalism. For this reason, we have made the case that providing more context and explanation for audiences, as well as holding politicians more accountable for their dubious claims, represented effective ways of news media sustaining and even rebuilding their relationship with audiences. For example, the normalisation of fact-checking into routine news reporting could play a significant role in demonstrating how journalists aim to tackle disinformation.

But enhancing the legitimacy of journalism will not be an easy task. Over recent years, political parties and politicians have attempted to challenge the impartiality of fact-checkers, notably from the political right, and to attack fact-checkers for the 'facts' they claim to check. The right-wing UK journalist,

Fraser Nelson, for example, has argued that fact-checking has had a chilling effect on public debates by restricting argumentation. He wrote that when

you engage in frank discussions about certain topics – climate change, jihadi finance, immigration, transgenderism – then you can expect the equivalent of a lawsuit. A breed of investigators or self-appointed fact-checkers will swoop, posing as judges of the truth – even if they often get it wrong. What was intended as a test of objectivity, a remedy to 'fake news', has ended up becoming a new form of bias. (Nelson 2023)

Similarly, Robby Gibb (Gibb and Mosey 2020), a former Conservative spin-doctor, claimed that 'all too often what we see is not true fact-checking, but scrutiny deployed against one side of the political argument rather than the other'. Delegitimising the value of fact-checkers was evident in the 2019 UK general election campaign, as discussed in Chapter 1. During a live televised debate of the party leaders, the Conservatives rebranded one of their Twitter (now X) platforms, the @CCHQPress account, and renamed it 'factcheckUK'. Twitter (now X) responded by calling out the party's misinformation tactics, stating that 'We have global rules in place that prohibit behaviour that can mislead people, including those with verified accounts. Any further attempts to mislead people by editing verified profile information ... will result in decisive corrective action.' But this party political stunt represents a wider battle to control and legitimatise the so-called 'facts' of a debate. The Conservatives repeated this strategy during the 2024 UK election campaign. During a live televised debate, the party rebranded its official press account on X as 'Tax Check UK' in order to appear as the authoritative source on disputed facts about Labour's taxation policy. The battle over controlling 'facts' was perhaps most famously deployed in 2017 by the Republican party in the US when Kellyanne Conway, Counsellor to President Trump, claimed to be presenting 'alternative facts' when a journalist challenged her about a provable falsehood. While political parties may not entirely sway public opinion when challenging journalists about the 'facts' behind an issue, they can muddy the political waters and cast doubt in people's minds about the independence of fact-checkers and the news media more generally.

Such ideological attacks against journalism or cases of politicians attempting to manipulate information do not represent new threats to democracies. But while there is a long history of the news media being undermined and exploited by the political class of the day, the growth and reach of new online and social media networks have created new ways of extending their influence. Mainstream media and journalism today are subject to intense public criticism because of these technological developments. But new online and social media platforms can also be effectively used to tackle instances of disinformation and better inform audiences.

We believe the time has come for journalists to rise to the challenge of countering false and misleading information by rethinking their approach to reporting disinformation and prominently using their fact-checking services in ways that cut through to the public. Our research has shown that news audiences have a sceptical but pragmatic relationship with the news media. They understand that establishing the 'facts' behind an issue will often be complex and potentially contentious. After all, not every political claim can be easily called out. But for fact-checking to work effectively it needs to go beyond blatant instances of disinformation, tackle dubious claims that can lead to misinformation and ensure audiences access these initiatives to raise public understanding. Our analysis has shown that journalists can take a more forensic approach to political reporting, weighing up the evidence, explaining the context of a debate and delivering a judgement that accurately informs audiences about an issue or specific claim being made. When a judgement discredits one side of the political argument, inevitably it will open up accusations of bias. But our research has shown that most people, irrespective of their ideological beliefs, expect journalists to challenge politicians more consistently and robustly when they attempt to manipulate information. Taken together, the evidence amassed throughout this book has demonstrated that the legitimacy of journalism would be enhanced if the news media adopted a bolder and more assertive approach to challenging false and misleading political claims.

## References

- Aïmeur, E., S. Amri and G. Brassard. 2023. 'Fake news, disinformation and misinformation in social media: a review'. *Social Network Analysis and Mining* 13(1), p. 30.
- Allen, J., B. Howland, M. Mobius, D. Rothschild and D. J. Watts. 2020. 'Evaluating the fake news problem at the scale of the information ecosystem'. *Science advances* 6(14), p. 3549.
- Altay, S., R. K. Nielsen and R. Fletcher. 2024. 'News Can Help! The Impact of News Media and Digital Platforms on Awareness of and Belief in Misinformation'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 29(2), pp. 459–84.
- Amazeen, M. A. 2017. 'Journalistic interventions: The structural factors affecting the global emergence of fact-checking'. *Journalism* 21(1), pp. 95–111.
- Amazeen, M. A. 2019. 'Practitioner perceptions: Critical junctures and the global emergence and challenges of fact-checking'. *International Communication Gazette* 81(6–8), pp. 541–61.
- Amazeen, M. A., E. Thorson, A. Muddiman and L. Graves. 2018. 'Correcting political and consumer misperceptions: The effectiveness and effects of rating scale versus contextual correction formats'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 95(1), pp. 28–48.
- Amazeen, M. A., C. J. Vargo and T. Hopp. 2019. 'Reinforcing attitudes in a gatewatching news era: Individual-level antecedents to sharing fact-checks on social media'. *Communication Monographs* 86(1), pp. 112–32.
- Arguedas, A. R., C. T. Robertson, R. Fletcher and R. K. Nielsen. 2022. *Echo chambers, filter bubbles, and polarisation: a literature review.* Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. Available at: https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/echo-chambers-filter-bubbles-and-polarisation-litera ture-review (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Atkins, R. 2023. The Art of Explanation: How to Communicate with Clarity and Confidence. London: Headline.

- Balod, H. S. S. and M. Hameleers. 2021. 'Fighting for truth? The role perceptions of Filipino journalists in an era of mis- and disinformation'. *Journalism* 22(9), pp. 2368–85.
- Barkho, L. 2012. From Theory to Practice: How to Assess and Apply Impartiality in News and Current Affairs. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Barnett, S. 2011. The Rise and Fall of Television Journalism: Just Wires and Lights in a Box? London and New York: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Barrera, O., S. Guriev, E. Henry and E. Zhuravskaya. 2020. 'Facts, alternative facts, and fact checking in times of post-truth politics'. *Journal of Public Economics* 182 (104123).
- Bauer, A. J., A. Nadler and J. L. Nelson. 2022. 'What is Fox News? Partisan Journalism, Misinformation, and the Problem of Classification'. *Electronic News* 16(1), pp. 18–29.
- BBC 2017. 'The BBC's Editorial Standards', The BBC. Available at: https://downloads.bbc.co.uk/guidelines/editorialguidelines/pdfs/bbc-editorial-guidelines-whole-document.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- BBC 2022. 'BBC delivers progress on Impartiality Plan', The BBC, 1 July. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/mediacentre/2022/bbc-delivers-progress-on-impartiality-plan (accessed 9 July 2024).
- BBC 2024. 'General Election Guidelines 2024', The BBC. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/editorialguidelines/documents/2024generalelectionguidelines.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- BBC Trust. 2016. Network News and Current Affairs Coverage of the Four UK Nations: 2015 and 2016 Follow up to 2008 Review. London: BBC Trust.
- Benham, J. 2020. 'Best practices for journalistic balance: Gatekeeping, imbalance and the fake news era'. *Journalism Practice* 14(7), pp. 791–811.
- Bennett, W. L. 1990. 'Toward a theory of press-state relations in the United States'. *Journal of Communication* 40(2), pp. 103–27.
- Bennett, W. L. and S. Livingston. 2018. 'The disinformation order: Disruptive communication and the decline of democratic institutions'. *European Journal of Communication* 33(2), pp. 122–39.
- Birks, J. 2019a. 'UK election 2019: Public resistance to factchecking'. *The Conversation*. Available at: http://theconversation.com/uk-election-2019-public-resistance-to-factchecking-128565 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Birks, J. 2019b. Fact-Checking Journalism and Political Argumentation: A British Perspective. Cham: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Blastland, M. and A. Dilnot. 2022. 'Review of the impartiality of BBC coverage of taxation, public spending, government borrowing and debt'. *BBC Board*. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/aboutthebbc/documents/the

REFERENCES 163

- matic-review-taxation-public-spending-govt-borrowing-debt.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Boykoff, M. T. and J. M. Boykoff. 2007. 'Climate change and journalistic norms: A case-study of US mass-media coverage'. *Geoforum* 38(6), pp. 1190–204.
- Brandtzaeg, P. B. and A. Følstad. 2017. 'Trust and distrust in online fact-checking services'. *Communications of the ACM* 60(9), pp. 65–71.
- Brandtzaeg, P. B., A. Følstad and M. A. C. Domínguez. 2018. 'How journalists and social media users perceive online fact-checking and verification services'. *Journalism Practice* 12(9), pp. 1109–29.
- Brenan, M. 2023. 'Media confidence in U.S. matches 2016 record low'. *Gallup*, 19 October. Available at: https://news.gallup.com/poll/512861/media-confidence-matches-2016-record-low.aspx (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Bruggemann, M., S. Engesser, F. Buchel, E. Humprecht and L. Castro. 2014. 'Hallin and Mancini revisited: Four empirical types of Western media systems'. *Journal of Communication* 64(6), pp. 1037–65.
- Burn-Murdoch, J. 2020. 'Comparative Excess Death rate figures on 6 May'. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://twitter.com/jburnmurdoch (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Canavilhas, J. and T. de M. Jorge. 2022. 'Fake news explosion in Portugal and Brazil the pandemic and journalists' testimonies on disinformation'. *Journalism and Media* 3(1), pp. 52–65.
- Carlson, M. 2016. 'Metajournalistic discourse and the meanings of journalism: Definitional control, boundary work, and legitimation'. *Communication Theory* 26(4), pp. 349–68.
- Carlson, M. 2017. *Journalistic Authority: Legitimating News in the Digital Era.* New York: Columbia University Press.
- Carlson, M. 2020a. 'Fake news as an informational moral panic: the symbolic deviancy of social media during the 2016 US presidential election'. *Information, Communication & Society* 23(3), pp. 374–88.
- Carlson, M. 2020b. 'Journalistic epistemology and digital news circulation: Infrastructure, circulation practices, and epistemic contests'. *New Media & Society* 22(2), pp. 230–46.
- Carlson, M., S. Robinson and C. Lewis. 2021. News After Trump: Journalism's Crisis of Relevance in a Changed Media Culture. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Carnahan, D. and D. E. Bergan. 2022. 'Correcting the Misinformed: The Effectiveness of Fact-checking Messages in Changing False Beliefs'. *Political Communication* 39(2), pp. 166–83.
- Chadwick, A., C. Vaccari and B. O'Loughlin. 2018. 'Do Tabloids Poison the Well of Social Media? Explaining Democratically Dysfunctional News Sharing'. *New Media & Society* 20(11), pp. 4255–74.

- Chang, C. 2021. 'Fake News: Audience Perceptions and Concerted Coping Strategies'. *Digital Journalism* 9(5), pp. 636–59.
- Cheruiyot, D. and R. Ferrer-Conill. 2018. 'Fact-checking Africa: Epistemologies, data and the expansion of journalistic discourse'. *Digital Journalism* 6(8), pp. 964–75.
- Chia, S. C., F. Lu and A. C. Gunther. 2022. 'Who fact-checks and does it matter? Examining the antecedents and consequences of audience fact-checking behaviour in Hong Kong'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 29(2), pp. 438–58.
- Christians C. G., T. L. Glasser, D. McQuail, K. Nordenstreng and R. A. White. 2009. *Normative Theories of the Media: Journalism in Democratic Societies*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Cillizza, C. 2021. 'Three-quarters of Republicans believe a lie about the 2020 election'. *CNN*, 4 February. Available at: https://edition.cnn.com/2021/02/04/politics/2020-election-donald-trump-voter-fraud/index.html (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Coddington, M., S. C. Lewis and V. Belair-Gagnon. 2021. 'The imagined audience for news: Where does a journalist's perception of the audience come from?' *Journalism Studies* 22(8), pp. 1028–46.
- Coddington, M. and L. Molyneux. 2023. 'When sources contradict: The epistemological functions of contradiction in news texts'. *Journalism Studies* 24(10), pp. 1316–33.
- Coleman, S. 2012. 'Believing the news: From sinking trust to atrophied efficacy'. *European Journal of Communication* 27(1), pp. 35–45.
- Costera Meijer, I. 2022. 'What is valuable journalism? Three key experiences and their challenges for journalism scholars and Practitioners'. *Digital Journalism* 10(2), pp. 230–52.
- Curran, J. 2011. Media and Democracy. London: Routledge.
- Cushion, S. 2012. Television Journalism. London: Sage.
- Cushion, S. 2015. 'Journalism and current affairs'. In *The Routledge Companion to British Media History*, ed. M. Conboy and J. Steel. London: Routledge, pp. 504–13.
- Cushion, S. and R. Sambrook, eds. 2016. The Future of 24-Hour News: New Directions, New Challenges. New York: Peter Lang.
- Cushion, S. and J. Lewis. 2017. 'Impartiality, statistical tit-for-tats and the construction of balance: UK television news reporting of the 2016 EU Referendum campaign'. *European Journal of Communication* 32(3), pp. 208–22.
- Cushion, S., J. Lewis and A. Kilby. 2020. 'Why context, relevance and repetition matter in news reporting: Interpreting the United Kingdom's political information environment'. *Journalism* 21(1), pp. 34–53.

165

- Cushion, S. and R. Thomas. 2018. Reporting Elections: Rethinking the Logic of Campaign Coverage. Bristol: Polity Press.
- Cushion, S. and R. Thomas. 2022. Reporting the nations and devolved issues on network news: An analysis of television and online coverage. London: Ofcom.
- Cushion, S. and L. Carbis. 2024. 'Identifying informational opportunities in political responsibility reporting: A study of television news coverage during the Coronavirus pandemic in the UK's devolved system'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 29(1), pp.164–83.
- Cushion, S., M. Morani, M. Kyriakidou and N. Soo. 2022a. '(Mis)understanding the coronavirus and how it was handled in the UK: An analysis of public knowledge and the information environment'. *Journalism Studies* 23(5–6), pp. 703–21.
- Cushion, S., M. Morani, M. Kyriakidou and N. Soo. 2022b. 'Why media systems matter: A fact-checking study of UK television news during the Coronavirus pandemic'. *Digital Journalism* 10(5), pp. 698–716.
- Damazer, M. 2019. 'Could Brexit break the BBC? The tensions, the bewildering question of "balance" and how to get it right'. *Prospect Magazine*. 5 March. Available at: https://www.prospectmagazine.co.uk/magazine/mark-damazer-bbc-brexit-coverage-bias (accessed 30 April 2020).
- Delli Carpini, M. X., S. Keeter and J. D. Kennamer. 1994. 'Effects of the news media environment on citizen knowledge of state, politics and government'. *Journalism Quarterly* 71(2), pp. 443–56.
- Didion, J. 2002. Political Fictions. New York: Vintage.
- Discombe, M. 2020. 'Government Has Misled Public Over UK Deaths Being Lower than France'. HSJ. 14 April. Available at: https://www.hsj.co.uk/policy-and-regulation/government-has-misled-public-over-uk-deaths-being-lower-than-france/7027404.article (accessed 3 February 2025).
- Duke Reporters' Lab. [no date]. *Global fact-checking sites*. Available at: https://reporterslab.org/fact-checking/ (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Ecker, U. K. H. et al. 2022. 'The psychological drivers of misinformation belief and its resistance to correction'. *Nature Reviews Psychology* 1(1), pp. 13–29.
- Edgerly, S. and E. K. Vraga. 2020. 'Deciding what's news: News-ness as an audience concept for the hybrid media environment'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 97(2), pp. 416–34.
- Entman, R. M. 1989. Democracy without Citizens: Media and the Decay of American Politics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Feezell, J. T., R. A. Glazier and A. E. Boydstun. 2019. 'Framing, identity, and responsibility: do episodic vs. thematic framing effects vary by target population?' *Politics, Groups, and Identities* 9(2), pp. 347–68.

- Feng, M., N. L. T. Tsang and F. L. F. Lee. 2021. 'Fact-Checking as Mobilization and Counter-Mobilization: The Case of the Anti-Extradition Bill Movement in Hong Kong'. *Journalism Studies* 22(10), pp. 1358–75.
- Fishman, M. 1980. Manufacturing the News. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Flood, A. 2017. 'Fake news is "very real" word of the year for 2017'. *The Guardian*. 2 November. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/books/2017/nov/02/fake-news-is-very-real-word-of-the-year-for-2017 (accessed 5 June 2024).
- Franklin, B. and M. Carlson. 2011. *Journalists, Sources, and Credibility: New Perspectives*. London: Routledge.
- Gaber, I. and C. Fisher. 2022. "Strategic lying": The case of Brexit and the 2019 U.K. election'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 27(2), pp. 460–77.
- Gandy, O. H. 1982. Beyond Agenda Setting: Information Subsidies and Public Policy. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Gibb, R. and R. Mosey. 2020. 'Can fact-checking help save politics?' *Prospect*, 28 January, Available at: https://www.prospectmagazine.co.uk/essays/39780/can-fact-checking-help-save-politics (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Gottlieb M. and S. Dyer. 2020. 'Information and disinformation: Social media in the COVID-19 Crisis'. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 27(7), pp. 640–1.
- Graves, L. 2016. Deciding What's True: The Rise of Political Fact-Checking in American Journalism. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Graves, L. 2018. 'Boundaries not drawn'. Journalism Studies 19(5), pp. 613-31.
- Graves, L. and F. Cherubini. 2016. *The Rise of Fact-Checking Sites in Europe*. Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. Available at: https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/uuid:d55ef650-e351-4526-b942-6c9e00129ad7 (accessed 15 April 2020).
- Graves, L., B. Nyhan and J. Reifler. 2016. 'Understanding innovations in journalistic practice: A field experiment examining motivations for fact-checking'. *Journal of Communication* 66(1), pp. 102–38.
- Groot Kormelink, T. and I. Costera Meijer. 2020. 'A user perspective on time spent: Temporal experiences of everyday news use'. *Journalism Studies* 21(2), pp. 271–86.
- Guess, A., B. Nyhan and J. Reifler. 2018. Selective Exposure to Misinformation: Evidence from the consumption of fake news during the 2016 U.S. presidential campaign. Brussels: European Research Council. Available at: https://about.fb.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/fake-news-2016.pdf. (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Guess, A., J. Nagler and J. Tucker. 2019. 'Less than you think: Prevalence and predictors of fake news dissemination on Facebook'. *Science Advances* 5(1).

REFERENCES 167

- Available at: https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.aau4586 (accessed 3 February 2025).
- Hallin, D. C. and P. Mancini. 2004. Comparing Media Systems: Three Models of Media and Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hallin, D. C. and P. Mancini, eds. 2012. Comparing Media Systems beyond the Western World. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hamilton, I. A. 2020. '77 Cell Phone Towers Have Been Set on Fire so Far Due to a Weird Coronavirus 5G Conspiracy Theory'. *Business Insider*. Available at: https://www.businessinsider.com/77-phone-masts-fire-coronavirus-5g-conspiracy-theory-2020-5 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Holtz-Bacha, C. 2021. 'The kiss of death. Public service media under right-wing populist attack'. *European Journal of Communication* 36(3), pp. 221–37.
- Hopmann, D. N., P. Van Aelst and G. Legnante. 2011. 'Political balance in the news: A review of concepts, operationalizations and key findings'. *Journalism* 13(2), pp. 240–25.
- Horowitz, M., S. Cushion, M. Dragomir, S. Gutiérrez Manjón and M. Pantti. 2022. 'A framework for assessing the role of public service media organizations in countering disinformation'. *Digital Journalism* 10(5), pp. 843–65.
- Hughes, C., M. Morani, S. Cushion and M. Kyriakidou. 2023. 'Does the political context shape how due impartiality is interpreted? An analysis of BBC reporting of the 2019 UK and 2020 US election campaigns'. *Journalism Studies* 24(14), pp. 1715–33.
- Humprecht, E. 2020. 'How do they debunk "fake news"? A cross-national comparison of transparency in fact checks'. *Digital Journalism* 8(3), pp. 310–27.
- ICFJ. [no date]. *Disarming Disinformation*. Available at: https://www.icfj.org/our-work/disarming-disinformation-empowering-truth (accessed 9 May 2024).
- Ipsos MORI 2016. *Ipsos MORI June 2016 political monitor*. Available at: https://www.ipsos-mori.com/Assets/Docs/Polls/pm-16-june-2016-charts.pdf#page=15 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Iyengar S. 1991. *Is Anyone Responsible? How Television Frames Political Issues*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Jahng, M. R., S. Eckert and J. Metzger-Riftkin. 2023. 'Defending the Profession: U.S. Journalists' Role Understanding in the Era of Fake News'. *Journalism Practice* 17(2), pp. 226–44.
- Jones, H. 2020. 'Government "Shamelessly Abandons' Global Comparison of Coronavirus Deaths'. *The Metro*, 12 May. Available at: https://metro.co.uk/2020/05/12/government-shamelessly-abandons-global-comparison-coronavirus-deaths-12692983/ (accessed 3 February 2025).

- Kamisar, B. 2023. 'Almost a third of Americans still believe the 2020 election result was fraudulent'. NBC News, 20 June. Available at: https://www.nbc news.com/meet-the-press/meetthepressblog/almost-third-americans-still-believe-2020-election-result-was-fraudule-rcna90145 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Karalis Noel, T. 2020. 'Conflating culture with COVID-19: Xenophobic repercussions of a global pandemic'. *Social Sciences & Humanities Open* 2(1), p. 100044.
- Karlsson, M. and C. Clerwall. 2018. 'Transparency to the Rescue?' *Journalism Studies* 19(13), pp. 1923–33.
- Kensicki, L. J. 2004. 'No cure for what ails us: The media-constructed disconnect between societal problems and possible solutions'. *Journalism and Mass Communications Quarterly* 81(1), pp. 53–73.
- Kessler, G. 2021. 'Trump made 30,573 false or misleading claims as President. Nearly half came in his final year'. *The Washington Post*. Available at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/how-fact-checker-tracked-trump-claims/2021/01/23/ad04b69a-5c1d-11eb-a976-bad6431e03e2\_story.html (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Kim, B. and N. R. Buzzelli. 2022. 'The logics of fact-checking website operations'. *Digital Journalism*, pp. 1–24.
- Kim S. H. 2015. 'Who is responsible for a social Problem? News framing and attribution of responsibility'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 92(3), pp. 554–8.
- Kim S. H., J. P. Carvalho and A. C. Davis. 2010. 'Talking about poverty: News framing of who is responsible for causing and fixing the problem'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 87(3–4), pp. 563–81.
- Knudsen, E., S. Dahlberg, M. H. Iversen, M. P. Johannesson and S. Nygaard. 2021. 'How the public understands news media trust: An open-ended approach'. *Journalism* 23(11), pp. 2347–63.
- Koliska, M. and K. Assmann. 2021. 'Lügenpresse: The lying press and German journalists' responses to a stigma'. *Journalism* 22(11), pp. 2729–46.
- Kyriakidou, M. and S. Cushion. 2021. 'Journalistic responses to misinformation'. In *The Routledge Companion to Media Disinformation and Populism*, ed. H. Tumber and S. Waisbord. London: Routledge, pp. 539–48.
- Kyriakidou, M., M. Morani, N. Soo and S. Cushion. 2020. *Government and media misinformation about COVID-19 is confusing the public.* Available at: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/covid19/2020/05/07/government-and-media-misinformation-about-covid-19-is-confusing-the-public/ (accessed 31 July 2021).
- Kyriakidou, M., M. Morani, S. Cushion and C. Hughes. 2023. 'Audience understandings of disinformation: navigating news media through a prism of pragmatic scepticism'. *Journalism* 24(11), pp. 2379–96.

169

- Lavilles, R.Q., J. F. Naga, M. A. C. Tinam-isan, J. E. Perez and E. B. B. Palad. 2023. 'Information verification practices and perception of social media users on fact-checking services'. *Journal of Information Management* 11(1), pp. 1–13.
- Lawrence, R. G. and M. L. Schafer. 2012. 'Debunking Sarah Palin: Mainstream news coverage of "death panels". *Journalism* 13(6), pp. 766–82.
- Lecheler, S. and J. L. Egelhofer. 2002. 'Disinformation, Misinformation, and Fake News: Understanding the Supply Side'. In *Knowledge Resistance in High-Choice Information Environments*, ed. J. Strömbäck, A. Wikforss, K. Glüer, T. Lindholm and H. Oscarsson. London: Routledge.
- Lewandowsky, S., U. K. H. Ecker, C. M. Seifert, N. Schwarz and J. Cook. 2012. 'Misinformation and its correction: Continued influence and successful debiasing'. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest* 13(3), pp. 106–31.
- Lewandowsky, S., U. K. H. Ecker and J. Cook. 2017. 'Beyond misinformation: Understanding and coping with the "post-truth" era'. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition* 6(4), pp. 353–69.
- Lewis, M., E. Govender and K. Holland, eds. 2021. *Communicating COVID-19: Interdisciplinary Perspectives*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lim, C. 2018a. 'Can fact-checking prevent politicians from lying?' Available at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Can-Fact-checking-Prevent-Politicians-from-Lying-Lim/81af918d88e9573aa49ed6e85109999e52a36 15d (accessed 14 February 2024).
- Lim, C. 2018b. 'Checking how fact-checkers check'. *Research & Politics* 5(3), pp.1–7.
- Lowrey, W. 2017. 'The emergence and development of news fact-checking sites'. *Journalism Studies* 18(3), pp. 376–94.
- Lwin, M. O., S. Y. Lee, C. Panchapakesan and E. Tandoc. 2023. 'Mainstream news media's role in public health communication during crises: Assessment of coverage and correction of COVID-19 misinformation'. *Health Communication* 38(1), pp. 160–8.
- Lyons, B., V. Mérola, J. Reifler and F. Stoeckel. 2020. 'How politics shape views toward fact-checking: Evidence from six European countries'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 25(3), pp. 469–92.
- Maitlis, E. 2022. 'Watch Emily Maitlis deliver the MacTaggart Memorial Lecture at the Edinburgh TV Festival *Sky News*'. Available at: https://news.sky.com/video/watch-emily-maitlis-deliver-the-mactaggart-memorial-lecture-at-the-edinburgh-tv-festival-12680765 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Margolin, D. B., A. Hannak and I. Weber. 2018. 'Political fact-checking on Twitter: When do corrections have an effect?' *Political Communication* 35(2), pp. 196–219.

- Martel, C., M. Mosleh and D. G. Rand. 2021. 'You're definitely wrong, maybe: Correction style has minimal effect on corrections of misinformation online'. *Media and Communication* 9(1), pp. 120–33.
- Mattozi, A., S. Nocito and F. Sobbrio. 2023. *Politicians' response to fact-checking: Evidence from a randomised experiment with a leading fact-checking company*. Available at: https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/politicians-response-fact-checking-evidence-randomised-experiment-leading-fact (accessed 14 February 2024).
- Metykova, M. 2017. 'Drifting apart? European journalists and their audiences'. *Westminster Papers in Communication and Culture* 5(2). Available at: https://www.westminsterpapers.org/article/id/104/ (accessed 6 May 2024).
- Mian, A. and S. Khan. 2020. 'Coronavirus: The spread of misinformation'. *BMC Medicine* 18(1), p. 89.
- Mitchell, A., K. Simmons, K. E. Matsa, L. Silver, E. Shearer, C. Johnson, M. Walker and K. Taylor. 2018. 'In Western Europe, public attitudes toward news media more divided by populist views than Left-Right ideology', 18 May. Available at: https://www.journalism.org/2018/05/14/in-westerneurope-public-attitudes-toward-news-media-more-divided-by-populist-views-than-left-right-ideology/ (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Morani, M., C. Hughes, S. Cushion and M. Kyriakidou. 2024. 'Why media platforms police the boundaries of impartiality: a comparative analysis of television news and fact-checking in the UK'. *Journalism*. Ifirst.
- Nelson, F. 2023. 'There's a chilling new punishment for those who question certain "facts". *The Telegraph*, 11 May. Available at: https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2023/05/11/chilling-new-punishment-for-those-questioning-certain-facts/ (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Nelson, J. L. 2021. *Imagined Audiences: How Journalists Perceive and Pursue the Public.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nelson, J. L. and H. Taneja. 2018. 'The small, disloyal fake news audience: The role of audience availability in fake news consumption'. *New Media & Society* 20(10), pp. 3720–37.
- Newman, N., R. Fletcher, A. Schulz, S. Andı and R. K. Nielsen. 2020. *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2020*. Oxford: Oxford University. Available at: https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2020-06/DN R\_2020\_FINAL.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Newman, N., R. Fletcher, A. Schulz, S. Andı, C. T. Robertson and R. K. Nielsen. 2021. *Digital News Report 2021*. Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. Available at: https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/digital-news-report/2021 (accessed 9 March 2022).
- Newman, N., R. Fletcher, K. Eddy, C. T. Robertson and R. K. Nielsen. 2023. *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2023*. Oxford: Oxford University.

- Available at: https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/files/20 23-06/Digital\_News\_Report\_2023.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Nielsen, R. K. 2016. 'Folk Theories of Journalism'. *Journalism Studies* 17(7), pp. 840–8.
- Nielsen, R. K. and L. Graves. 2017. "News you don't believe": Audience perspectives on fake news'. Available at: https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/uuid:6eff4d14-bc72-404d-b78a-4c2573459ab8 (accessed 2 May 2020).
- Nieminen, S. and L. Rapeli. 2019. 'Fighting misperceptions and doubting journalists' objectivity: A review of fact-checking literature'. *Political Studies Review* 17(3), pp. 296–309.
- NUJ. 2024. News Verification Skills for Journalists. Available at: https://www.nuj.org.uk/learn/ems-event-calendar/news-verification-skills-for-journal ists.html (accessed 9 May 2024).
- Núñez-Mussa, E., A. Riquelme, S. Valenzuela, V. Aldana, F. Padilla, R. Bassi and M. Mendoza. 2024. 'The threat of misinformation on journalism's epistemology: Exploring the gap between journalist's and audience's expectations when facing fake content'. *Digital Journalism* 0(0), pp. 1–22.
- Nyhan, B. 2013. When 'he said,' 'she said' is dangerous. Available at: https://www.cjr.org/united\_states\_project/media\_errs\_giving\_balanced\_coverage\_to\_jenny\_mccarthys\_discredited\_views.php (accessed 31 March 2020).
- Nyhan, B. and J. Reifler. 2010. 'When corrections fail: The persistence of political misperceptions'. *Political Behavior* 32(2), pp. 303–30.
- Nyhan, B. and J. Reifler. 2015a. 'The effect of fact-checking on elites: A field experiment on U.S. State legislators'. *American Journal of Political Science* 59(3), pp. 628–40.
- Nyhan, B. and J. Reifler. 2015b. 'Estimating fact-checking's effects: Evidence from a long term experiment during campaign 2014'. *American Press Institute*. Available at: www.americanpressinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Estimating-Fact-Checkings-Effect.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Nyhan, B., E. Porter, J. Reifler and T. J. Wood. 2020. 'Taking fact-checks literally but not seriously? The effects of journalistic fact-checking on factual beliefs and candidate favorability'. *Political Behavior* 42, pp. 939–60.
- Oborne, P. 2021. The Assault on Truth. Boris Johnson, Donald Trump and the Emergence of a new Moral Barbarism. London: Simon & Schuster.
- OECD 2020. 'The territorial impact of Covid-19: Managing the crisis across levels of government', 10 November. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/the-territorial-impact-of-covid-19-managing-the-crisis-across-levels-of-government-d3e314e1/ (accessed 9 July 2024).

- Ofcom 2020a. Covid-19 News and Information: Consumption and Attitudes. Results from Weeks One to Three of Ofcom's Online Survey. London: Ofcom.
- Ofcom 2020b. Half of UK Adults Exposed to False Claims About Coronavirus, 9 April. Available at: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/features-and-news/half-of-uk-adults-exposed-to-false-claims-about-coronavirus (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Ofcom 2020c. News Consumption in the UK: 2020. London: Ofcom. https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-and-data/tv-radio-and-on-demand/news-media/news-consumption (accessed 6 March 2022).
- Ofcom 2023. News Consumption in the UK: 2023. London: Ofcom. https://www.ofcom.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0024/264651/news-consumption-2023.pdf (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Palmer, R., B. Toff and R. K. Nielsen. 2020. "The media covers up a lot of things": Watchdog ideals meet folk theories of journalism'. *Journalism Studies* 21(14), pp. 1973–89.
- Pantazi, M., S. Hale and O. Klein. 2021. 'Social and cognitive aspects of the vulnerability to political misinformation'. *Political Psychology* 42(S1), pp. 267–304.
- Parekh, D., D. Margolin and D. Ruths. 2020. 'Comparing audience appreciation to fact-checking across political communities on Reddit'. In 12th ACM Conference on Web Science. WebSci '20. New York: Association for Computing Machinery, pp. 144–54. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1145/3394231.3397904 (accessed 28 January 2022).
- PEN America. 2017. Faking News: Fraudulent News and the Fight for Truth. New York: PEN America. Available at: https://pen.org/research-resources/faking-news/ (accessed 17 January 2020).
- PEN America. 2022. *The Impact of Disinformation on Journalism: Online Survey of Journalists*. Available at: https://pen.org/report/hard-news-journalists-and-the-threat-of-disinformation/ (accessed 9 May 2024).
- PEN America. 2024. *Disinformation*. Available at: https://pen.org/issue/disinformation/ (accessed 9 May 2024).
- Pickard, V. 2020. Democracy Without Journalism? Confronting the Misinformation Society. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Prior, M. 2009. 'The immensely inflated news audience: Assessing bias in self-reported news exposure'. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 73(1), pp. 130–43.
- Quandt, T. and K. Wahl-Jorgensen. 2022. 'The Coronavirus pandemic and the transformation of (digital) journalism'. *Digital Journalism* 10(6), pp. 923–9.
- Rauch, J. 2021. Resisting the News: Engaged Audiences, Alternative Media, and Popular Critique of Journalism. London: Routledge.

- Rich, T. S., I. Milden and M. T. Wagner. 2020. 'Research note: Does the public support fact-checking social media? It depends whom and how you ask'. *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review*. Available at: https://misinforeview.hks.harvard.edu/article/research-note-does-the-public-support-fact-checking-social-media-it-depends-who-and-how-you-ask/ (accessed 11 January 2024).
- Riley, M. 2019. *To Reach a Wider Audience, Expand Fact-Checking to Broadcast News*. Available at: https://www.icfj.org/news/reach-wider-audience-expand-fact-checking-broadcast-news (accessed 21 February 2024).
- Robertson, C. T., R. R. Mourão and E. Thorson. 2020. 'Who uses fact-checking sites? The impact of demographics, political antecedents, and media use on fact-checking site awareness, attitudes, and behavior'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 25(2), pp. 217–37.
- Robinson, J. G. 2019. 'The audience in the mind's eye: How journalists imagine their readers'. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7916/d8-drvj-wj06 (accessed 6 May 2024).
- Sambrook, R. J. 2012. *Delivering Trust: Impartiality and Objectivity in the Digital Age* (Working paper). Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism, University of Oxford.
- Samuels, G. 2017. 'BBC has started a team to take down "fake news". *The Independent*, 13 January. Available at: www.independent.co.uk/news/media/bbc-team-debunk-fake-news-stories-media-james-harding-a7525686.html (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Schaffner, B. F. and C. Roche. 2017. 'Misinformation and motivated reasoning responses to economic news in a politicized environment'. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 81(1), pp. 86–110.
- Schapals, A. K. and A. Bruns. 2022. 'Responding to "fake news": Journalistic perceptions of and reactions to a delegitimising force'. *Media and Communication* 10(3), pp. 5–16.
- Schudson, M. 1978. *Discovering the News: A Social History of American Newspapers*. New York: Basic Books.
- Schwarzenegger, C. 2020. 'Personal epistemologies of the media: Selective criticality, pragmatic trust, and competence–confidence in navigating media repertoires in the digital age'. *New Media & Society* 22(2), pp. 361–77.
- Sehl, A. 2024. 'Public service media as pivotal in combating misinformation and disinformation: prerequisites and approaches'. *European Journal of Communication. Ifirst.*
- Sherwin, A. 2021. 'Ros Atkins: BBC News presenter becomes viral hit with Brexit and Trump "forensic monologues". *The i Paper*, 12 February. Available at: https://inews.co.uk/news/media/ros-atkins-bbc-news-pre

- senter-viral-hit-brexit-trump-forensic-monologues-869446 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Shin, J. and K. Thorson. 2017. 'Partisan selective sharing: The biased diffusion of fact-checking messages on social media'. *Journal of Communication* 67(2), pp. 233–55.
- Shu, K., A. Bhattacharjee, F. Alatawi, T. H. Nazer, K. Ding, M. Karami and H. Liu. 2020. 'Combating disinformation in a social media age'. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery 10(6), p. e1385.
- Siebert, F. S., T. Peterson and W. Schramm. 1956. Four Theories of the Press: Authoritarian, Libertarian, Social Responsibility and Soviet Communist Concepts of What the Press Should Be and Do. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Simonov, A. S. Sacher, J. P. Dubé and S. Biswas. 2021. 'Frontiers: The persuasive effect of Fox News: Noncompliance with social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic'. *Marketing Science* 41(2), pp. 230–42.
- Singer, J. B. 2018. 'Fact-checkers as entrepreneurs'. *Journalism Practice* 12(8), pp. 1070–80.
- Skovsgaard, M. and P. Bro. 2011. 'Preference, principle and practice'. *Journalism Practice* 5(3), pp. 319–31.
- Soo, N., M. Morani, M. Kyriakidou and S. Cushion. 2023. 'Reflecting party agendas, challenging claims: An analysis of editorial judgements and fact-checking journalism during the 2019 UK general election campaign'. *Journalism Studies* 24(4), pp. 460–78.
- Starr, T. S. and M. Oxlad. 2021. 'News media stories about cancer on Facebook: How does story framing influence response framing, tone and attributions of responsibility?' *Health*, 25(6), pp. 688–706.
- Strömbäck, J. and D. V. Dimitrova. 2006. 'Political and media systems matter: A comparison of election news coverage in Sweden and the United States'. *Harvard International Journal of Press/Politics* 11(4), pp. 131–47.
- Swart, J., C. Peters and M. Broersma. 2017. 'Repositioning news and public connection in everyday life: a user-oriented perspective on inclusiveness, engagement, relevance, and constructiveness'. *Media, Culture & Society* 39(6), pp. 902–18.
- Swart, J., T. Groot Kormelink, I. Costera Meijer and M. Broersma. 2022. 'Advancing a radical audience turn in journalism. Fundamental dilemmas for journalism studies'. *Digital Journalism* 10(1), pp. 8–22.
- Tandoc, E. C., R. Ling, O. Westlund, A. Duffy, D. Goh and L. Zheng Wei. 2018. 'Audiences' acts of authentication in the age of fake news: A conceptual framework'. *New Media & Society* 20(8), pp. 2745–63.
- Tandoc, E. C., J. Jenkins and S. Craft. 2019. 'Fake news as a critical incident in journalism'. *Journalism Practice* 13(6), pp. 673–89.

- Tandoc, E. C., D. Lim and R. Ling. 2020. 'Diffusion of disinformation: How social media users respond to fake news and why'. *Journalism* 21(3), pp. 381–98.
- Thorson, E. 2016. 'Belief echoes: The persistent effects of corrected misinformation'. *Political Communication* 33(3), pp. 460–80.
- Tong, J. 2018. 'Journalistic legitimacy revisited'. *Digital Journalism* 6(2), pp. 256–73.
- *Transparency tool launched by BBC Verify.* 2024. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/world-68474465 (accessed 3 April 2024).
- Tsfati, Y. and J. N. Cappella. 2005. 'Why do people watch news they do not trust? The need for cognition as a moderator in the association between news media skepticism and exposure'. *Media Psychology* 7(3), pp. 251–71.
- Tsfati, Y., H. G. Boomgaarden, J. Strömbäck, R. Vliegenthart, A. Damstra and E. Lindgren. 2020. 'Causes and consequences of mainstream media dissemination of fake news: literature review and synthesis'. *Annals of the International Communication Association* 44(2), pp. 157–73.
- Tuchman, G. 1972. 'Objectivity as strategic ritual: An examination of newsmen's notions of objectivity'. *American Journal of Sociology* 77, pp. 660–79.
- Turness, D. 2023. *Explaining the 'how' the launch of BBC Verify*. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-65650822 (accessed 3 April 2024).
- UNESCO. 2018. Journalism, fake news & disinformation: handbook for journalism education and training UNESCO Digital Library. Paris: UNESCO. Available at: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000265552 (accessed 30 March 2020).
- UNESCO. 2023. Threats to freedom of press: Violence, disinformation & censor-ship | UNESCO. Available at: https://www.unesco.org/en/threats-free dom-press-violence-disinformation-censorship (accessed 9 May 2024).
- University of Oxford 2020. *Coronavirus Government Response Tracker*. Available at: https://www.bsg.ox.ac.uk/research/research-projects/coronavirus-government-response-tracker. (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Unsworth, F. 2019. 'At the BBC, impartiality is precious. We will protect it'. *The Guardian*, 4 December. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/dec/04/bbc-impartiality-precious-protect-election-coverage (accessed 3 February 2025).
- Uscinski, J. E. and R. W. Butler. 2013. 'The Epistemology of Fact Checking'. *Critical Review* 25(2), pp. 162–80.
- Van der Linden, S., C. Panagopoulos and J. Roozenbeek. 2020. 'You are fake news: political bias in perceptions of fake news'. *Media, Culture & Society* 42(3), 460–70.
- Van der Meer, T. and M. Hameleers. 2024. 'Misinformation perceived as a bigger informational threat than negativity: A cross-country survey on

- challenges of the news environment'. *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review*. Available at: https://misinforeview.hks.harvard.edu/article/misinformation-perceived-as-a-bigger-informational-threat-than-negativity-across-country-survey-on-challenges-of-the-news-environment/ (accessed 21 May 2024).
- Vinhas, O. and M. T. Bastos. 2022. 'Fact-checking misinformation: Eight notes on consensus reality'. *Journalism Studies* 23(4), pp. 448–68.
- Vos, T. P. and R. J. Thomas. 2018. 'The discursive construction of journalistic authority in a post-truth age'. *Journalism Studies* 19(13), pp. 2001–10.
- Wagner, M. C. and P. J. Boczkowski. 2019. 'The reception of fake news: The interpretations and practices that shape the consumption of perceived misinformation'. *Digital Journalism* 7(7), pp. 870–85.
- Wahl-Jorgensen, K., M. Berry, I. Garcia-Blanco, L. Bennett and J. Cable. 2017. 'Rethinking balance and impartiality in journalism? How the BBC attempted and failed to change the paradigm'. *Journalism* 18(7), pp. 781–800.
- Walker, M. and J. Gottfried. 2019. *Republicans far more likely than Democrats to say fact-checkers tend to favor one side*. Available at: https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2019/06/27/republicans-far-more-likely-than-democrats-to-say-fact-checkers-tend-to-favor-one-side/ (accessed 11 January 2024).
- Walker, P. 2023. 'Steve Barclay admits 40 new hospitals will not be built by 2030'. *The Guadian*, 28 May. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2023/may/28/steve-barclay-admits-40-new-hospitals-not-built-2030 (accessed 9 July 2024).
- Walter, N., J. Cohen, R. L. Holbert and Y. Morag. 2019. 'Fact-checking: A meta-analysis of what works and for whom'. *Political Communication* 37(3), pp. 350–75.
- Wardle, C. 2018. 'The Need for Smarter Definitions and Practical, Timely Empirical Research on Information Disorder'. *Digital Journalism* 6(8), pp. 951–63.
- Waruwu, B. K., E. C. Tandoc, A. Duffy, N. Kim and R. Ling. 2021. 'Telling lies together? Sharing news as a form of social authentication'. *New Media & Society* 23(9), pp. 2516–33.
- Weeks, B. E. 2015. 'Emotions, partisanship, and misperceptions: How anger and anxiety moderate the effect of partisan bias on susceptibility to political misinformation'. *Journal of Communication* 65(4), pp. 699–719.
- Weiner B. 1995. Judgments of Responsibility: A Foundation for a Theory of Social Conduct. New York: Guilford Press.
- World Economic Forum. 2024. *Global Risks Report 2024*. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/publications/global-risks-report-2024/digest/ (accessed 9 May 2024).

- Wright, M. 2020. 'Survey reveals half of people have seen coronavirus fake news online'. *The Telegraph*, 9 April. Available at: https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2020/04/09/survey-reveals-half-people-have-seen-corona virus-fake-news-online/?msockid=0fde39eab0966c9c3e102807b1b16d18 (accessed 3 February 2025).
- Wright, S. 2021. 'Beyond "fake news"? A longitudinal analysis of how Australian politicians attack and criticise the media on Twitter'. *Journal of Language and Politics* 20(5), pp. 719–40.
- Yadlin, A. and O. K. Shagrir. 2021. "One big fake news": Misinformation at the intersection of user-based and legacy media. *International Journal of Communication* 15, pp. 2528–46.
- Yu, H. and S. Liu. 2023. 'The pandemic in our country, the pandemic in their countries: News values and media representation of the COVID-19 pandemic'. *Journalism Studies* 24(10), pp. 1257–76.
- Zelizer, B. 1992a. 'CNN, the Gulf War, and journalistic practice'. *Journal of Communication* 42(1), pp. 66–81.
- Zelizer, B. 1992b. Covering the Body: The Kennedy Assassination, the Media, and the Shaping of Collective Memory. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Zeng, J., J. Burgess and A. Bruns. 2019. 'Is citizen journalism better than professional journalism for factchecking rumours in China? How Weibo users verified information following the 2015 Tianjin blasts'. *Global Media and China* 4(1), pp. 13–35.
- Zhang Y., Y. Jin and Y. Tang. 2015. 'Framing depression: Cultural and organizational influences on coverage of a public health threat and attribution of responsibilities in Chinese news media, 2000–2012'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 92(1), pp. 99–120.

## Index

## Note: 't' after a page number indicates a table.

ABC (Australia), 85–6	of news, 156–7
advertising, 34	partisan, 27–8
Allen, J., Howland, B., Mobius, M.,	perceived complicity between
Rothschild, D. and Watts, D.	journalists and politicians, 41-2
J., 54–5	perceived media bias, 41-2
Altay, S., Nielsen, R. K., Fletcher,	as perpetrators of 'fake news', 28
R., 56–7	practices of verifying information,
'alternative facts', 159	44–7
anarchic news environment, 23	'presumed knowledge', 27, 43
'assertive impartiality', 151-2	technological changes, 29
assumptions	understandings of disinformation,
about audience, 27–9	32–51
about audience in the US, 28–9	what the public expect from
of audience, 34	journalists, 5–7
'presumed knowledge', 27, 43	'audience acts of authentication',
Atkins, Ros, 122, 151-2	44–7
audience	Singapore, 44
assumptions about, 27–9	Australia
assumptions of, 34	attacks on public service
correcting misinformed, 127-9	broadcasting, 85-6
disconnection with journalists, 16	'fake news', 21
engagement with fact-checking, 126–45	Austria, fact-checkers, 103
imagined of disinformation, 27-9	BBC
'independent research', 44-7	2024 election editorial guidelines,
interpreting coverage, 72	92

applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic fact-checking	104–20, 132–4, 139, 152, 154–5, 157
journalism, 92–6	BBC Trust, 73–4
'assertive impartiality', 151	BBC Verify, 17, 120–2, 152–4, 157
and disinformation, 21	BBC News at Ten, 121t
'due impartiality' requirements,	'content credentials' feature, 17
86, 91–8	BBC Westminster, 27, 43
fact-checking, 88–92, 104–13,	Belgium, COVID-19 pandemic, 62
153–5	'belief echoes', 128
impartiality, 88–92	Biden, Joe, 92–6
'Impartiality Plan' 2022, 86	Birks, J., 105
news bulletins, 75–6	Brandtzaeg, P. B. and Følstad, A.,
and political bias, 85	130
public faith in, 4	Brazil, COVID-19 pandemic, 56
public service obligations, 73–4	Brexit referendum 2016
Question Time, 26	disinformation, 22, 25, 37, 138
as 'reputable' sources, 45–6	fact-checking, 133
UK election campaign (2019),	'false balance', 89–90
105–13	perceived media bias, 41
'valuable journalism', 134–5	political claims, 39, 94
BBC Monitoring, 109	Burn-Murdoch, John, 62
BBC News	Corres Dominit 22 2 10( 0 112
applying more scrutiny in foreign	Carey, Rupert, 22–3, 106–9, 113, 114
than domestic journalism, 92–6	
COVID-19 pandemic, 59	Carlson, M., 6, 19–21, 28, 109
fact-checking, 99, 106, 155	Carnahan, D. and Bergan, D. E., 128
news consumption habits, 23	Chadwick, A., Vaccari, C. and O'Loughlin, B., 3
political claims, 122, 139	O LOUGHIII. D., 3
UK election campaign (2019), 99	
	Chang, C., 131
BBC News at Ten	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019),
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019), 105–13
BBC <i>News at Ten</i> applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–22, 117t,	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019), 105–13 Channel 4 at 7pm
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–22, 117t, 153–5	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019), 105–13 Channel 4 at 7pm COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–22, 117t, 153–5 UK election campaign (2024),	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019), 105–13 Channel 4 at 7pm COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–20, 117t
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–22, 117t, 153–5 UK election campaign (2024), 120–2	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019), 105–13 Channel 4 at 7pm COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–20, 117t Channel 4 News
BBC News at Ten applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–6 BBC Verify, 121t COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–22, 117t, 153–5 UK election campaign (2024),	Chang, C., 131 Channel 4 disinformation, 21 fact-checking, 104–13, 153 UK election campaign (2019), 105–13 Channel 4 at 7pm COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78 fact-checking, 115–20, 117t

180 Index

Channel 4's FactCheck, 21–2, 25, 28, 104–20, 132–4, 154	China, 57, 60–1 Chinese laboratories as cause of, 51
Channel 4's fact-checking blog, UK	comparison with other nations
election campaign (2005), 157	handling pandemic, 60–1
Channel 5	conspiracy theories, 37
disinformation, 21	death toll, 39, 60-4, 60t, 62t
fact-checking, 105-13	devolution, 76-82, 82t
Channel 5 at 5pm	diary participants' knowledge
COVID-19 pandemic, 64-7, 78	about, 60t, 61t, 62t, 63t
fact-checking, 115-20	diary study, 33
Channel 5 News	disinformation and
disinformation, 25	misinformation, 54-67
journalists and politicians, 26	excess death rate, 62, 63t
Chia, S. C., Lu, F. and Gunther,	'explainers', 152
A. C., 130	fact-checking, 128, 131-4, 154-5
Chile	'fake news', 58–64
assumptions about audience, 28	false claims, 60t
'fake news', 21	France, 60–1
misinformation, 34	geographical references in UK
China	television news coverage
COVID-19 pandemic, 57, 60-1	of the major lockdown
fact-checkers, 102	announcements, 79t, 81t
China Daily, 57	'global death comparison', 60-4
Chinese newspapers, 72	government decisions, 77-82
'clickbait', 41	government decisions in England,
climate change, 89	75–6
Clinton, Hillary, 130	government decisions in Northern
Cohen Kappa scores, 93	Ireland, 76–82
Conservative Party, 159	government decisions in Scotland,
Conservative Party claims, 121–2	76–82
Conservative voters, 128, 135, 156	government decisions in Wales,
conspiracy theories, 37, 39, 51, 134,	76–82
147–8	government's handling of, 38,
'continued influence effect', 128	59–60
Conway, Kellyanne, 159	India, 56
Corbyn, Jeremy, 92–6	Iran, 60–1
COVID-19 pandemic	Italy, 61, 62
5G technology, 51, 59, 134	lack of clarity, 38-9
Belgium, 62	lack of comparative reporting,
Brazil, 56	64–7

lockdown measures across UK	diary study, 58–64
nations, 79–82	Didion, J., 18
lockdown measures compared, 61,	Digital Journalism Studies, 57
61t, 66, 75–6, 79–82, 79t, 81t,	digital media, 22–7
82t	Discombe, M., 61
mainstream media, 4, 51	disinformation
misinformation, 147–9	beyond, 52–69
myths, 134–5	and Brexit, 37
Netherlands, 62	definitions, 33–8
new hospitals, 95	economic motives, 20
Northern Ireland, 76–82 perceived complicity between	as an external threat to journalism, 22–7
journalists and politicians, 42	as inherent in news work, 40–3
public service media (PSM), 7	and its imagined audience, 27–9
reporting from a domestic and	and journalistic boundaries, 19–22
foreign perspective, 64–7	journalistic understandings of,
reports of affects in other	15–31
countries, 57–8	online, 148
Scotland, 76–82	and public health, 37
Singapore, 58	'reputable' sources, 45–6
Spain, 61	re-reporting, 55–6, 63–4
testing targets, 59–60	seen as 'problem', 35, 36t
Twitter (X), 45	disinformation and misinformation
US, 61, 62	definitions, 2–3
Wales, 76–82	
	mainstream media, 54–8
'critical incident in journalism', 19–20	navigating, 43–7
	'disinformation order', 5–7, 16
Cushion, S. and Lewis, R., 89	'due impartiality' requirements, 86–7, 91–8, 105, 126, 150
Daily Mail, 41	Duke Reporters' Lab, 19
de Pear, Ben, 21, 23, 24, 27	
'death of news conferences', 24	echo chambers, 5-6, 28
deliberate lying, 36, 38	England, COVID-19 pandemic
Delli Carpini, M. X., Keeter, S. and	government decisions, 75-6
Kennamer, J. D., 73	Erdoğan, Recep Tayyip, 102
Democratic Corporatist media	European public service media, 85
systems, 156	European Union Referendum
democratic deficit, so-called, 71	campaign (2016) see Brexit
'democratisation of information', 38	referendum 2016
devolution, 71, 73-82, 82t, 149	explainers, 27, 151-2
	<b>★</b>

Facebook, 23, 38	level of engagement with
Fact Checker, 101	mainstream media and politics,
fact-checkers	136t
Austria, 103	mistrust of, 130
China, 102	news media, 2, 156-7
Germany, 103, 131	in news reporting, 99-125
Hong Kong, 102, 130	normalising in journalism, 152-5
Northern Europe, 131	organisations, 103–5
Philippines, 131	partisanship and, 128
professional and partisan in the	'personal fact-checking', 44–7
US, 101	platforms, 119t
Republican voters, 129	political claims, 151
social media users, 131	of politicians, 139–43
Taiwan, 131	public confidence, 136
Turkey, 101–2	and social media users, 130
US, 101, 103–4, 127–30	as a solution for journalism, 100-5
The Washington Post, 90	television news bulletins, 117t,
fact-checking	118t
across online and television	UK election campaign (2019),
platforms, 113–20	105–13, 107t, 110t, 111t, 112t,
applying more scrutiny in foreign	120–2
than domestic journalism, 92–6	as valuable journalism, 134–43
audience engagement with,	websites, 106
126–45	Fact-Checking Turkey, 102
BBC, 88–92, 95t	FactCheck.org, 130
BBC News at Ten, 120–2	'factcheckUK', 159
comparing the impartiality of	'fake news'
cross-national and cross-	Australia, 21
platform, 85–98	Chile, 21
disinformation, 21	COVID-19 pandemic, 37
disinformation and	Finland, 34
misinformation, 18–19	Germany, 21, 35
fact-checking, 129–31	identifying fake and factual news,
familiarity with and use of, 131–4,	58–64
•	Israel, 35
132t, 133t	
Government departments, 109–10	journalistic boundaries, 20–2
Government failures, 139	journalists accused of, 1
ideological and party political	in mainstream media, 55–6
perspectives, 135t	misinformation, 15
journalistic legitimacy, 158–60	news media, 150

online audiences as perpetrators	Graves, L., 19, 34, 90, 101-4, 126,
of, 28	140, 144
partisanship and, 34–5	The Guardian, 99, 147–8
Philippines, 21	Guess, A., Nyhan, B. and Reifler,
Spain, 34	J., 129
spread of, 147–8	
understandings of, 34	Hallin, D. C. and Mancini, P.,
US, 21, 34	155–6
US studies, 4	Hancock, Matt, 118-19
as word of the year 2017, 34	'he said, she said' approach to
'false balance', 89, 90	reporting, 17-18, 21, 89-90,
false beliefs, 128	94, 95, 117, 119, 151
far right, rise of, 37	Holtz-Bacha, C., 85
Feezell, J. T., Glazier, R. A. and	Hong Kong
Boydstun, A. E., 72	Anti-Extradition Law Amendment
Feng, M., Tsang, N. L. T. and Lee,	Bill Movement, 102, 130
F. L. F., 101–2	fact-checkers, 102, 130
filter bubbles, 5–6, 20–1	Humprecht, E., 103
Financial Times, 62	•
Finland, 'fake news', 34	immigration, 128
FitzSimons, Cait, 25, 26, 28	impartiality
Fox News, 3	'assertive impartiality', 151–2
France, COVID-19 pandemic,	BBC, 88–92
60–1	broadcast media, 4
'fringe beliefs', 134	interpreting, 150–2
Full Fact, 104–20, 132–4, 153, 154	political, 85
	rules on, 3
Gaber, I. and Fisher, C., 25	India
Gallup poll 2023, 4	COVID-19 pandemic, 56
gatekeepers, 20, 21, 24, 35	perceptions of misinformation, 34
German news directors, 26	'infodemic' of false and misleading
Germany	information, 148
fact-checkers, 103, 131	information gap, 61, 149
'fake news', 21, 35	'informational cacophony', 20–1
Gibb, Robby, 159	Instagram, 38, 47
Glaister, Isla, 22, 23, 25	Institute of Fiscal Studies, 109
Google searches, 45, 47	International Centre for
government responsibility, 70–84	Journalists (ICFJ), 'Disarming
the attribution of political power	Disinformation' programme,
and, 71–4	16–17

	1 . 1: 0.1: 0
interpreting impartiality, 150–2	understandings of disinformation,
interpreting misinformation, from	15–31
mainstream media, 52–69	journalistic legitimacy
Iran, COVID-19 pandemic, 60–1	in the age of misinformation, 1–14
Islamophobia, 38	declining, 16
Israel, 'fake news', 35	enhancing, 158–60
Israel-Palestine conflict, perceived	journalists
media bias, 41	cultural authority and, 6
Italy, COVID-19 pandemic, 61, 62	digital skills training, 16–17
ITV	disconnection with audience, 16
fact-checking, 134-5, 141	education and training, 16
UK election campaign (2019),	gaps left in reporting, 43
105–13	lack of scrutiny of political claims
ITV News at Ten	on social media, 24–5
COVID-19 pandemic, 64-7, 78	professional identity, 15
fact-checking, 115–20	as referee, 89–90
Iyengar, S., Is Anyone Responsible?,	reporting and interpreting, 142
72	technological changes, 29
	as truth-tellers, 6
Jahng, M. R., Eckert, S. and	'watchdog role', 21, 136, 143
Metzger-Riftkin, J., 28–9	what the public expect from, 5–7
Johnson, Boris	journalists and politicians
applying more scrutiny in foreign	applying more scrutiny in foreign
than domestic journalism,	than domestic journalism, 93–4
92–8	perceived complicity between, 41,
fact-checking, 134–5	42
false claims, 39, 90	
journalism	Kauyim, 102
balanced, 151	Kensicki, L. J., 72
disinformation as an external	Kim, B. and Buzzelli, N. R., 103–4
threat to, 22–7	Kim, S. H., Carvalho, J. P. and
openness, 17	Davis, A. C., 72
poor, 34	Koliska, M. and Assmann, K., 26
shifting journalistic practices,	,
16–19	Labour voters, 47, 135
Journalism Studies, 57	Lavilles, R. Q., Naga, J. F., Tinam-
journalistic	isan, M. A. C., Perez, J. E. and
	_
balance, 143 boundaries, 16, 19–22 gatekeepers, 20, 21, 24, 35	Palad, E. B. B., 131 Lee, Georgina, 107 legacy news media, 41, 55

T1 M1. 15	.1
Leonard, Mark, 15	about opposition groups, 130–1
Lewandowsky, S., Ecker, U. K. H.	Chile, 34
and Cook, J., 128	correcting audiences, 127–9
Liberal Democrat voter, 47	correction of, 58
Liberal media systems, 156 Lineker, Gary, 85, 86	countering in political reporting, 146–60
Lowrey, W., 104	inadvertently spreading of by
Lwin, M. O., Lee, S. Y.,	mainstream media, 54–8
Panchapakesan, C. and Tandoc,	India, perceptions of, 34
E., 58	interpreting, 52–69
Lyons, B., Mérola, V., Reifler, J. and	and mainstream media, 147–50
Stoeckel, F., 130–1	media and political systems in
	countering, 155–7
mainstream journalism	rival media, 5–6
declining standards in traditional,	sharing false information because
104	one believes it is true, 36
lack of public trust in, 27–8	US perceptions of, 34
mainstream media	misinformation and disinformation
from disinformation to	definitions, 2–3
misinformation: the role and	mainstream media, 54–8
impact of, 54–8	navigating, 43–7
inadvertently spreading	mistrust
misinformation, 54–8	of fact-checking, 130
interpreting misinformation from,	in mainstream media, 4, 16
52–69	of politicians, 141
and misinformation, 147-50	Morris, Chris, 107, 114
mistrust in, 4	Mosey, Roger, 155
'unbiased', 3	
Maitlis, Emily, 89-90	National Union of Journalists (NUJ),
malign foreign government	17
interference, 147	'need for cognition' (NFC), 49-50
manipulation, 16, 35	Nelson, Fraser, 29, 159
Margolin, D. B., Hannak, A. and	Netherlands, COVID-19 pandemic,
Weber, I., 128	62
market-driven media system, 6, 156	network broadcast media, 73
Mason, Chris, 122	'new style of political news', 19
Meijer, Costera, 138-9, 154	The New York Times, 57
'metajournalistic discourse', 20	news consumption
misinformation	audiences, 156–7
(re)production of, 3	and pragmatic scepticism, 47-50

news coverage confidence in, 74–7 and devolution, 74–7	Ofcom-commissioned study (2022), News Consumption in the UK: 2023, 74
percentage of international and UK news items, 65t	Office for Budget Responsibility,
of poverty, 72 of social issues, 72	Office of National Statistics, 106,
news media, public mistrust in, 16	online audiences as perpetrators of
news media institutions, public trust	'fake news', 28
in, 6	online disinformation, 148
news media organisations	online media, 22–7
fact-checking, 152-3	online news consumers, different
US, 103–4	sources, 49t
news reporting	online partisan audiences, 27–8
fact-checking, 99-125	on-screen statistical references, 66-7,
negative view of in the US, 44	67t
news sources	
use of different media, 48t	Palestine, 121
use of different sources, 48t	Parekh, D., Margolin, D. and Ruths,
news work, disinformation as	D., 130
inherent in, 40–3	partisan audiences, online, 27–8
newspapers	partisan broadcast media system,
Chinese, 72	156–7
misinformation, 58	partisan fact-checkers, in the US,
Nielsen, R. K. and Graves, L., 34	101
Northern Europe, fact-checkers, 131	partisan news media, 3, 148
Northern Ireland, COVID-19	partisanship and fact-checking, 128
pandemic, 76–82	partisanship and 'fake news, 34-5
Núñez-Mussa, E., Riquelme,	PEN America 2022, The Impact of
A., Valenzuela, S., Aldana,	Disinformation on Journalism:
V., Padilla, F., Bassi, R. and	Online Survey of Journalists, 15
Mendoza, M., 28, 34	PEN America (2024), Disinformation
Nyhan, B. and Reifler, J., 127–8	'resilience tools', 17
	Philippines
Oborne, Peter, 90	fact-checkers, 131
OECD (2020) report, 'The	'fake news', 21
territorial impact of Covid-19:	phone-ins, 108–9
Managing the crisis across levels	Polarised Pluralist media systems, 156
of government', 70	political
Ofcom, 59, 91	accountability, 140–1

index 187

balance, 88–92 independence and impartiality,	public service media ecology, 6 public service media (PSM), 3, 131,
85	136
propaganda, 34, 38, 150	European, 85
spin, 16, 25, 153	as storytellers, 7
political disinformation	O
and journalists, 150	Queen's Speech debate 12 May
and public knowledge, 2	2021, 118
seen as typical and predictable,	. 27
39–40	racism, 37
political information, taking political	Reddit, 130
information 'with a slight pinch	religious radicalism, 72
of salt', 38–40	Republican voters, 1, 4, 128, 156
political left, 135	fact-checkers, 129
political reporting, countering	Republicans, 34
misinformation in, 146–60	Reuters, 47
political right, 135, 158	Richmond, US, political reporting,
politicians, manipulating the truth,	73
24–5, 150	Royall, Paul, 21, 23, 27, 106
politicians and journalists	Russian and Western media, 41–2
applying more scrutiny in foreign	
than domestic journalism, 93–4	'scaremongering' information, 140
impartiality, 150	scaremongering tactics, 22–3
perceived complicity between, 41,	scepticism, 63–4
42	Schwarzenegger, C., 35, 131
PolitiFact, 101	Scotland, COVID-19 pandemic
populist leaders, 90	government decisions, 76-82
'post-truth' era, 90, 151	Searle, Katy, 27, 43, 114–15
pragmatic scepticism, 47–50, 149,	Sehl, A., 3
158	Singapore
pragmatic trust, 35	'audience acts of authentication',
'presumed knowledge', 27, 43	44
Prime Minister's Questions, 117	COVID-19 pandemic, 58
public health, and disinformation,	Skovsgaard, M. and Bro, P., 6
37	Sky News
public knowledge, and political	disinformation, 21, 23
disinformation, 2	fact-checking, 105–13, 134–5
public service broadcasting, 35, 85,	as 'reputable' sources, 45
100, 149–51, 157	UK election campaign (2019),
obligations, 3, 73–4	105–13

Sky News at Ten	and relationship between
COVID-19 pandemic, 64–7, 78	audiences and journalists, 29
fact-checking, 115–20	technological platforms, 'fake news',
Sky News Campaign Check, 132	20–1
Sky News fact-check, 137–8	television news bulletins
Snapchat, 47	COVID-19 pandemic, 63–4, 75–6
Snopes, 130, 133	fact-checking, 117t, 118t, 119t,
Snow, Jon, 21, 22, 24, 106, 115	153
social media	television news reporting
disinformation, 16, 22–8, 38, 41	'assertive impartiality', 151
fact-checking, 130, 131, 152–3	COVID-19 pandemic, 149
and impartiality, 85–6	'fake news', 58–64
lack of critical skills, 20–1	references to other countries, 66t
misinformation, 3, 147–8	UK and international items, 65t
'personal fact-checking', 45–7	Thorson, E., 128
political manipulations, 159–60	Tianjin 2015 explosions, 102
'scaremongering' information,	transparency, 17, 103
140	TrueNews, 102
South Korea	Trump, Donald
COVID-19 pandemic, 60–1	'alternative facts', 159
lockdown measures compared, 61	claims of terrorist attack in
Spain	Sweden, 38
COVID-19 pandemic, 61, 62	claims of voter fraud, 1–2, 134
'fake news', 34	disinformation, 22
The Statistics Authority (UK), 90,	disinformation about journalists, 4
122	disinformation and politicians, 25
'strategic lying', 25	'explainers', 152
The Sun, 41	fact-checking, 91–8
Sunak, Rishi, 121–2	'fake news', 34, 37
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	false statements, 90
tabloid media, 3	health claims, 38
tabloid press, 41	partisanship and, 130
Tandoc, E. C., Jenkins, J. and Craft	truthometer, 113
S., 19	Tsfati, Y. and Capella, J. N., 49
Tandoc, E. C., Ling, R., Westlund,	Tsfati, Y., Boomgarden, H. G.,
O., Duffy, A., Goh, D. and	Strömbäck, J., Vliegenthart, R.,
Zheng Wei, L., 44	Damstra, A. and Lindgren, E.,
'Tax Check UK', 159	55–6
technological changes	Turkey, fact-checkers, 101-2
disinformation, 159–60	Turness, Deborah, 17

24/7 news cycle, 3, 42–3, 150 Twitter (X), 23, 26, 38, 45, 85–6, 128, 133–4, 154–5, 159 Conservative Party renamed 'factcheckUK,' 25	negative view of news reporting, 44 news media and power, 72 perceptions of misinformation, 34 political systems and coverage,
UK election campaign (2005), 157 UK election campaign (2019) applying more scrutiny in foreign than domestic journalism, 92–9 disinformation, 5 'due impartiality' requirements, 87, 91 fact-checking, 105–13, 107t, 110t, 111t, 112t, 134–5, 153	professional and partisan fact- checkers, 101  US election campaign (2014), 128  US election campaigns, percentage of interactions with claims made by political leaders, 93t  US presidential campaign (2024), 1–2
political claims, 151 political manipulations, 39 Twitter (X), 25–6, 159 UK election campaign (2024), 5, 159	US presidential election (2016), 4, 22, 25, 130 US presidential election (2020), 1, 5, 38, 87, 91–8 US studies, 4
fact-checking, 120–2  UK election campaigns, fact-checking, 93t  Ukraine, 121  UNESCO (2018), handbook on journalism education and training, 16  UNESCO (2023), 15  United Nations, 148  University of Oxford study (2020), 61	'valuable journalism', 134–43, 154 Van der Linden, S., Panagopoulos, C. and Roozenbeek, J., 34 Van der Meer, T. and Hameleers, M., 34, 43 Vinhas, O. and Bastos, M. T., 101–2 Virginia, US, 73 voter fraud claims, 1–2
Unsworth, Fran, 99 US  assumptions about audience, 28–9 death toll, 62 excess death rate, 62 fact-checkers, 101, 103–4, 127–30 'fake news', 21, 34 impartiality, 86 lockdown measures compared, 61	Wagner, M. C. and Boczkowski, P. J., 44  Wales, COVID-19 pandemic government decisions, 76–82  Walter, N., Cohen, J., Holbert, R. L. and Morag, Y., 129, 156  Waruwu, B. K., Tandoc, E. C., Duffy, A., Kim, N. and Ling, R., 44

Washington, US, political reporting, Worrall, Patrick, 21, 25, 28, 107, 73 108, 112–13, 115 The Washington Post, fact-checkers, xenophobia, 37, 137 'watchdog role', journalists, 21, 136, 143 Yadlin, A. and Shagrir, O. K., 35 weaponising information, 21, 28 Yemen, 121 WEF Global Rik Report 2024, 15 YouTube, 23, 47 Weibo, 102 Yu, H. and Liu, S., 57 Weiner, B., 72 WhatsApp, 38 Zelizer, B., 19-20 World Economic Forum (WEF) Zeng, J., Burgess, J. and Bruns, A., 2024, 'Defending the Truth', Zhang, Y., Jin, Y. and Tang, Y., 72 15